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PART I
 
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
 
RBC Bearings Incorporated
 

RBC Bearings Incorporated, together with its subsidiaries, is an international manufacturer and marketer of highly engineered precision bearings and
products, which are integral to the manufacture and operation of most machines, aircraft and mechanical systems, to reduce wear to moving parts, facilitate
proper power transmission, reduce damage and energy loss caused by friction and control pressure and flow. The terms “we”, “us”, “our”, “RBC” and the
“Company” mean RBC Bearings Incorporated and its subsidiaries, unless the context indicates another meaning. While we manufacture products in all major
categories, we focus primarily on highly technical or regulated bearing products and engineered products for specialized markets that require sophisticated
design, testing and manufacturing capabilities. We believe our unique expertise has enabled us to garner leading positions in many of the product markets in
which we primarily compete. Over the past fifteen years, we have broadened our end markets, products, customer base and geographic reach. We currently
have 45 facilities of which 35 are manufacturing facilities in six countries.
 
The Bearing and Engineered Products Industry
 

The bearing and engineered products industry is a fragmented multi-billion dollar market. Purchasers of bearings and engineered products include
producers of commercial and military aircraft, submarine and vehicle equipment, oil and gas equipment, machinery manufacturers, industrial equipment and
machinery manufacturers, construction machinery manufacturers, rail and train equipment manufacturers, mining and specialized equipment manufacturers.
 

Demand for bearings and precision components in the diversified industrial market are influenced by growth factors in industrial machinery and
equipment shipments and construction, mining, energy and general industrial activity. In addition, usage of existing machinery will impact aftermarket
demand for replacement products. In the aerospace market, new aircraft build rates along with carrier traffic growth worldwide determines demand for our
solutions. Lastly, activity in the defense market is being influenced by modernization programs necessitating spending on new equipment, as well as
continued utilization of deployed equipment supporting aftermarket demand for replacement bearings and engineered products.
 
Customers and Markets
 

We serve a broad range of end markets where we can add value with our specialty, precision bearing and engineered products, components, and
applications. We classify our customers into two principal categories: industrial and aerospace. These principal end markets utilize a large number of both
commercial and specialized bearings and engineered products. Although we provide a relatively small percentage of total bearing and engineered products
supplied to each of our overall principal markets, we believe we have leading market positions in many of the specialized product markets in which we
primarily compete and serve. Financial information regarding geographic areas is set forth in Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data,”
Note 17 “Reportable Segments.”
 

● Industrial Market (38% of net sales for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2018)
 

We manufacture bearings and engineered products for a wide range of diversified industrial markets, including construction and mining, oil and
natural resource extraction, heavy truck, marine, rail and train, packaging, semiconductor machinery and the general industrial markets. Our products target
market applications in which our engineering and manufacturing capabilities provide us with a competitive advantage in the marketplace.
 

Our largest industrial customers include Caterpillar, Halliburton Energy Services, Newport News Shipbuilding, Komatsu America and various
aftermarket distributors including Applied Industrial, BDI, Kaman Corporation, McMaster Carr and Motion Industries. We believe that the diversification of
our sales among the various segments of the industrial markets reduces our exposure to downturns in any one individual market. We believe opportunities
exist for growth and margin improvement in this market as a result of the introduction of new products, the expansion of aftermarket sales and continued
manufacturing process improvements.
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● Aerospace Market (62% of net sales for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2018)

 
We supply bearings and engineered products for use in commercial, private and military aircraft and aircraft engines, guided weaponry, and vision

and optical systems. We supply precision products for many of the commercial aircraft currently operating worldwide and are their primary supplier for many
of their product lines. This includes military contractors for airplanes, helicopters, missile systems, engines and satellites. Commercial aerospace customers
generally require precision products, often of special materials, made to unique designs and specifications. Many of our aerospace bearing and engineered
component products are designed and certified during the original development of the aircraft being served, which often makes us the primary bearing
supplier for the life of the aircraft.
 

We manufacture bearings and engineered products used by the U.S. Department of Defense and certain foreign governments for use in fighter jets,
troop transports, naval vessels, helicopters, gas turbine engines, armored vehicles, guided weaponry and satellites. We manufacture an extensive line of
standard products that conform to many domestic military application requirements, as well as customized products designed for unique applications. Our
bearings and engineered products are manufactured to conform to U.S. military specifications and are typically custom designed during the original product
design phase, which often makes us the sole or primary supplier for the life of the product. In addition to products that meet military specifications, these
customers often require precision products made of specialized materials to custom designs and specifications. Product approval for use on military
equipment is often a lengthy process ranging from six months to six years.
 

Our largest aerospace customers include Airbus, Boeing, General Electric, Lockheed Martin, Safran, United Technologies, U.S. Department of
Defense and various aftermarket distributors including National Precision Bearing, Jamaica Bearings, Wencor Group and Wesco Aircraft. We believe our
strong relationships with OEMs help drive our aftermarket sales since a portion of OEM sales are ultimately intended for use as replacement parts. We believe
that growth and margin expansion in this market will be driven primarily by expanding our international presence, new commercial aircraft introductions,
new products, and the refurbishment and maintenance of existing commercial and military aircraft.
 

In fiscal 2018, 4.1% of our net sales were made directly, and we estimate that approximately an additional 19.9% of our net sales were made
indirectly, to the U.S. government. These contracts or subcontracts may be subject to renegotiation of profit or termination of contracts at the election of the
government. Based on experience, we believe that no material renegotiations or refunds will be required. See Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors – Future
reductions or changes in U.S. government spending could negatively affect our business.”
 
Products
 

Bearings and engineered products are employed to fulfill several functions including reduction of friction, transfer of motion and carriage of loads,
and control of pressure and flows. We design, manufacture and market a broad portfolio of bearings and engineered products. We operate through operating
segments for which separate financial information is available, and for which operating results are evaluated regularly by our chief operating decision maker
in determining resource allocation and assessing performance. Those operating segments with similar economic characteristics and that meet all other
required criteria, including nature of the products and production processes, distribution patterns and classes of customers, are aggregated as reportable
segments.
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The following table provides a summary of our four reportable product segments: Plain Bearings; Roller Bearings; Ball Bearings; and Engineered

Products.
 
   Net Sales for the Fiscal Year Ended   

Segment  March 31, 2018  April 1, 2017  April 2, 2016 Representative Applications
Plain Bearings
 

 

 $ 296,708
(44.0

 
%)

$ 277,700
(45.1

 
%)

$ 270,534
(45.3

 
%)

●   Aircraft engine controls and landing gear
●   Missile launchers
●   Mining, energy, and construction equipment

Roller Bearings   $ 132,021
(19.6

 
%)

$ 109,483
(17.8

 
%)

$ 112,039
(18.8

 
%)

●   Aircraft hydraulics
●   Military and commercial truck chassis
●   Packaging machinery and gear pumps

Ball Bearings   $ 67,806
(10.0

 
%)

$ 58,448
(9.5

 
%)

$ 53,650
(8.9

 
%)

●   Radar and night vision systems
●   Airframe control and actuation
●   Semiconductor equipment

Engineered Products   $ 178,414
(26.4

 
%)

$ 169,757
(27.6

 
%)

$ 161,249
(27.0

 
%)

●   Hydraulics, valves, fasteners and engines
●   Industrial gears, components and collets

 
Plain Bearings. Plain bearings are primarily used to rectify inevitable misalignments in various mechanical components, such as aircraft controls,

helicopter rotors, or in heavy mining and construction equipment. Such misalignments are either due to machining inaccuracies or result when components
change position relative to each other. Plain bearings are produced with either self-lubricating or metal-to-metal designs and consist of several sub-classes,
including rod end bearings, spherical plain bearings and journal bearings.
 

Roller Bearings. Roller bearings are anti-friction products that utilize cylindrical rolling elements. We produce three main designs: tapered roller
bearings, needle roller bearings and needle bearing track rollers and cam followers. We offer several needle roller bearing designs that are used in both
industrial applications and certain U.S. military aircraft platforms. These products are generally specified for use where there are high loads and the design is
constrained by space considerations. A significant portion of the sales of this product is to the aftermarket. Needle bearing track rollers and cam followers
have wide and diversified use in the industrial market and are often prescribed as a primary component in articulated aircraft wings.
 

Ball Bearings. Ball bearings are devices which utilize high precision ball elements to reduce friction in high speed applications. We specialize in
four main types of ball bearings: high precision aerospace, airframe control, thin section and industrial ball bearings. High precision aerospace bearings are
primarily sold to customers in the defense industry that require more technically sophisticated bearing products, such as missile guidance systems, providing
higher degrees of fault tolerance given the criticality of the applications in which they are used. Airframe control ball bearings are precision ball bearings that
are plated to resist corrosion and are qualified under a military specification. Thin section ball bearings are specialized bearings that use extremely thin cross
sections and give specialized machinery manufacturers many advantages. We produce a general line of industrial ball bearings sold primarily to the
aftermarket.
 

Engineered Products. Engineered Products consist primarily of highly engineered hydraulics and valves, fasteners, precision mechanical
components and machine tool collets. Engineered hydraulics and valves are used in aircraft and submarine applications and aerospace and defense
aftermarket services. Precision mechanical components are used in all general industrial applications, where some form of movement is required. Machine
tool collets are cone-shaped metal sleeves, used for holding circular or rod like pieces in a lathe or other machine that provide effective part holding and
accurate part location during machining operations.
 
Product Design and Development
 

We produce specialized bearings and engineered products that are often tailored to the specifications of a customer or application. Our sales
professionals are highly experienced engineers who collaborate with our customers on a continual basis to develop bearing and engineered product
solutions. The product development cycle can follow many paths which are dependent on the end market or sales channel. The process normally takes
between 3-6 years from concept to sale depending upon the application and the market. A common route that is used for major OEM projects begins when
our design engineers meet with their customer counterparts at the machine design conceptualization stage and work with them through the conclusion of the
product development.
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Often, at the early stage, a bearing design or engineered product concept is produced that addresses the expected demands of the application.

Environmental demands are many but normally include load, stress, heat, thermal gradients, vibration, lubricant supply, pressure and flows, and corrosion
resistance, with one or two of these environmental constraints being predominant in the design consideration. A bearing or engineered product design must
perform reliably for a period of time specified by the customer’s product objectives.
 

Once a bearing or engineered product is designed, a mathematical simulation is created to replicate the expected application environment and
thereby allow optimization with respect to these design variables. Upon conclusion of the design and simulation phase, samples are produced and laboratory
testing commences at one of our test laboratories. The purpose of this testing phase is not only to verify the design and the simulation model but also to allow
further design improvement where needed. Finally, upon successful field testing by the customer, the product is ready for sale.
 

For the majority of our products, the culmination of this lengthy process is the receipt of a product approval or certification, generally obtained from
either the OEM, the Department of Defense or the Federal Aviation Administration, or “FAA,” which allows us to supply the product to the customer and to
the aftermarket. We currently have a significant amount of such approvals, which often gives us a competitive advantage, and in many of these instances we
are the only approved supplier of a given bearing or engineered product.
 
Manufacturing and Operations
 

Our manufacturing strategies are focused on product reliability, quality and service. Custom and standard products are produced according to
manufacturing schedules that ensure maximum availability of popular items for immediate sale while carefully considering the economies of lot production
and special products. Capital programs and manufacturing methods development are focused on quality improvement, production costs and service. A
monthly review of product line production performance assures an environment of continuous attainment of profitability and quality goals.
 

Capacity. Our plants currently run on a full first shift with second and third shifts at selected locations to meet the demands of our customers. We
believe that current capacity levels and future annual estimated capital expenditures on equipment up to approximately 3.5% to 4.5% of net sales should
permit us to effectively meet demand levels for the foreseeable future.
 

Inventory Management. We operate an inventory management program designed to balance customer delivery requirements with economically
optimal inventory levels. In this program, each product is categorized based on characteristics including order frequency, number of customers and sales
volume. Using this classification system, our primary goal is to maintain a sufficient supply of standard items while minimizing costs. In addition, production
cost savings are achieved by optimizing plant scheduling around inventory levels and customer delivery requirements. This leads to more efficient
utilization of manufacturing facilities and minimizes plant production changes while maintaining sufficient inventories to service customer needs.
 
Sales, Marketing and Distribution
 

Our marketing strategy is aimed at increasing sales within our two primary markets, targeting specific applications in which we can exploit our
competitive strengths. To affect this strategy, we seek to expand into geographic areas not previously served by us and we continue to capitalize on new
markets and industries for existing and new products. We employ a technically proficient sales force and utilize marketing managers, product managers,
customer service representatives and product application engineers in our selling efforts.
 

We have developed our sales force through the hiring of sales personnel with prior industry experience, complemented by an in-house training
program. We intend to continue to hire and develop expert sales professionals and strategically locate them to implement our expansion strategy. Today, our
direct sales force is located to service North America, Europe, Asia and Latin America and is responsible for selling all of our products. This selling model
leverages our relationship with key customers and provides opportunities to market multiple product lines to both established and potential customers. We
also sell our products through a well-established, global network of industrial and aerospace distributors. This channel primarily provides our products to
smaller OEM customers and the end users of bearings and engineered products that require local inventory and service. We intend to continue to focus on
building distributor sales volume.
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The sale of our products is supported by a well-trained and experienced customer service organization. This organization provides customers with

instant access to key information regarding their purchase and delivery requirements. We also provide customers with updated information through our
website, and we have developed on-line integration with specific customers, enabling more efficient ordering and timely order fulfillment for those
customers.
 

We store product inventory in warehouses located in the Midwest, Southwest and on the East and West coasts of the U.S. as well as in France and
Switzerland. The inventory is located in these locations based on analysis of customer demand to provide superior service and product availability.
 
Competition
 

Our principal competitors include SKF, New Hampshire Ball Bearings, Rexnord, PCC, Arkwin and Timken, although we compete with different
companies for each of our product lines. We believe that for the majority of our products, the principal competitive factors affecting our business are product
qualifications, product line breadth, service, quality and price. Although some of our current and potential competitors may have greater financial, marketing,
personnel and other resources than us, we believe that we are well positioned to compete with regard to each of these factors in each of the markets in which
we operate.
 

Product Qualifications. Many of the products we produce are qualified for the application by the OEM, the U.S. Department of Defense, the FAA or
a combination of these agencies. These credentials have been achieved for thousands of distinct items after years of design, testing and improvement. In
many cases patent protection presides, in most cases there is strong brand identity and in numerous cases we have the exclusive product for the application.
 

Product Line Breadth. Our products encompass an extraordinarily broad range of designs which often create a critical mass of complementary
bearings and engineered products for our markets. This position allows many of our industrial and aerospace customers the ability for a single manufacturer
to provide the engineering service and product breadth needed to achieve a series of OEM design objectives and/or aftermarket requirements. This ability
enhances our value to the OEM considerably while strengthening our overall market position.
 

Service. Product design, performance, reliability, availability, quality and technical and administrative support are elements that define the service
standard for this business. Our customers are sophisticated and demanding, as our products are fundamental and enabling components to the construction or
operation of their machinery. We maintain inventory levels of our most popular items for immediate sale and service. Our customers have high expectations
regarding product availability and quality, and the primary emphasis of our service efforts is to ensure the widest possible range of available products and
delivering them on a timely basis.
 

Price. We believe our products are priced competitively in the markets we serve. We continually evaluate our manufacturing and other operations to
maximize efficiencies in order to reduce costs, eliminate unprofitable products from our portfolio and maximize our profit margins. We invest considerable
effort to develop our price to value algorithms and we price to market levels where required by competitive pressures.
 
Suppliers and Raw Materials
 

We obtain raw materials, component parts and supplies from a variety of sources and generally from more than one supplier. Our principal raw
material is steel. Our suppliers and sources of raw materials are based in the U.S., Europe and Asia. We purchase steel at market prices, which fluctuate as a
result of supply and demand driven by economic conditions in the marketplace. For further discussion of the possible effects of changes in the cost of raw
materials on our business, see Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
Backlog
 

As of March 31, 2018, we had order backlog of $392.1 million compared to a backlog of $354.1 million in the prior fiscal year. The amount of
backlog includes orders which we estimate will be fulfilled within the next 12 months; however, orders included in our backlog are subject to cancellation,
delay or other modifications by our customers prior to fulfillment. We sell many of our products pursuant to contractual agreements, single source
relationships or long-term purchase orders, each of which may permit early termination by the customer. However, due to the nature of many of the products
supplied by us and the lack of availability of alternative suppliers to meet the demands of such customers’ orders in a timely manner, we believe that it is not
practical or prudent for most of our customers to shift their business to other suppliers.
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Employees
 

We have 3,466 employees of which 1,998 are hourly and 1,468 salaried employees as of March 31, 2018. 1,058 are employed in our international
operations. We believe that our employee relations are satisfactory.
 
Intellectual Property
 

We own U.S. and foreign patents and trademark registrations and U.S. copyright registrations, and have U.S. trademark and patent applications
pending. We currently have 207 issued or pending U.S. and foreign patents. We file patent applications and maintain patents to protect certain technology,
inventions and improvements that are important to the development of our business, and we file trademark applications and maintain trademark registrations
to protect product names that have achieved brand-name recognition among our customers. We also rely upon trade secrets, know-how and continuing
technological innovation to develop and maintain our competitive position. Many of our brands are well recognized by our customers and are considered
valuable assets of our business. We currently have 163 issued or pending U.S. and foreign trademark registrations and applications. We do not believe,
however, that any individual item of intellectual property is material to our business.
 
Regulation
 

Product Approvals. Essential to servicing the aerospace and defense markets is the ability to obtain product approvals. We have a substantial
number of product approvals in the form of OEM approvals or Parts Manufacturer Approvals, or “PMAs,” from the FAA. We also have a number of active
PMA applications in process. These approvals enable us to provide products used in virtually all domestic aircraft platforms presently in production or
operation.
 

We are subject to various other federal laws, regulations and standards. Although we are not presently aware of any pending legal or regulatory
changes that may have a material impact on us, new laws, regulations or standards or changes to existing laws, regulations or standards could subject us to
significant additional costs of compliance or liabilities, and could result in material reductions to our results of operations, cash flow or revenues.
 
Environmental Matters
 

We are subject to federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations, including those governing discharges of pollutants into the air and
water, the storage, handling and disposal of wastes and the health and safety of employees. We also may be liable under the Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation, and Liability Act or similar state laws for the costs of investigation and clean-up of contamination at facilities currently or formerly
owned or operated by us, or at other facilities at which we have disposed of hazardous substances. In connection with such contamination, we may also be
liable for natural resource damages, government penalties and claims by third parties for personal injury and property damage. Agencies responsible for
enforcing these laws have authority to impose significant civil or criminal penalties for non-compliance. We believe we are currently in material compliance
with all applicable requirements of environmental laws. We do not anticipate material capital expenditures for environmental compliance in fiscal year 2019.
 

State agencies have been overseeing groundwater monitoring activities at our facility in Hartsville, South Carolina and a corrective action plan at
our Clayton, Georgia facility. At Hartsville, we are monitoring low levels of contaminants in the groundwater caused by former operations. Plans are currently
underway to conclude remediation and monitoring activities. In connection with the purchase of our Fairfield, Connecticut facility in 1996, we agreed to
assume responsibility for completing clean-up efforts previously initiated by the prior owner. We submitted data to the state that we believe demonstrates
that no further remedial action is necessary although the state may require additional clean-up or monitoring. In connection with the purchase of our Clayton,
Georgia facility, we agreed to take assignment of the hazardous waste permit covering such facility and to assume certain responsibilities to implement a
corrective action plan concerning the remediation of certain soil and groundwater contamination present at that facility. The corrective action plan is
ongoing. Although there can be no assurance, we do not expect expenses associated with these activities to be material.
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Available Information
 

We file our annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements, and other documents with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”)
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The public may read and copy any materials filed with the SEC at the SEC’s Office of Investor Education and
Advocacy at 100F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. The public may obtain information on the operation of the Office of Investor Education and
Advocacy by calling the SEC at 1–800–SEC–0330. Also, the SEC maintains an Internet website that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and
other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC. The public can obtain any documents that are filed by us at http://www.sec.gov.
 

In addition, this Annual Report on Form 10-K, as well as our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to all
of the foregoing reports and our governance documents, are made available free of charge on our Internet website (http://www.rbcbearings.com) as soon as
reasonably practicable after such reports are electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC. A copy of the above filings will also be provided free of charge
upon written request to us.
 
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
 
Cautionary Statement As To Forward-Looking Information
 

This report includes “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the safe harbor provisions of the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995. All statements other than statements of historical fact are “forward-looking statements” for purposes of federal and state securities laws,
including any projections of earnings, cash flows, revenue or other financial items; any statements of the plans, strategies and objectives of management for
future operations; any statements concerning proposed new services or developments; any statements regarding future economic conditions or performance;
future growth rates in the markets we serve; increases in foreign sales; supply and cost of raw materials, any statements of belief; and any statements of
assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. Forward-looking statements may include the words “may,” “estimate,” “intend,” “continue,” “believe,”
“expect,” “anticipate,” the negative of such terms or other comparable terminology.
 

Although we believe that the expectations reflected in any of our forward-looking statements are reasonable, actual results could differ materially from
those projected or assumed in any of our forward-looking statements. Our future financial condition, results of operations and cash flows, as well as any
forward-looking statements, are subject to change and to inherent risks and uncertainties, such as those disclosed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Factors that could cause our actual results, performance and achievements or industry results to differ materially from estimates or projections contained in
forward-looking statements include, among others, the following:
 

● Weaknesses and cyclicality in any of the industries in which our customers operate;
● Changes in marketing, product pricing and sales strategies or developments of new products by us or our competitors;
● Future reductions in U.S. governmental spending or changes in governmental programs, particularly military equipment procurement programs;
● Our ability to obtain and retain product approvals;
● Supply and costs of raw materials, particularly steel, and energy resources and our ability to pass through these costs on a timely basis;
● Our ability to acquire and integrate complementary businesses;
● Unanticipated liabilities of acquired businesses;
● Unexpected equipment failures, catastrophic events or capacity constraints;
● The costs of defending, or the results of, new litigation;
● Our ability to attract and retain our management team and other highly-skilled personnel;
● Increases in interest rates;
● Work stoppages and other labor problems for us and our customers or suppliers;
● Limitations on our ability to expand our business;
● Regulatory changes or developments in the U.S. and foreign countries;
● Developments or disputes concerning patents or other proprietary rights;
● Changes in accounting standards, policies, guidance, interpretation or principles;
● Risks associated with utilizing information technology systems;
● Risks associated with operating internationally, including currency translation risks;
● The operating and stock performance of comparable companies;
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● Investors’ perceptions of us and our industry;
● General economic, geopolitical, industry and market conditions;
● Changes in tax requirements (including tax rate changes and new tax laws);
● Health care reform;
● Unforeseen developments in contingencies, such as litigation, could adversely affect our operating results and financial condition; and
● Other risks and uncertainties including but not limited to those described from time to time in our current and quarterly reports filed with US

Securities and Exchange Commission.
 

Additional factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our forward-looking statements are set forth in this Annual Report on Form
10-K, including under Part I, Item 1. “Business,” Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors,” Part II, Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

 
We are not under any duty to update any forward-looking statements after the date of this report to conform such statements to actual results or to

changes in our expectations. You are advised, however, to review any further disclosures we make on related subjects in our periodic filings with the
Securities and Exchange Commission. All forward-looking statements contained in this report and any subsequently filed reports are expressly qualified in
their entirety by these cautionary statements.
 

Our business, operating results, cash flows or financial condition could be materially adversely affected by any of the following risks. The trading
price of our common stock could decline due to any of these risks, and you may lose all or part of your investment. You should carefully consider these risks
before investing in shares of our common stock.
 
Risk Factors Related to Our Company
 
The bearing and engineered products industries are highly competitive, and competition could reduce our profitability or limit our ability to grow.
 

The global bearing and engineered products industries are highly competitive, and we compete with many U.S. and non-U.S. companies, some of
which benefit from lower labor costs and fewer regulatory burdens than us. We compete primarily based on product qualifications, product line breadth,
service and price. Certain competitors may be better able to manage costs than us or may have greater financial resources than we have. Due to the
competitiveness in the bearing and engineered products industries we may not be able to increase prices for our products to cover increases in our costs, and
we may face pressure to reduce prices, which could materially reduce our revenues, gross margin and profitability. Competitive factors, including changes in
market penetration, increased price competition and the introduction of new products and technology by existing and new competitors could result in a
material reduction in our revenues and profitability.
 
The loss of a major customer could result in a material reduction in our revenues and profitability.
 

Our top ten customers generated 36% and 37% of our net sales during fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, respectively. Accordingly, the loss of one or more
of those customers or a substantial decrease in such customers’ purchases from us could result in a material reduction in our revenues and profitability.
 

In addition, the consolidation and combination of defense or other manufacturers may eliminate customers from the industry and/or put downward
pricing pressures on sales of component parts. For example, the consolidation that has occurred in the defense industry in recent years has significantly
reduced the overall number of defense contractors in the industry. In addition, if one of our customers is acquired or merged with another entity, the new
entity may discontinue using us as a supplier because of an existing business relationship with the acquiring company or because it may be more efficient to
consolidate certain suppliers within the newly formed enterprise. The significance of the impact that such consolidation may have on our business is difficult
to predict because we do not know when or if one or more of our customers will engage in merger or acquisition activity. However, if such activity involved
our material customers it could materially impact our revenues and profitability.
 
Weakness in any of the industries in which our customers operate, as well as the cyclical nature of our customers’ businesses generally, could materially
reduce our revenues and profitability.
 

The commercial aerospace, mining and construction equipment and other diversified industrial industries to which we sell our products are, to
varying degrees, cyclical and tend to decline in response to overall declines in industrial production. Margins in those industries are highly sensitive to
demand cycles, and our customers in those industries historically have tended to delay large capital projects, including expensive maintenance and upgrades,
during economic downturns. As a result, our business is also cyclical, and the demand for our products by these customers depends, in part, on overall levels
of industrial production, general economic conditions and business confidence levels. Downward economic cycles could affect our customers and reduce
sales of our products resulting in reductions in our revenues and net earnings. Any future material weakness in demand in any of these industries could
materially reduce our revenues and profitability. Many of our customers have historically experienced periodic downturns, which often have had a negative
effect on demand for our products. Previous industry downturns have negatively affected, and future industry downturns will negatively affect, our net sales,
gross margin and net income.
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Future reductions or changes in U.S. government spending could negatively affect our business.
 

In fiscal 2018, 4.1% of our net sales were made directly, and we estimate that, including our diversified industrial market, approximately an
additional 19.9% of our net sales were made indirectly, to the U.S. government to support military or other government projects. Our failure to obtain new
government contracts, the cancellation of government contracts or reductions in federal budget appropriations regarding our products could result in
materially reduced revenue. In addition, the funding of defense programs also competes with non-defense spending of the U.S. government. Our business is
sensitive to changes in national and international priorities and the U.S. government budget. A shift in government defense spending to other programs in
which we are not involved or a reduction in U.S. government defense spending generally could materially reduce our revenues, cash flows from operations
and profitability. If we, or our prime contractors for which we are a subcontractor, fail to win any particular bid, or we are unable to replace lost business as a
result of a cancellation, expiration or completion of a contract, our revenues or cash flows could be reduced.
 

The U.S. government continues to focus on developing and implementing spending, tax, and other initiatives to stimulate the economy, create jobs,
and reduce the deficit. One of these initiatives, the Budget Control Act of 2011 (“BCA”), imposed greater constraints around government spending. In an
attempt to balance decisions regarding defense, homeland security, and other federal spending priorities, the BCA immediately imposed spending caps that
contain significant reductions to the Department of Defense (“DOD”) base budgets over a ten-year period ending in 2021. The BCA also provided for an
automatic sequestration process, that impose additional cuts to the annual proposed DOD budgets continuing through 2021.
 

Although we cannot predict whether the automatic sequestration process will continue to proceed as set forth in the BCA or will be further modified
by new or additional legislation, we believe our portfolio of programs and product offerings are well positioned and will not be materially impacted by such
proposed DOD budget cuts. However, one or more of our programs could be reduced, extended, or terminated as a result of the U.S. Government’s continuing
assessment of priorities, which could significantly impact our operations.
 
Fluctuating supply and costs of raw materials and energy resources could materially reduce our revenues, cash flow from operations and profitability.
 

Our business is dependent on the availability and costs of energy resources and raw materials, particularly steel, generally in the form of stainless
and chrome steel, which are commodity steel products. The availability and prices of raw materials and energy sources may be subject to curtailment or
change due to, among other things, new laws or regulations, suppliers’ allocations to other purchasers, interruptions in production by suppliers, changes in
exchange rates and worldwide price levels. The United States has imposed tariffs on steel and aluminum imports which may increase the cost of raw materials
and decrease the available supply. Although we currently maintain alternative sources for raw materials, our business is subject to the risk of price
fluctuations and periodic delays in the delivery of certain raw materials. Disruptions in the supply of raw materials and energy resources could temporarily
impair our ability to manufacture our products for our customers or require us to pay higher prices in order to obtain these raw materials or energy resources
from other sources, which could thereby affect our net sales and profitability.
 

We seek to pass through a significant portion of our additional costs to our customers through steel surcharges or price increases. However, even if
we are able to pass these steel surcharges or price increases to our customers, there may be a time lag of up to 3 months or more between the time a cost
increase goes into effect and our ability to implement surcharges or price increases, particularly for orders already in our backlog. Competitive pressures and
the terms of certain of our long-term contracts may require us to absorb at least part of these cost increases, particularly during periods of high inflation. As a
result, our gross margin percentage may decline, and we may not be able to implement other price increases for our products. We cannot provide assurances
that we will be able to continue to pass these additional costs on to our customers at all or on a timely basis or that our customers will not seek alternative
sources of supply if there are significant or prolonged increases in the price of steel or other raw materials or energy resources.
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The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act contains provisions to improve transparency and accountability concerning the

supply of certain minerals, known as conflict minerals, originating from the Democratic Republic of Congo (“DRC”) and adjoining countries. As a result, in
August 2012 the SEC adopted annual disclosure and reporting requirements for those companies who use materials containing conflict minerals in their
products mined from the DRC and adjoining countries. These new requirements necessitated due diligence efforts in calendar 2013, with initial disclosure
requirements beginning in May 2014. There will be costs associated with complying with these disclosure requirements, including for diligence to determine
the sources of materials containing conflict minerals used in our products and other potential changes to products, processes or sources of supply as a
consequence of these verification activities. The implementation of these rules could adversely affect the sourcing, supply and pricing of materials used in
certain of our products. As there may be only a limited number of suppliers offering “conflict free” materials, we cannot ensure that we will be able to obtain
necessary materials containing conflict free minerals from such suppliers in sufficient quantities or at competitive prices. Also, we may face negative
reactions from customers if we determine that certain of our products contain minerals not determined to be conflict free or if we are unable to sufficiently
verify the origins for all materials containing conflict minerals used in our products through the procedures we implement.
 
Our products are subject to certain approvals, and the loss of such approvals could materially reduce our revenues and profitability.
 

Essential to servicing the aerospace market is the ability to obtain product approvals. We have a substantial number of product approvals, which
enable us to provide products used in virtually all domestic aircraft platforms presently in production or operation. Product approvals are typically issued by
the FAA to designated OEMs who are Production Approval Holders of FAA approved aircraft. These Production Approval Holders provide quality control
oversight and generally limit the number of suppliers directly servicing the commercial aerospace aftermarket. Regulations enacted by the FAA provide for
an independent process (the PMA process), which enables suppliers who currently sell their products to the Production Approval Holders, to sell products to
the aftermarket. Our foreign sales may be subject to similar approvals or U.S. export control restrictions. We cannot assure you that we will not lose approvals
for our products in the future. The loss or suspension of product approvals could result in lost sales and materially reduce our revenues and profitability. The
repair and overhaul of aircraft parts and accessories throughout the world is highly regulated by government agencies, including the FAA. Our repair and
overhaul operations are subject to certification pursuant to regulations established by the FAA and other country government agencies which regulations
vary from country to country, although compliance with FAA requirements generally satisfies regulatory requirements in other countries. New and more
stringent government regulations, if adopted and enacted, could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
 
The retirement of commercial aircraft could reduce our revenues.
 

Our repair and overhaul operations repair, overhaul and sell jet engine and aircraft components. If aircraft or engines for which we offer replacement
parts or supply repair and overhaul services are retired and there are fewer aircraft that require these parts or services, our revenues may decline.
 
Work stoppages and other labor problems could materially reduce our ability to operate our business.
 

As of March 31, 2018, approximately 8.5% of our hourly employees were represented by labor unions in the U.S. While we believe our relations
with our employees are satisfactory, the inability to satisfactorily negotiate and enter into new collective bargaining agreements upon expiration, or a
lengthy strike or other work stoppage at any of our facilities, particularly at some of our larger facilities, could materially reduce our ability to operate our
business. In addition, any attempt by our employees not currently represented by a union to join a union could result in additional expenses, including with
respect to wages, benefits and pension obligations. We currently have three collective bargaining agreements covering employees within our Plymouth,
Indiana, Fairfield, Connecticut and West Trenton, New Jersey locations.

 
In addition, work stoppages at one or more of our customers or suppliers, including suppliers of transportation services, many of which have large

unionized workforces, for labor or other reasons could also cause disruptions to our business that we cannot control, and these disruptions may materially
reduce our revenues and profitability.
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Unexpected equipment failures, catastrophic events or capacity constraints may increase our costs and reduce our sales due to production curtailments
or shutdowns.
 

Our manufacturing processes are dependent upon critical pieces of turning, milling, grinding, and electrical equipment, and this equipment may, on
occasion, be out of service as a result of unanticipated failures. In addition to equipment failures, our facilities are also subject to the risk of catastrophic loss
due to unanticipated events such as fires, explosions, earthquakes or violent weather conditions. In the future, we may experience material plant shutdowns or
periods of reduced production as a result of these types of equipment failures or catastrophes. Interruptions in production capabilities will inevitably increase
our production costs and reduce sales and earnings for the affected period.
 

Certain of our facilities are operating at a full first shift with second and third shifts at some locations, and additional demand may require additional
shifts and/or capital investments at these facilities. We cannot assure you that we will be able to add additional shifts as needed in a timely way and
production constraints may result in lost sales. In certain markets we refrain from making additional capital investments to expand capacity where we believe
market expansion in a particular end market is not sustainable or otherwise does not justify the expansion or capital investment. Our assumptions and
forecasts regarding market conditions in these end markets may be erroneous and may result in lost earnings, potential sales going to competitors and inhibit
our growth.
 
We may not be able to continue to make the acquisitions necessary for us to realize our growth strategy.
 

The acquisition of businesses that complement or expand our operations has been and continues to be an important element of our business strategy.
We frequently engage in evaluations of potential acquisitions and negotiations for possible acquisitions, some of which, if consummated, could be
significant to us. We cannot assure you that we will be successful in identifying attractive acquisition candidates or completing acquisitions on favorable
terms in the future. Our inability to acquire businesses, or to operate them profitably once acquired, could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial position, cash flow and growth.
 

Our ability to realize anticipated benefits and synergies from the acquisitions may be affected by a number of factors, including: the use of more cash
or other financial resources, and additional management time, attention and distraction, on integration and implementation activities than we expect,
including restructuring and other exit costs; increases in other expenses related to an acquisition, which may offset any potential cost savings and other
synergies from the acquisition; our ability to avoid labor disruptions or disputes in connection with any integration; the timing and impact of purchase
accounting adjustments; difficulties in employee or management integration; and unanticipated liabilities associated with acquired businesses.
 

Any potential cost-saving opportunities may take at least several quarters following an acquisition to implement, and any results of these actions
may not be realized for at least several quarters following implementation.
 
Businesses that we have acquired or that we may acquire in the future may have liabilities which are not known to us.
 

In certain cases, we have assumed liabilities of other acquired businesses and may assume liabilities of businesses that we acquire in the future. There
may be liabilities or risks that we fail, or are unable, to discover, or that we underestimate, in the course of performing our due diligence investigations of
acquired businesses. Additionally, businesses that we have acquired or may acquire in the future may have made previous acquisitions, and we could be
subject to certain liabilities and risks relating to these prior acquisitions as well. We cannot assure you that our rights to indemnification contained in
definitive acquisition agreements that we have entered or may enter into will be sufficient in amount, scope or duration to fully offset the risk of unforeseen
business uncertainties or related possible liabilities. Any such liabilities, individually or in the aggregate, could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition or results of operations. As we begin to operate acquired businesses, we may learn additional information about them that
adversely affects us, such as unknown or contingent liabilities, issues relating to compliance with applicable laws or issues related to ongoing supply chain
or customer relationships or order demand.

 
Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangibles comprise a significant portion of our total assets, and if we determine that goodwill and indefinite-lived
intangibles have become impaired in the future, our results of operations and financial condition in such years may be materially and adversely
affected.
 

Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the fair market value of net assets acquired in business combinations. Indefinite-lived intangibles
represent long-standing brands acquired in business combinations and assumed to have indefinite lives. We review goodwill and indefinite-lived intangibles
at least annually for impairment and any excess in carrying value over the estimated fair value is charged to the results of operations. Our estimates of fair
value are based on assumptions about the future operating cash flows, growth rates, discount rates applied to these cash flows and current market estimates of
value. A reduction in net income resulting from the write down or impairment of goodwill or indefinite-lived intangibles would affect financial results and
could have a material and adverse impact upon the market price of our common stock. If we are required to record a significant charge to earnings in our
consolidated financial statements because an impairment of goodwill or indefinite-lived intangibles is determined, our results of operations and financial
condition could be materially and adversely affected.
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We depend heavily on our senior management and other key personnel, the loss of whom could materially affect our financial performance and
prospects.
 

Our business is managed by a number of key executive officers, including Dr. Michael J. Hartnett. Our future success will depend on, among other
things, our ability to keep the services of these executives and to hire other highly qualified employees at all levels.
 

We compete with other potential employers for employees, and we may not be successful in hiring and retaining executives and other skilled
employees that we need. Our ability to successfully execute our business strategy, market and develop our products and serve our customers could be
adversely affected by a shortage of available skilled employees or executives.
 
Our international operations are subject to risks inherent in such activities.
 

We have established operations in certain countries outside the U.S., including Mexico, France, Switzerland, Poland, China and Germany. Of our 45
facilities, 11 are located outside the U.S., including 9 manufacturing facilities.
 

In fiscal 2018, 12% of our net sales were generated by our international operations. We expect that this proportion is likely to increase as we seek to
increase our penetration of foreign markets, including through acquisitions, particularly within the aerospace and defense markets. Our foreign operations are
subject to the risks inherent in such activities such as: currency devaluations, logistical and communication challenges, costs of complying with a variety of
foreign laws and regulations, greater difficulties in protecting and maintaining our rights to intellectual property, difficulty in staffing and managing
geographically diverse operations, acts of terrorism or war or other acts that may cause social disruption which are difficult to quantify or predict and general
economic conditions in these foreign markets. Our international operations may be negatively impacted by changes in government policies, such as changes
in laws and regulations (or the interpretation thereof), restrictions on imports and exports, sources of supply, duties or tariffs, the introduction of measures to
control inflation and changes in the rate or method of taxation. To date we have not experienced significant difficulties with the foregoing risks associated
with our international operations.
 
We are subject to changes in legislative, regulatory and legal developments involving income and other taxes.
 

We are subject to U.S. federal, state, and international income, payroll, property, sales and use, fuel, and other types of taxes. Changes in tax rates,
enactment of new tax laws, revisions of tax regulations, and claims or litigation with taxing authorities could result in substantially higher taxes and,
therefore, could have a significant adverse effect on our results or operations, financial conditions and liquidity. U.S. income tax and foreign withholding
taxes have not been provided on undistributed earnings for certain non-U.S. subsidiaries, because such earnings are intended to be indefinitely reinvested in
the operations of those subsidiaries. Future legislation may substantially reduce (or have the effect of substantially reducing) our ability to defer U.S. taxes on
profit permanently reinvested outside the United States. Additionally, they could have a negative impact on our ability to compete in the global marketplace.
 

On December 22, 2017, the U.S. government enacted comprehensive tax legislation commonly referred to as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“TCJA” or
“the Act”). The Act includes a number of changes in existing tax laws impacting businesses including, among other things, a permanent reduction in the U.S.
corporate income tax rate from a top marginal rate of 35.0% to a flat rate 21.0%, limitation of the tax deduction for interest expense (except for certain small
businesses), elimination of U.S. tax on foreign earnings (subject to certain exceptions) and a one-time taxation of foreign earnings at reduced rates, regardless
of whether or not they are repatriated. Notwithstanding the reduction in the U.S. corporate tax rate, the overall impact of the new federal tax law is uncertain
and our business and financial condition could be adversely affected. It is uncertain if and to what extent various states will conform to the newly enacted
federal tax law. Financial results for fiscal 2018 reflect provisional estimates based on our initial analysis and current interpretation of the legislation.
 

12 



 

 
Currency translation risks may have a material impact on our results of operations.
 

Our Swiss operation utilizes the Swiss Franc as the functional currency, our French and German operations utilize the Euro as the functional
currency, our Polish operation utilizes the Polish Zloty as the functional currency and our Canadian operation utilizes the Canadian Dollar as the functional
currency. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are included in earnings. Foreign currency transaction exposure arises primarily from the transfer of
foreign currency from one subsidiary to another within the group and to foreign currency denominated trade receivables. Unrealized currency translation
gains and losses are recognized upon translation of the foreign subsidiaries’ balance sheets to U.S. dollars. Because our financial statements are denominated
in U.S. dollars, changes in currency exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and other currencies have had, and will continue to have, an impact on our
earnings. We periodically enter into derivative financial instruments such as forward exchange contracts to reduce the effect of fluctuations in exchange rates
on certain third-party sales transactions denominated in non-functional currencies. Currency fluctuations may affect our financial performance in the future
and we cannot predict the impact of future exchange rate fluctuations on our results of operations. See Part II, Item 7A. “Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures about Market Risk—Foreign Currency Exchange Rates.”
 
We may be required to make significant future contributions to our pension plan.
 

As of March 31, 2018, we maintained one noncontributory defined benefit pension plan. The plan was overfunded by $0.3 million as of March 31,
2018 and was underfunded by $1.9 million as of April 1, 2017, which are the amounts by which the accumulated benefit obligations are less or more than the
sum of the fair market value of the plan’s assets. We are required to make cash contributions to our pension plan to the extent necessary to comply with
minimum funding requirements imposed by employee benefit laws and tax laws. The amount of any such required contributions is determined based on
annual actuarial valuation of the plan as performed by the plan’s actuaries. The amount of future contributions will depend upon asset returns, then-current
discount rates and a number of other factors, and, as a result, the amount we may elect or be required to contribute to our pension plan in the future may
increase significantly. Additionally, there is a risk that if the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation concludes that its risk with respect to our pension plan
may increase unreasonably if the plan continues to operate, if we are unable to satisfy the minimum funding requirement for the plan or if the plan becomes
unable to pay benefits, then the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation could terminate the plan and take control of its assets. In such event, we may be
required to make an immediate payment to the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation of all or a substantial portion of the underfunding as calculated by the
Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation based upon its own assumptions. The underfunding calculated by the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation could be
substantially greater than the underfunding we have calculated because, for example, the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation may use a significantly
lower discount rate. If such payment is not made, then the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation could place liens on a material portion of our assets and the
assets of any members of our controlled group. Such action could result in a material increase in our pension related expenses and a corresponding reduction
in our cash flow and net income. For additional information concerning our pension plan and plan liabilities, see Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data,” Note 11 “Pension Plans.”
 
We may incur material losses for product liability and recall related claims.
 

We are subject to a risk of product and recall related liability in the event that the failure, use or misuse of any of our products results in personal
injury, death, or property damage or our products do not conform to our customers’ specifications. In particular, our products are installed in a number of
types of vehicle fleets, including airplanes, trains, automobiles, heavy trucks and farm equipment, many of which are subject to government ordered as well
as voluntary recalls by the manufacturer. If one of our products is found to be defective, causes a fleet to be disabled or otherwise results in a product recall,
significant claims may be brought against us. We currently maintain product liability insurance coverage for product liability, although not for recall related
claims, we cannot assure you that product liability or recall related claims, if made, would not exceed our insurance coverage limits or would be covered by
insurance which, in turn, may result in material losses related to these claims, increased future insurance costs and a corresponding reduction in our cash flow
and net income.
 
Environmental regulations impose substantial costs and limitations on our operations, and environmental compliance may be more costly than we
expect.
 

We are subject to various federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations, including those governing discharges of pollutants into the air
and water, the storage, handling and disposal of wastes and the health and safety of employees. These laws and regulations could subject us to material costs
and liabilities, including compliance costs, civil and criminal fines imposed for failure to comply with these laws and regulatory and litigation costs. We also
may be liable under the Federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act, or similar state laws, for the costs of
investigation and clean-up of contamination at facilities currently or formerly owned or operated by us or at other facilities at which we have disposed of
hazardous substances. In connection with such contamination, we may also be liable for natural resource damages, government penalties and claims by third
parties for personal injury and property damage. Compliance with these laws and regulations may prove to be more limiting and costly than we anticipate.
New laws and regulations, stricter enforcement of existing laws and regulations, the discovery of previously unknown contamination or the imposition of
new clean-up requirements could require us to incur costs or become the basis for new or increased liabilities that could cause a material increase in our
environmental related compliance costs and a corresponding reduction in our cash flow and net income. Investigation and remediation of contamination at
some of our sites is ongoing. Actual costs to clean-up these sites may exceed our current estimates. Although we have indemnities and other agreements for
certain pre-closing environmental liabilities from the prior owners in connection with our acquisition of several of our facilities, we cannot assure you that
the indemnities will be adequate to cover known or newly discovered pre-closing liabilities.
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Our intellectual property and other proprietary rights are valuable, and any inability to protect them could adversely affect our business and results of
operations; in addition, we may be subject to infringement claims by third parties.
 

Our ability to compete effectively is dependent upon our ability to protect and preserve the intellectual property and other proprietary rights and
materials owned, licensed or otherwise used by us. We have numerous U.S. and foreign patents, trademark registrations and U.S. copyright registrations. We
also have U.S. and foreign trademark and patent applications pending. We cannot assure you that our pending trademark and patent applications will result
in trademark registrations and issued patents, and our failure to secure rights under these applications may limit our ability to protect the intellectual property
rights that these applications were intended to cover. Although we have attempted to protect our intellectual property and other proprietary rights both in the
United States and in foreign countries through a combination of patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret protection and non-disclosure agreements,
these steps may be insufficient to prevent unauthorized use of our intellectual property and other proprietary rights, particularly in foreign countries where
the protection available for such intellectual property and other proprietary rights may be limited. We cannot assure you that any of our intellectual property
rights will not be infringed upon or that our trade secrets will not be misappropriated or otherwise become known to or independently developed by
competitors. We may not have adequate remedies available for any such infringement or other unauthorized use. We cannot assure you that any infringement
claims asserted by us will not result in our intellectual property being challenged or invalidated, that our intellectual property will be held to be of adequate
scope to protect our business or that we will be able to deter current and former employees, contractors or other parties from breaching confidentiality
obligations and misappropriating trade secrets. In addition, we may become subject to claims which could require us to pay damages or limit our ability to
use certain intellectual property and other proprietary rights found to be in violation of a third party’s rights, and, in the event such litigation is successful, we
may be unable to use such intellectual property and other proprietary rights at all or on reasonable terms. Regardless of its outcome, any litigation, whether
commenced by us or third parties, could be protracted and costly and could result in increased litigation related expenses, the loss of intellectual property
rights or payment of money or other damages, which may result in lost sales and reduced cash flow and decrease our net income. See Part I, Item 1 “Business
—Intellectual Property.”
 
Cancellation of orders in our backlog could negatively impact our revenues.
 

As of March 31, 2018, we had an order backlog of $392.1 million, which we estimate will be fulfilled within the next 12 months. However, orders
included in our backlog are subject to cancellation, delay or other modifications by our customers prior to fulfillment. For these reasons, we cannot assure
you that orders included in our backlog will ultimately result in the actual receipt of revenues from such orders.
 
If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results or prevent fraud.
 

Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and effectively prevent fraud. Any inability to provide reliable
financial reports or prevent fraud could harm our business. To date, we have not detected any material weakness or significant deficiencies in our internal
controls over financial reporting. However, we are continuing to evaluate and, where appropriate, enhance our policies, procedures and internal controls. If
we fail to maintain the adequacy of our internal controls, as such standards are modified, supplemented or amended from time to time, we could be subject to
regulatory scrutiny, civil or criminal penalties or shareholder litigation. In addition, failure to maintain adequate internal controls could result in financial
statements that do not accurately reflect our financial condition. Inferior internal controls could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported
financial information, which could have a negative effect on the trading price of our stock.
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Health care reform could adversely affect our operating results.
 

In 2010, the U.S. government enacted comprehensive health care reform legislation. Due to the breadth and complexity of this legislation, as well as
its phased-in nature of implementation and lack of interpretive guidance, it is difficult for us to predict the overall effects it will have on our business over the
coming years. To date, we have not experienced significant costs related to the health care reform legislation; however, it is possible that our operating results
could be adversely affected in the future by increased costs, expanded liability exposure and requirements that change the ways we provide healthcare and
other benefits to our employees.
 
Unforeseen developments in contingencies, such as litigation, could adversely affect our financial condition.
 

We and certain of our subsidiaries are, and from time to time may become, parties to a number of legal proceedings incidental to their businesses
involving alleged injuries arising out of the use of their products, exposure to hazardous substances, or patent infringement, employment matters, and
commercial disputes. The defense of these lawsuits may require significant expenses and divert management’s attention, and we may be required to pay
damages that could adversely affect our financial condition. In addition, any insurance or indemnification rights that we may have may be insufficient or
unavailable to protect us against potential loss exposures.
 
Changes in accounting standards or changes in the interpretations of existing standards could affect our financial results.
 

We prepare our financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. These accounting principles are subject
to interpretation by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) and the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). From time to time, we
are required to adopt new or revised accounting standards and related interpretations issued by the FASB and the SEC. Any change in these accounting
principles or interpretations could have a significant effect on our reported financial results, may retroactively affect previously reported results, could cause
unexpected financial reporting fluctuations, and may require us to make costly changes to our operational processes and accounting systems. In May 2014,
the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which supersedes most existing generally
accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) regarding revenue recognition. We will adopt this ASU on April 1, 2018 using the modified retrospective
approach. As a result of applying this approach, we will be recording a cumulative effect adjustment to the beginning balance of retained earnings in the first
quarter of fiscal 2018. The impact will be immaterial. Further information regarding our adoption of this new accounting standard is included in Part II, Item 8
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”, Note 2 “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies”.

 
Risks associated with utilizing information technology systems could adversely affect our operations.
 

We rely upon our information technology systems to process, transmit and store electronic information to manage and operate our business. Further,
in the ordinary course of business, we store sensitive data, including intellectual property, our proprietary business information and that of our customers and
business partners and personally identifiable information of our employees, on our networks. The secure maintenance and transmission of this information is
critical to our business operations.
 

As a U.S. government contractor, we may face certain security threats, including malicious software malware, phishing and other cybersecurity
intrusions to our information technology infrastructure, attempts to gain unauthorized access to proprietary, classified or confidential information, and threats
to the physical security of our information technology systems. In addition to security threats, we may also be subject to other systems failures, including
network, software or hardware failures. The unavailability of our information or communications systems, the failure of these systems to perform as
anticipated or any significant breach of data security could cause loss of data, disrupt our operations, require significant management attention and resources,
subject us to litigation, penalties, regulatory actions or contract termination, and negatively impact our reputation among our customers and the public,
which could have a negative impact on our financial and competitive position, results of operations and liquidity.
 

Although we have implemented certain preventative measures which may help mitigate the damage from such occurrences, the damage and
disruption to our business resulting from any of these events may be significant. We continue to evaluate the need to upgrade and/or replace our systems and
network infrastructure to protect our computing environment, to improve the effectiveness of our systems and strengthen our cybersecurity requirements,
however, our systems implementations may not result in the protection or improvements at the levels anticipated. As a U.S. government contractor, we are
also subject to regulatory compliance requirements under the DFARS and other federal regulations that require our IT systems to comply with the security
and privacy controls in National Institute of Standards and Technology Special Publication 800-171 (NIST 800-171).
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Risk Factors Related to our Common Stock
 
Provisions in our charter documents may prevent or hinder efforts to acquire a controlling interest in us.
 

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may discourage, delay or prevent a merger, acquisition or other change in control that
stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions which might benefit our stockholders or in which our stockholders might otherwise receive a
premium for their shares. These provisions may also prevent or frustrate attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our management.
 

Our certificate of incorporation authorizes the issuance of preferred stock with such designations, rights and preferences as may be determined from
time to time by our Board of Directors (the “Board”) without stockholder approval. Holders of the common stock may not have preemptive rights to subscribe
for a pro rata portion of any capital stock which may be issued by us. In the event of issuance, such preferred stock could be utilized, under certain
circumstances, as a method of discouraging, delaying or preventing a change in control of us or could impede our stockholders’ ability to approve a
transaction they consider in their best interests. Although we have no present intention to issue any new shares of preferred stock, we may do so in the future.
 
We may not pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
 

Except for a $2.00 per common share special dividend paid on June 13, 2014, we have not paid any cash dividends on our common stock and may
not pay cash dividends in the future. Instead, we plan to apply earnings and excess cash, if any, to the expansion and development of the business. Thus, the
return on your investment, if any, could depend solely on an increase, if any, in the market value of our common stock.
 
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
 

None
 
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
 

Our principal executive office is located at One Tribology Center, Oxford, Connecticut 06478. We also use these facilities for manufacturing and
product testing and development.
 

We own facilities in the following locations:
 

Tucson, Arizona Delemont, Switzerland
Anjou, Quebec, Canada Clayton, Georgia                                        
Rancho Dominguez, California                    Bremen, Indiana                    
Santa Ana, California Plymouth, Indiana
Fairfield, Connecticut Mielec, Poland                                  
Middlebury, Connecticut Bishopville, South Carolina                                  
Oxford, Connecticut                                    Hartsville, South Carolina
Torrington, Connecticut                                Westminster, South Carolina                               
Ball Ground, Georgia Houston, Texas
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We have leases in effect with respect to the following facilities:
 

Location of Leased Facility Lease Expiration Date Location of Leased Facility Lease Expiration Date
Baldwin Park, California May 31, 2023 Franklin, Indiana May 31, 2019
Garden Grove, California May 31, 2022 Reynosa, Mexico March 31, 2023
Fountain Valley, California November 30, 2019 Tecate, Mexico January 31, 2019
Torrance, California December 31, 2020 West Trenton, New Jersey February 28, 2018
San Diego, California October 1, 2018 Mentor, Ohio January 31, 2023
Santa Fe Springs, California November 30, 2018 Oklahoma City, Oklahoma September 30, 2021
Shanghai, China August 31, 2020 Bishopville, South Carolina January 31, 2020
Miami, Florida February 16, 2019 Grand Prairie, Texas February 28, 2021
Les Ulis, France July 1, 2020 Langenselbold, Germany March 31, 2019
Hoffman Estates, Illinois November 30, 2018 Lynnwood, Washington December 31, 2021
Norton Shores, Michigan April 24, 2019   

 
In addition to the facilities above, we have several small field offices located in various locations to support field sales operations.
 

We believe that our existing property, facilities and equipment are generally in good condition, are well maintained and adequate to carry on our
current operations. We also believe that our existing manufacturing facilities have sufficient capacity to meet increased customer demand. Substantially all of
our owned domestic properties and most of our other assets are subject to a lien securing our obligations under our Wells Fargo Credit Agreement.

 
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
 

From time to time, we are involved in litigation and administrative proceedings which arise in the ordinary course of our business. We do not
believe that any litigation or proceeding in which we are currently involved, including those discussed below, either individually or in the aggregate, is
likely to have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results, cash flow or prospects.
 
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
 

Not applicable.
 

ITEM 4A. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
 

The executive officers are elected by the Board normally for a term of one year and/on until the election of their successors. All executive officers
have been employed by the Company at their current positions during the past five-year period except as noted below. Our executive officers of the company
as of May 18, 2018 are as follows:

 
Name Age  Current Position and Previous Positions During Last Five Years
Michael J. Hartnett 72 1992 Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
Daniel A. Bergeron 58 2003 Director, Vice President,  Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Assistant

Secretary
Patrick S. Bannon 53 2017 Elected Vice President and General Manager in November 2017.  Prior thereto served as the

Company’s General Manager of its Aircraft Products, Mexico and AeroStructures operations
and has been with the Company in various positions for 26 years.

Richard J. Edwards 62 1996 Vice President and General Manager
Thomas J. Williams 66 2006 Corporate General Counsel and Secretary
Ernest D. Hawkins 52 2017 Elected Vice President Finance and Chief Accounting Officer in June 2017.  Prior thereto

served as the Corporate Controller of the Company’s Sargent Aerospace & Defense Division.
He joined RBC Bearings in 2015 as part of the Sargent Aerospace & Defense acquisition. He
was employed by Sargent’s previous parent company, Dover Corporation, since 2002.

Robert M. Sullivan 34 2017
 

Elected Corporate Controller in February 2017. Prior thereto served as the Company’s
Assistant Corporate Controller from March 2016 to February 2017. Prior thereto, served as
Financial Planning and Analysis Specialist at Sikorsky Aircraft Corporation from October
2013 to March 2016. Prior to joining Sikorsky, spent approximately six years with Ernst &
Young LLP as an Audit Manager.

 

17 



 

 
PART II
 
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES
 
Price range of our Common Stock
 

Our common stock is quoted on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “ROLL.” As of May 18, 2018, there were 3 holders of record of our
common stock.
 

The following table shows the high and low sales prices of our common stock as reported by the Nasdaq National Market during the periods
indicated:
 
  Fiscal 2018   Fiscal 2017  
  High   Low   High   Low  
   First Quarter  $ 108.39  $ 91.00  $ 79.75  $ 68.41 

Second Quarter   127.67   100.23   87.82   70.57 
Third Quarter   139.95   113.40   95.02   67.99 
Fourth Quarter   134.82   114.01   99.92   87.61 

 
The last reported sale price of our common stock on the Nasdaq National Market on May 18, 2018 was $123.26 per share.

 
Dividend Policy
 

On May 16, 2014, our Board declared a special cash dividend to shareholders of $2.00 per common share or a total of approximately $46.0 million.
The special dividend was payable on June 13, 2014, to shareholders of record on May 30, 2014. The ex-dividend date was May 28, 2014. The Board opted
for a special dividend payment, rather than a regular reoccurring dividend, to allow greater flexibility given our pipeline of attractive growth opportunities.
The Board will, however, consider the use of additional special cash dividends in the future as circumstances warrant.
 
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
 

On February 7, 2013, our Board authorized us to repurchase up to $50.0 million of our common stock, from time to time on the open market, in
block trade transactions and through privately negotiated transactions in compliance with Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 10b-18 depending on
market conditions, alternative uses of capital and other relevant factors. Purchases may be commenced, suspended, or discontinued at any time without prior
notice. This repurchase authorization terminates and replaces the existing $10.0 million stock repurchase program announced by us on June 15, 2007.
 

Total share repurchases for the three months ended March 31, 2018, all of which were made under this program, are as follows:
 

Period   

Total number
of shares

purchased   

Average
price paid
per share   

Number of
shares

purchased
as part of the

publicly
announced
program   

Approximate
dollar value
of shares still

available to be
purchased under the

program
(000’s)  

                  
12/31/2017 – 01/27/2018    190  $ 125.62   190  $ 20,878 
01/28/2018 – 02/24/2018    37   126.00   37   20,873 
02/25/2018 – 03/31/2018    259  118.39   259   20,842 
Total    486  $ 121.89   486     
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During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018, we did not issue any common stock that was not registered under the Securities Act.

 
Equity Compensation Plans
 

Information regarding equity compensation plans required to be disclosed pursuant to this Item is included in Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data,” Note 14 “Stockholders’ Equity-Stock Option Plans” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
Performance Graph
 

The following graph shows the total return to our stockholders compared to the Russell 2000 Small Cap Index and the Nasdaq Composite Index
over the period from March 30, 2013 to March 31, 2018. Because of the diversity of our markets and products, we do not believe that a combination of peer
issuers can be selected on an industry or line-of-business basis to provide a meaningful basis for comparing shareholder return. Accordingly, the Russell 2000
Small Cap Index is comprised of issuers with generally similar market capitalizations to that of the Company, and as permitted by regulation, is included in
the graph. Each line on the graph assumes that $100 was invested in our common stock on March 30, 2013 or in the respective indices at the closing price on
March 30, 2013. The graph then presents the value of these investments, assuming reinvestment of dividends, through the close of trading on March 31,
2018.
 

 

  
March 30,

2013   
March 29,

2014   
March 28,

2015   
April 2,

2016   
April 1,

2017   
March 31,

2018  
RBC Bearings Incorporated  $ 100.00  $ 124.55  $ 154.51  $ 150.57  $ 198.49  $ 253.91 
Nasdaq Composite Index   100.00   128.83   153.42   156.04   189.99   229.43 
Russell 2000 Small Cap Index   100.00   122.64   133.80   122.36   153.94   172.09 

 
*The cumulative total return shown on the stock performance graph indicates historical results only and is not necessarily indicative of future

results.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
 

The following table sets forth our selected consolidated historical financial and other data as of the dates and for the periods indicated. The selected
financial data as of and for the years ended March 31, 2018, April 1, 2017, April 2, 2016, March 28, 2015 and March 29, 2014 have been derived from our
historical consolidated financial statements audited by Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm. Historical results are not
necessarily indicative of the results expected in the future. You should read the data presented below together with, and qualified by reference to, Part II, Item
7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements included in Part II,
Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
  Fiscal Year Ended  

  
March 31,

2018   
April 1,

2017   
April 2,

2016   
March 28,

2015   
March 29,

2014  
  (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)  
Statement of Operations Data:                

Net sales(1)  $ 674,949  $ 615,388  $ 597,472  $ 445,278  $ 418,886 
Cost of sales   416,838   385,792   378,694   275,138   254,089 

Gross margin   258,111   229,596   218,778   170,140   164,797 
Selling, general and administrative   113,124   102,922   98,721   75,908   71,969 
Other, net   16,846   12,981   16,216   5,802   4,178 

Operating income   128,141   113,693   103,841   88,430   88,650 
Interest expense, net   7,507   8,706   8,722   1,055   1,019 
Other non-operating expense (income)   783   103   334   2,820   (122)

Income before income taxes   119,851   104,884   94,785   84,555   87,753 
Provision for income taxes   32,710   34,261   30,891   26,307   27,545 

Net income  $ 87,141  $ 70,623  $ 63,894  $ 58,248  $ 60,208 
Net income per common share:                     

Basic  $ 3.64  $ 3.00  $ 2.75  $ 2.52  $ 2.63 
Diluted  $ 3.58  $ 2.97  $ 2.72  $ 2.49  $ 2.59 

Weighted average common shares:                     
Basic   23,948,565   23,521,615   23,208,686   23,073,940   22,874,842 
Diluted   24,363,789   23,784,636   23,508,418   23,385,061   23,244,241 
Dividends per share   —   —   —  $ 2.00   — 

Other Financial Data:                     
Capital expenditures  $ 27,976  $ 20,894  $ 20,864  $ 20,897  $ 28,920 

 
  As of  
  March 31,   April 1,   April 2,   March 28,   March 29,  
  2018   2017   2016   2015   2014  
  (in thousands)  
Balance Sheet Data:                     

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 54,163  $ 38,923  $ 39,208  $ 125,455  $ 121,207 
Working capital   378,447   354,822   340,640   383,366   374,725 
Total assets   1,142,751   1,108,847   1,098,510   632,073   620,993 
Total debt   173,355   269,800   363,696   9,198   10,447 
Total stockholders’ equity   834,552   717,044   620,947   549,433   538,452 

 
(1) Net sales were $674.9 million in fiscal 2018 compared to $615.4 million in fiscal 2017, an increase of $59.5 million. The growth is driven primarily

by increased demand in our industrial and aerospace markets.
 
Net sales were $615.4 million in fiscal 2017 compared to $597.5 million in fiscal 2016, an increase of $17.9 million. Net sales in fiscal 2016
included three less weeks from Sargent Aerospace and Defense (“Sargent”) which was acquired in April 2015.
 
Net sales were $597.5 million in fiscal 2016 compared to $445.3 million in fiscal 2015, an increase of $152.2 million. Net sales in fiscal 2016
included net sales of $172.6 million for Sargent Aerospace and Defense (“Sargent”) which was acquired in April 2015.
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Net sales were $445.3 million in fiscal 2015 compared to $418.9 million in fiscal 2014, an increase of $26.4 million. Net sales in fiscal 2015
included net sales of $19.5 million for Climax Metal Products (“CMP”) and Turbine Components Inc. (“TCI”), which were acquired in August 2013
and October 2013, respectively

 
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 

The financial and business analysis below provides information which we believe is relevant to an assessment and understanding of our
consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows. This financial and business analysis should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements and related notes. All references to “Notes” in this Item 7 refer to the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements”
included in Item 8 of the Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 

The following discussion and certain other sections of this Annual Report on Form 10-K contain statements reflecting our views about our future
performance that constitute “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the safe harbor provisions of the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements are based on current expectations, estimates, forecasts and projections about the industry and markets in
which we operate and our beliefs and assumptions. Any statements contained herein (including without limitation statements to the effect that we or our
management “believes,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “plans” and similar expressions) that are not statements of historical fact should be considered forward-
looking statements. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to
predict. There are a number of important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those indicated by such forward-looking statements.
These factors include, without limitation, those set forth, or incorporated by reference, above under the heading “Cautionary Statement as to Forward-
Looking Information.” We do not intend to update publicly any forward-looking statements whether as a result of new information, future events or
otherwise.
 
Overview

 
We are a well-known international manufacturer of highly engineered precision bearings and components. Our precision solutions are integral to the

manufacture and operation of most machines and mechanical systems, reduce wear to moving parts, facilitate proper power transmission and reduce damage
and energy loss caused by friction. While we manufacture products in all major bearing categories, we focus primarily on the higher end of the bearing market
where we believe our value added manufacturing and engineering capabilities enable us to differentiate ourselves from our competitors and enhance
profitability. We believe our unique expertise has enabled us to garner leading positions in many of the product markets in which we primarily compete.
With 43 facilities, of which 36 are manufacturing facilities in six countries, we have been able to significantly broaden our end markets, products, customer
base and geographic reach. We have a fiscal year consisting of 52 or 53 weeks, ending on the Saturday closest to March 31. Based on this policy fiscal year
2018 and fiscal year 2017 had 52 weeks; fiscal 2016 contained 53 weeks. We currently operate under four reportable business segments: Plain Bearings;
Roller Bearings; Ball Bearings; and Engineered Products. The following further describes these reportable segments:
 

Plain Bearings. Plain bearings are produced with either self-lubricating or metal-to-metal designs and consists of several sub-classes, including rod
end bearings, spherical plain bearings and journal bearings. Unlike ball bearings, which are used in high-speed rotational applications, plain bearings are
primarily used to rectify inevitable misalignments in various mechanical components.
 

Roller Bearings. Roller bearings are anti-friction bearings that use rollers instead of balls. We manufacture four basic types of roller bearings: heavy
duty needle roller bearings with inner rings, tapered roller bearings, track rollers and aircraft roller bearings.
 

Ball Bearings. We manufacture four basic types of ball bearings: high precision aerospace, airframe control, thin section and commercial ball
bearings which are used in high-speed rotational applications.
 

Engineered Products. Engineered Products consists of highly engineered hydraulics, fasteners, collets and precision components used in aerospace,
marine and industrial applications.
 

Purchasers of bearings and engineered products include industrial equipment and machinery manufacturers, producers of commercial and military
aerospace equipment such as missiles and radar systems, agricultural machinery manufacturers, construction, energy, mining and specialized equipment
manufacturers, marine products, automotive and commercial truck manufacturers. The markets for our products are cyclical, and we have endeavored to
mitigate this cyclicality by entering into sole-source relationships and long-term purchase agreements, through diversification across multiple market
segments within the aerospace and industrial segments, by increasing sales to the aftermarket and by focusing on developing highly customized solutions.
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Currently, our strategy is built around maintaining our role as a leading manufacturer of precision bearings and components through the following

efforts:
 

● Developing innovative solutions. By leveraging our design and manufacturing expertise and our extensive customer relationships, we continue to
develop new products for markets in which there are substantial growth opportunities.

 
● Expanding customer base and penetrating end markets. We continually seek opportunities to access new customers, geographic locations and

bearing platforms with existing products or profitable new product opportunities.
 

● Increasing aftermarket sales. We believe that increasing our aftermarket sales of replacement parts will further enhance the continuity and
predictability of our revenues and enhance our profitability. Such sales included sales to third party distributors, sales to OEMs for replacement
products and aftermarket services. We will increase the percentage of our revenues derived from the replacement market by continuing to implement
several initiatives.

 
● Pursuing selective acquisitions. The acquisition of businesses that complement or expand our operations has been and continues to be an important

element of our business strategy. We believe that there will continue to be consolidation within the industry that may present us with acquisition
opportunities.
 
We have demonstrated expertise in acquiring and integrating bearing and precision engineered component manufacturers that have complementary

products or distribution channels and provide significant potential for margin enhancement. We have consistently increased the profitability of acquired
businesses through a process of methods and systems improvement coupled with the introduction of complementary and proprietary new products. Since
October 1992 we have completed 25 acquisitions, which have broadened our end markets, products, customer base and geographic reach.
 
The following items highlight the most recent significant events:
 

● I n the second quarter of fiscal 2018, the Company reached a decision to restructure its manufacturing operation in Montreal, Canada. After
completing its obligations, the Company expects to close its RBC Canada location and consolidate certain residual assets into other locations by
the end of this fiscal year. As a result, the Company recorded an after-tax charge of $5.6 million associated with the restructuring in the second
quarter of fiscal 2018 attributable to the Engineered Products segment. The $5.6 million charge includes a $1.3 million impairment of fixed assets
and a $5.2 million impairment of intangible assets offset by a $0.9 million tax benefit. The impairment charges were recognized within the “Other,
net” line item within the consolidated statement of operations. The Company determined that the market approach was the most appropriate method
to estimate the fair value of the fixed assets using comparable sales data and actual quotes from potential buyers in the market place. The fixed assets
are comprised of land, a building, machinery and equipment. The Company assessed the fair value of the intangible assets in accordance with ASC
360-10, which are comprised of customer relationships, product approvals, tradenames and trademarks. These fair value measurements were
classified as Level 3 in the valuation hierarchy. In the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2018, the Company incurred restructuring charges of $1.1
million and $0.1 million comprised primarily of employee termination costs and building maintenance costs. These costs were recorded within the
“Other, net” line item within the consolidated statement of operations and are all attributable to the Engineered Products segment. The cumulative
restructuring charges as of the end of the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018, net of taxes, were $6.8 million. The total impact of this restructuring is
expected to be between $6.8 million and $7.3 million in after-tax charges, all attributable to the Engineered Products segment, and is expected to
conclude in the first quarter of fiscal 2019.
 
In the third quarter of fiscal 2017, the Company reached a decision to integrate and restructure its industrial manufacturing operation in South
Carolina. The Company exited a few smaller product offerings and consolidated two manufacturing facilities into one. These restructuring efforts
will better align our manufacturing capacity and market focus. As a result, the Company recorded a charge of $7.1 million associated with the
restructuring in the third quarter of fiscal 2017 attributable to the Roller Bearings segment. The $7.1 million charge includes $3.2 million of
inventory rationalization costs, $0.3 million in impairment of intangibles, $2.4 million loss on fixed assets disposals, and $1.2 million exit
obligation associated with a building operating lease, of which, $0.8 million remains. The reduction of the exit obligation since the third quarter of
fiscal 2017 was primarily related to lease payments made. The inventory rationalization costs were recorded in Cost of Sales in the income
statement. All other costs were recorded under operating expenses in the “Other, net” category of the income statement. The pre-tax charge of $7.1
million was offset with a tax benefit of approximately $2.2 million. The Company determined that the market approach was the most appropriate
method to estimate the fair value for the inventory, intangible assets, equipment and building operating lease using comparable sales data and actual
quotes from potential buyers in the market place.
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● I n the first quarter of fiscal 2016, subsequent to the close of the fiscal 2015 year, we acquired Sargent for $500.0 million financed through a

combination of cash on hand and senior debt. Headquartered in Tucson, Arizona, Sargent is a leader in precision-engineered products, solutions and
repairs for aircraft airframes and engines, rotorcraft, submarines and land vehicles. Sargent manufactures, sells, and services hydraulic valves and
actuators, specialty bearings, specialty fasteners, seal rings & alignment joints, and precision components under leading brands including Kahr
Bearing, Airtomic, Sonic Industries, Sargent Controls and Sargent Aerospace & Defense. Annual sales are approximately $195.0 million and the
company has over 750 employees in six facilities in three countries.

 
Outlook
 

We ended fiscal 2018 with a backlog of $392.1 million compared to $354.1 million for the same period last fiscal year. Our net sales increased 9.7%
year over year due to a 3.7% growth in the aerospace markets and 21.1% in the industrial markets. Excluding RBC Canada, net sales grew 10.0% organically
year over year. We expect to see continued growth in the industrial markets resulting from the overall economic improvement of the semi-conductor, energy,
mining and general industrial markets. We also anticipate continued growth in aerospace tied to the aircraft build rates, new aircraft introductions and
positive movement in defense spending under the new administration.
 

Management believes that operating cash flows and available credit under the credit facilities will provide adequate resources to fund internal and
external growth initiatives for the foreseeable future. As of March 31, 2018, we had cash and cash equivalents of $54.2 million of which approximately $45.7
million was cash held by our foreign operations. We expect that our undistributed foreign earnings will be re-invested indefinitely for working capital,
internal growth and acquisitions for and by our foreign entities.
 
Sources of Revenue
 

Revenue is generated primarily from sales of products to the industrial market and the aerospace markets. Sales are often made pursuant to sole-
source relationships, long-term agreements and purchase orders with our customers. We recognize revenues principally from the sale of products at the point
of passage of title, which is at the time of shipment, except for certain customers for which it occurs when the products reach their destination.
 

We also recognize revenue on a Ship-In-Place basis for three customers who have required that we hold the product after final production is
complete.  In this case, a written agreement has been executed (at the customer’s request) whereby the customer accepts the risk of loss for product that is
invoiced under the Ship-In-Place arrangement.  For each transaction for which revenue is recognized under a Ship-In-Place arrangement, all final
manufacturing inspections have been completed and customer acceptance has been obtained. In fiscal 2018, 2.9% of our total net sales were recognized
under Ship-In-Place transactions compared to 2.6% in fiscal 2017.
 

Sales to the industrial market accounted for 38% and 34% of our net sales for the fiscal years 2018 and 2017, respectively. Sales to the aerospace and
defense markets accounted for 62% and 66% of our net sales for the same periods.
 

Aftermarket sales of replacement parts for existing equipment platforms and aftermarket services represented approximately 37% of our net sales for
fiscal 2018. We continue to develop our OEM relationships which have established us as a leading supplier on many important industrial, aerospace and
defense platforms. Over the past several years, we have experienced increased demand from the replacement parts market, particularly within the diversified
industrial sectors; one of our business strategies has been to increase the proportion of sales derived from this sector and from aerospace and defense. We
believe these activities increase the stability of our revenue base, strengthen our brand identity and provide multiple paths for revenue growth.
 

Approximately 12% of our net sales were generated by our international facilities for fiscal 2018 and 2017, respectively. We expect that this
proportion will increase as we seek to increase our penetration of foreign markets. Our top ten customers generated 36% and 37% of our net sales in fiscal
2018 and fiscal 2017, respectively. Out of the 36% of net sales generated by our top ten customers during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2018, 21% of net
sales were generated by our top four customers compared to 22% for the comparable period last fiscal year.
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Cost of Revenues
 

Cost of sales includes employee compensation and benefits, raw materials, outside processing, depreciation of manufacturing machinery and
equipment, supplies and manufacturing overhead.
 

Approximately 10% to 17% of our costs, depending on product mix, are attributable to raw materials and purchased components, a majority of
which are related to steel and related products. During fiscal 2018, steel prices remained flat with slight variances up and down throughout the fiscal year.
When we do experience raw material inflation, we offset these cost increases by changing our buying patterns, expanding our vendor network and passing
through price increases when possible. The overall impact on raw material costs for this fiscal year was not material as a percent change on a year over year
basis.

 
We monitor gross margin performance through a process of monthly operation reviews with all our divisions. We develop new products to target

certain markets allied to our strategies by first understanding volume levels and product pricing and then constructing manufacturing strategies to achieve
defined margin objectives. We only pursue product lines where we believe that the developed manufacturing process will yield the targeted margins.
Management monitors gross margins of all product lines on a monthly basis to determine which manufacturing processes or prices should be adjusted.
 
Fiscal 2018 Compared to Fiscal 2017
 
Results of Operations
 

  FY18   FY17   $ Change   % Change  
Net sales  $ 674.9  $ 615.4  $ 59.5   9.7%
Net income  $ 87.1  $ 70.6  $ 16.5   23.4%
Net income per common share: Diluted  $ 3.58  $ 2.97         
Weighted average common shares: Diluted   24,363,789   23,784,636         

 
Net sales increased $59.5 million, or 9.7%, for fiscal 2018 over fiscal 2017. This was mainly the result of a 21.1% increase in net sales to the

industrial markets of $44.6 million combined with a 3.7% increase in aerospace net sales of $14.9 million. Organic sales increased 10.0% year over year, with
an increase of 21.1% in the industrial markets and 4.1% in the aerospace markets. The increase in industrial sales was mostly attributable to an increase in
marine, mining, semicon, energy, and general industrial activity. The increase in aerospace was primarily driven by aerospace OEM, both defense and
commercial.
 

Net income increased by $16.5 million to $87.1 million for fiscal 2018 compared to fiscal 2017. The net income of $87.1 million in fiscal 2018 was
affected by restructuring and integration costs of $7.0 million, a $4.9 million tax benefit related to the adoption of ASU 2016-09, the impact of the new tax
legislation signed during the third quarter and $0.4 million in foreign exchange loss offset by $0.4 million of discrete tax benefits. Net income for fiscal 2017
was affected by $0.3 million in costs associated with the Sargent acquisition and $4.9 million in costs related to restructuring offset by $0.2 million of
discrete tax benefit and $0.2 million of foreign exchange gain.

 
Gross Margin
 

  FY18   FY17   $ Change   % Change  
             
Gross Margin  $ 258.1  $ 229.6  $ 28.5   12.4%
Gross Margin %   38.2%  37.3%        

 
Gross margin increased $28.5 million, or 12.4%, for fiscal 2018 compared to the same period last fiscal year. The increase in gross margin was

mainly driven by higher sales and cost efficiencies achieved during the current period. Gross margins in fiscal 2018 were impacted by lower production runs
and startup costs on new commercial aerospace programs. Gross margin for fiscal 2017 was affected by $3.2 million of restructuring charges and $0.4 million
of purchase accounting adjustments associated with the Sargent acquisition.
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Selling, General and Administrative
 

  FY18   FY17   $ Change   % Change  
             
SG&A  $ 113.1  $ 102.9  $ 10.2   9.9%
% of net sales   16.8%  16.7%        

 
SG&A increased as a percentage of net sales to 16.8% in fiscal 2018 from 16.7% in fiscal 2017. SG&A expenses increased by $10.2 million to

$113.1 million for fiscal 2018 compared to fiscal 2017. This increase is primarily due to $1.3 million of additional stock compensation expense, $7.2 million
of personnel related expenses, and $1.7 million of other miscellaneous expenses.
 

Other, Net
 

  FY18   FY17   $ Change   % Change  
             
Other, net  $ 16.8  $ 13.0  $ 3.8   29.8%
% of net sales   2.5%  2.1%        

 
Other operating expenses for fiscal 2018 totaled $16.8 million compared to $13.0 million for fiscal 2017. For fiscal 2018, other operating expenses

were comprised of $9.3 million in amortization of intangibles, $8.0 million of restructuring costs offset by $0.5 million of other income. For fiscal 2017, other
operating expenses were comprised of $9.3 million in amortization of intangibles, $4.1 million of restructuring costs, and $0.2 million of miscellaneous costs
offset by other income of $0.6 million.
 
Interest Expense, Net
 

  FY18   FY17   $ Change   % Change  
             
Interest expense  $ 7.5  $ 8.7  $ (1.2)   (13.8)%
% of net sales   1.1%  1.4%        

 
Interest expense, net, generally consists of interest charged on our debt and amortization of debt issuance costs offset by interest income (see

“Liquidity and Capital Resources – Liquidity”, below). Interest expense, net was $7.5 million for fiscal 2018 compared to $8.7 million for fiscal 2017. This
included amortization of debt issuance costs of $1.4 million for both fiscal 2018 and 2017.
 
Other Non-Operating Expense
 

  FY18   FY17   $ Change   % Change  
             
Other non-operating expense  $ 0.8  $ 0.1  $ 0.7   660.2%
% of net sales   0.1%  0.0%        

 
Other non-operating expense for fiscal 2018 totaled $0.8 million, consisting primarily of $0.6 million of foreign currency expense and $0.2 million

of other miscellaneous costs. Other non-operating expense for fiscal 2017 was comprised of $0.2 million of foreign currency gains offset by $0.3 million of
other miscellaneous costs.
 
Income Taxes
 

  FY18   FY17  
       
Income tax expense  $ 32.7  $ 34.3 
Effective tax rate with discrete items   27.3%  32.7%
Effective tax rate without discrete items   32.4%  32.9%
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Income tax expense for fiscal 2018 was $32.7 million compared to $34.3 million for fiscal 2017. Our effective income tax rate for fiscal 2018 was

27.3% compared to 32.7% for fiscal 2017. The effective income tax rate for fiscal 2018 was favorably impacted by the passage of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act
of 2017 (“TCJA” or “the Act”) resulting in a net tax benefit of $0.1 million. The legislation significantly changes U.S. tax law by, among other things,
lowering corporate income tax rates, implementing a territorial tax system and imposing a one-time repatriation tax on undistributed foreign earnings. The
Act permanently reduces the U.S. corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21% effective for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017. As a result of the
reduction in the U.S. corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21% under the TCJA, the Company revalued its ending net deferred tax liabilities at March 31,
2018 and recognized a provisional $9.3 million tax benefit in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations for the year ended March 31, 2018. The
Act also provided for a one-time deemed mandatory repatriation of post-1986 undistributed foreign subsidiary earnings and profits (“E&P”) through
December 31, 2017. The Company had an estimated $116.5 million of undistributed foreign E&P subject to the one-time mandatory repatriation and
recognized a provisional $9.2 million of income tax expense in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations for the year ended March 31, 2018.
 

On December 22, 2017, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118 (“SAB 118”) to address the application of U.S. GAAP in situations where
a registrant does not have the necessary information available, prepared, or analyzed in reasonable detail to complete the accounting for certain income tax
effects of the Act. SAB 118 provides a measurement period, not to exceed one year from the enactment of the Act. In accordance with SAB 118, the Company
is required to reflect the income tax effects of those aspects of the Act for which the accounting is complete. To the extent there are areas that are incomplete,
but are capable of reasonable estimates, a provisional amount is required to be recorded by the Company. If a reasonable estimate is unable to be calculated,
the Company is required to disclose why. The Company has recognized provisional tax impacts related to the one-time mandatory repatriation of foreign
earnings and the revaluation of the deferred tax assets and liabilities and included these amounts in its consolidated financial statements for the year ended
March 31, 2018.
 

In fiscal 2018, in addition to the TCJA, the effective income tax rates are different from the U.S. statutory rate due to a special manufacturing
deduction and research credit in the U.S. which decrease the rate, and differences in foreign income taxes and state income taxes which increase the rate. The
effective income tax rate for fiscal 2018 of 27.3% includes discrete items of $4.2 million benefit which are comprised substantially of a $3.9 million benefit
associated with the adoption of ASU No. 2016-09 Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 178) Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment
Accounting and unrecognized tax benefits associated with the expiration of statutes of limitations. The effective income tax rate for fiscal 2018 without these
discrete items would have been 32.4%. The effective income tax rate for fiscal 2017 of 32.7% includes discrete items of $0.2 million which are comprised
substantially of unrecognized tax benefits associated with federal and state income tax audits closing and the expiration of statutes of limitations along with
other permanent adjustments from filing of the fiscal 2016 tax return. The effective income tax rate for fiscal 2017 without these discrete items would have
been 32.9%.
 
Segment Information
 

We have four reportable product segments: Plain Bearings, Roller Bearings, Ball Bearings and Engineered Products. We use net sales and gross
margin as the primary measurement to assess the financial performance of each reportable segment.
 
Plain Bearing Segment:
 

  FY18   FY17   $ Change   % Change  
             
Net sales  $ 296.7  $ 277.7  $ 19.0   6.8%
                 
Gross margin  $ 115.6  $ 110.2  $ 5.4   4.9%
Gross margin %   39.0%  39.7%        
                 
SG&A  $ 26.0  $ 23.6  $ 2.4   10.2%
% of segment net sales   8.8%  8.5%        

 
Net sales increased $19.0 million, or 6.8%, for fiscal 2018 compared to fiscal 2017. The net sales increase of $19.0 million for this segment was

mostly attributable to a net sales increase to the industrial sector of 15.1% driven primarily by general industrial OEM. Aerospace sales increased by 4.3%
primarily driven by the commercial aerospace OEM.
 

26 



 

 
Gross margin was $115.6 million, or 39.0% of sales, in fiscal 2018 compared to $110.2 million, or 39.7% of sales, for the same period in fiscal 2017.

Gross margin in fiscal 2018 was affected by lower production runs and startup costs on commercial aerospace programs.
 
Roller Bearing Segment:
 

  FY18   FY17   $ Change   % Change  
             
Net sales  $ 132.0  $ 109.5  $ 22.5   20.6%
                 
Gross margin  $ 55.0  $ 41.7  $ 13.3   32.0%
Gross margin %   41.7%  38.1%        
                 
SG&A  $ 6.3  $ 6.1  $ 0.2   3.1%
% of segment net sales   4.8%  5.6%        

 
Net sales increased $22.5 million, or 20.6%, compared to fiscal 2017. This was attributable to a 38.5% increase in net sales to the industrial sector

mainly driven by the mining, general industrial and energy markets. Aerospace sales increased 6.6% primarily driven by the defense OEM markets.
 

The Roller Bearings segment achieved a gross margin of $55.0 million, or 41.7% of sales, in fiscal 2018 compared to $41.7 million, or 38.1% of
sales, in fiscal 2017. The increase in gross margin was due to the impact of increased industrial volume as well as cost efficiencies achieved during the year.
 
Ball Bearing Segment:
 

  FY18   FY17   $ Change   % Change  
             
Net sales  $ 67.8  $ 58.4  $ 9.4   16.0%
                 
Gross margin  $ 28.0  $ 22.8  $ 5.2   22.8%
Gross margin %   41.2%  39.0%        
                 
SG&A  $ 6.8  $ 5.7  $ 1.1   19.7%
% of segment net sales   10.0%  9.7%        

 
Net sales increased $9.4 million, or 16.0%, for fiscal 2018 compared to fiscal 2017. This was attributable to net sales increases to the industrial sector

of 19.9% driven by the semiconductor, general industrial, and energy markets. Aerospace sales increased 6.5% driven by the aerospace OEM market.
 
Gross margin for the year was $28.0 million, or 41.2% of sales, compared to $22.8 million, or 39.0% of sales, during fiscal 2017. This increase as a

percentage of sales was primarily due to increased volumes and a favorable product mix.
 
Engineered Products Segment:
 

  FY18   FY17   $ Change   % Change  
             
Net sales  $ 178.4  $ 169.8  $ 8.6   5.1%
                 
Gross margin  $ 59.5  $ 54.9  $ 4.6   8.4%
Gross margin %   33.4%  32.4%        
                 
SG&A  $ 21.1  $ 19.1  $ 2.0   10.5%
% of segment net sales   11.8%  11.2%        

 
Net sales increased $8.6 million or 5.1%, in fiscal 2018 compared to the same period last fiscal year. Our industrial sales increased 14.2% due

primarily to marine and European markets during the year. Aerospace sales increased by 0.6% million primarily due to the defense OEM markets.
Organically, sales grew by approximately 6.2% in fiscal 2018 compared to the same period last fiscal year.
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Gross margin for the year was $59.5 million, or 33.4% of sales compared to $54.9 million or 32.4% of sales during fiscal 2017. Gross margin in fiscal

2018 was affected by lower production runs and startup costs on new commercial aerospace programs however overall margin increased as a result of
favorable product mix and other cost efficiencies achieved during the period.

 
Corporate:
 

  FY18   FY17   $ Change   % Change  
             
SG&A  $ 53.0  $ 48.5  $ 4.5   9.2%
% of total net sales   7.8%  7.9%        

 
Corporate SG&A increased $4.5 million or 9.2% for fiscal 2018 compared to fiscal 2017. This was primarily due to increases in stock compensation

expense of $1.3 million and personnel-related expenses of $3.2 million
 
Fiscal 2017 Compared to Fiscal 2016
 
Results of Operations
 

  FY17   FY16   $ Change   % Change  
Net sales  $ 615.4  $ 597.5  $ 17.9   3.0%
Net income  $ 70.6  $ 63.9  $ 6.7   10.5%
Net income per common share: Diluted  $ 2.97  $ 2.72         
Weighted average common shares: Diluted   23,784,636   23,508,418         

 
Net sales increased $17.9 million, or 3.0%, for fiscal 2017 over fiscal 2016. This increase was mainly the result of a 2.9% increase in net sales to the

aerospace markets of $11.5 million combined with a 3.1% increase in industrial net sales of $6.4 million. The increase in aerospace net sales was driven by
commercial aircraft build rates while the increase in industrial net sales was due to improving conditions in the mining, semiconductor and general industrial
markets.
 

Net income increased by $6.7 million to $70.6 million for fiscal 2017 compared to fiscal 2016. Net income for fiscal 2017 was affected by the after
tax impact of $0.3 million in costs associated with the Sargent acquisition and $4.9 million of costs associated with restructuring offset by $0.2 million of
discrete tax benefit and $0.2 million of foreign exchange gain. Net income for fiscal 2016 was affected by the after tax impact of $3.4 million in costs and
$4.8 million in inventory purchase accounting associated with the Sargent acquisition, $0.7 million of costs associated with integration and restructuring,
litigation reserves of $1.1 million and a $0.1 million loss on extinguishment of debt offset by $0.2 million of discrete tax benefit.

 
Gross Margin
 

  FY17   FY16   $ Change   % Change  
             
Gross Margin  $ 229.6  $ 218.8  $ 10.8   4.9%
Gross Margin %   37.3%  36.6%        

 
Gross margin increased $10.8 million, or 4.9%, for fiscal 2017 compared to the same period last fiscal year. Gross margin for fiscal 2017 was affected

by $3.2 million of restructuring charges and $0.4 million of purchase accounting adjustments associated with the Sargent acquisition. Gross margin for fiscal
2016 was impacted by $7.2 million of purchase accounting adjustments associated with the Sargent acquisition.
 
Selling, General and Administrative
 

  FY17   FY16   $ Change   % Change  
             
SG&A  $ 102.9  $ 98.7  $ 4.2   4.3%
% of net sales   16.7%  16.5%        
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SG&A increased as a percentage of net sales to 16.7% in fiscal 2017 from 16.5% in fiscal 2016. SG&A expenses increased by $4.2 million to $102.9

million for fiscal 2017 compared to fiscal 2016. This increase is primarily due to $1.9 million of additional stock compensation expense, $1.8 million of
personnel related expenses, and $0.5 million of other miscellaneous expenses.
 
Other, Net
 

  FY17   FY16   $ Change   % Change  
             
Other, net  $ 13.0  $ 16.2  $ (3.2)   (19.9)%
% of net sales   2.1%  2.7%        

 
Other operating expenses for fiscal 2017 totaled $13.0 million compared to $16.2 million for fiscal 2016. For fiscal 2017, other operating expenses

were comprised of $9.3 million in amortization of intangibles, $4.1 million of restructuring costs, and $0.2 million of miscellaneous costs offset by other
income of $0.6 million. For fiscal 2016, other operating expenses were comprised of $9.0 million in amortization of intangibles, $5.1 million of acquisition
related costs, $1.7 million in litigation reserves and $1.0 million in integration and restructuring costs offset by other income of $0.6 million.
 
Interest Expense, Net
 

  FY17   FY16   $ Change   % Change  
             
Interest expense  $ 8.7  $ 8.7  $ (0.0)   (0.2)%
% of net sales   1.4%  1.5%        

 
Interest expense, net, generally consists of interest charged on our debt and amortization of debt issuance costs offset by interest income (see

“Liquidity and Capital Resources – Liquidity”, below). Interest expense, net was $8.7 million for fiscal 2017 compared to $8.7 million for fiscal 2016. This
included amortization of debt issuance costs of $1.4 million for fiscal 2017 compared to $1.3 million for fiscal 2016.
 
Other Non-Operating Expense
 

  FY17   FY16   $ Change   % Change  
             
Other non-operating expense  $ 0.1  $ 0.3  $ (0.2)   (69.2)%
% of net sales   0.0%  0.1%        

 
Other non-operating expense for fiscal 2017 totaled $0.1 million, consisting primarily of $0.2 million of foreign currency gains offset by $0.3

million of other miscellaneous costs.
 
Income Taxes
 

  FY17   FY16  
       
Income tax expense  $ 34.3  $ 30.9 
Effective tax rate with discrete items   32.7%  32.6%
Effective tax rate without discrete items   32.9%  32.8%

 
Income tax expense for fiscal 2017 was $34.3 million compared to $30.9 million for fiscal 2016. Our effective income tax rate for fiscal 2017 was

32.7% compared to 32.6% for fiscal 2016. In addition to discrete items, the effective income tax rates are different from the U.S. statutory rate due to a special
manufacturing deduction and research credit in the U.S. and foreign income taxed at lower rates which decrease the rate, and state income taxes which
increase the rate. The effective income tax rate for fiscal 2017 of 32.7% includes discrete items of $0.2 million which are comprised substantially of
unrecognized tax benefits associated with federal and state income tax audits closing and the expiration of statutes of limitations along with other permanent
adjustments from the filing of the fiscal 2016 tax return. The effective income tax rate for fiscal 2017 without these discrete items would have been 32.9%.
The effective income tax rate for fiscal 2016 of 32.6% includes discrete items of $0.2 million which are comprised substantially of unrecognized tax benefits
associated with federal and state income tax audits closing, the expiration of statutes of limitations and an item associated with federal legislation reinstating
the U.S. research credit. The effective income tax rate for fiscal 2016 without these discrete items would have been 32.8%.
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Segment Information
 

We have four reportable product segments: Plain Bearings, Roller Bearings, Ball Bearings and Engineered Products. We use net sales and gross
margin as the primary measurement to assess the financial performance of each reportable segment.
 
Plain Bearing Segment:
 

  FY17   FY16   $ Change   % Change  
             
Net sales  $ 277.7  $ 270.5  $ 7.2   2.6%
                 
Gross margin  $ 110.2  $ 103.5  $ 6.7   6.5%
Gross margin %   39.7%  38.3%        
                 
SG&A  $ 23.6  $ 21.0  $ 2.6   12.3%
% of segment net sales   8.5%  7.8%        

 
Net sales increased $7.2 million, or 2.6%, for fiscal 2017 compared to fiscal 2016. The net sales increase of $7.2 million for this segment was mostly

attributable to a net sales increase to the aerospace sector of $11.2 million primarily driven by the commercial aerospace build rates. This was offset by a net
sales decrease of $4.0 million to the industrial sector, driven mainly by energy and general industrial OEM partly offset by distribution.
 

Gross margin was $110.2 million, or 39.7% of sales, in fiscal 2017 compared to $103.5 million, or 38.3% of sales, an increase of $6.7 million. The
increase in gross margin was primarily due to production efficiencies achieved in conjunction with higher sales volumes. Further, the fiscal 2016 gross
margin was impacted by approximately $1.2 million of purchase price adjustments associated with the Sargent acquisition.
 
Roller Bearing Segment:
 

  FY17   FY16   $ Change   % Change  
             
Net sales  $ 109.5  $ 112.0  $ (2.5)   (2.3)%
                 
Gross margin  $ 41.7  $ 47.5  $ (5.8)   (12.2)%
Gross margin %   38.1%  42.4%        
                 
SG&A  $ 6.1  $ 6.0  $ 0.1   2.7%
% of segment net sales   5.6%  5.3%        

 
Net sales decreased $2.5 million, or 2.3%, compared to fiscal 2016. This was attributable to net sales decreases to the industrial sector of $6.6 million

mainly driven by the energy markets and distribution offset by mining. Aerospace sales increased $4.1 million primarily driven by the commercial OEM
markets.
 

The Roller Bearings segment achieved a gross margin of $41.7 million, or 38.1% of sales, in fiscal 2017 compared to $47.5 million, or 42.4% of
sales, in fiscal 2016. The decrease in gross margin was primarily due to the impact of decreased industrial volume during the year and $3.2 million in
integration and restructuring charges incurred during the year.
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Ball Bearing Segment:
 

  FY17   FY16   $ Change   % Change  
             
Net sales  $ 58.4  $ 53.7  $ 4.7   8.9%
                 
Gross margin  $ 22.8  $ 21.4  $ 1.4   6.7%
Gross margin %   39.0%  39.8%        
                 
SG&A  $ 5.7  $ 5.5  $ 0.2   2.6%
% of segment net sales   9.7%  10.3%        

 
Net sales increased $4.7 million, or 8.9%, for fiscal 2017 compared to fiscal 2016. This was attributable to net sales increases to the industrial sector

of $6.6 million due to industrial OEM and distribution associated with the semiconductor and general industrial markets partly offset by decreases to the
aerospace and defense market of $1.9 million.

 
Gross margin for the year was $22.8 million, or 39.0% of sales, compared to $21.4 million, or 39.8% of sales, during fiscal 2016. This decrease as a

percentage of sales was primarily due to unfavorable product mix.
 
Engineered Products Segment:
 

  FY17   FY16   $ Change   % Change  
             
Net sales  $ 169.8  $ 161.2  $ 8.6   5.3%
                 
Gross margin  $ 54.9  $ 46.5  $ 8.4   18.2%
Gross margin %   32.4%  28.9%        
                 
SG&A  $ 19.1  $ 19.6  $ (0.5)   (2.9)%
% of segment net sales   11.2%  12.2%        

 
Net sales increased $8.6 million, or 5.3%, in fiscal 2017 compared to the same period last fiscal year. Our industrial sales increased $10.4 million, or

22.9% due primarily to the marine and European collet markets during the year. This was partly offset by a decrease of $1.8 million, or 1.7% in aerospace
sales which is mainly due to the defense markets.

 
Gross margin for the year was $54.9 million, or 32.4% of sales compared to $46.5 million or 28.9% of sales during fiscal 2016. The fiscal 2016 gross

margin was impacted by approximately $6.0 million of purchase price adjustments associated with the Sargent acquisition.
 

Corporate:
 

  FY17   FY16   $ Change   % Change  
             
SG&A  $ 48.5  $ 46.6  $ 1.9   4.0%
% of total net sales   7.9%  7.8%        

 
Corporate SG&A increased $1.9 million or 4.0% for fiscal 2017 compared to fiscal 2016. This was primarily due to increases in stock compensation

expense of $1.9 million.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

Our business is capital intensive. Our capital requirements include manufacturing equipment and materials. In addition, we have historically fueled
our growth in part through acquisitions. We have historically met our working capital, capital expenditure requirements and acquisition funding needs
through our net cash flows provided by operations, various debt arrangements and sale of equity to investors. We believe that operating cash flows and
available credit under the credit facilities will provide adequate resources to fund internal and external growth initiatives for the foreseeable future.
 
Our ability to meet future working capital, capital expenditures and debt service requirements will depend on our future financial performance, which will be
affected by a range of economic, competitive and business factors, particularly interest rates, cyclical changes in our end markets and prices for steel and our
ability to pass through price increases on a timely basis, many of which are outside of our control. In addition, future acquisitions could have a significant
impact on our liquidity position and our need for additional funds.
 

From time to time we evaluate our existing facilities and operations and their strategic importance to us. If we determine that a given facility or
operation does not have future strategic importance, we may sell, partially or completely, relocate production lines, consolidate or otherwise dispose of those
operations. Although we believe our operations would not be materially impaired by such dispositions, relocations or consolidations, we could incur
significant cash or non-cash charges in connection with them.
 
Liquidity
 

As of March 31, 2018, we had cash and cash equivalents of $54.2 million of which approximately $45.7 million was cash held by our foreign
operations. We expect that our undistributed foreign earnings will be re-invested indefinitely for working capital, internal growth and acquisitions for and by
our foreign entities.
 
Credit Facility
 

In connection with the Sargent Aerospace & Defense (“Sargent”) acquisition on April 24, 2015, the Company entered into a credit agreement (the
“Credit Agreement”) and related Guarantee, Pledge Agreement and Security Agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative
Agent, Collateral Agent, Swingline Lender and Letter of Credit Issuer and the other lenders party thereto and terminated the JP Morgan Credit Agreement.
The Credit Agreement provides RBCA, as Borrower, with (a) a $200.0 million Term Loan and (b) a $350.0 million Revolver and together with the Term Loan
(the “Facilities”). The Facilities expire on April 24, 2020.
 

Amounts outstanding under the Facilities generally bear interest at (a) a base rate determined by reference to the higher of (1) Wells Fargo’s prime
lending rate, (2) the federal funds effective rate plus 1/2 of 1% and (3) the one-month LIBOR rate plus 1% or (b) LIBOR rate plus a specified margin,
depending on the type of borrowing being made. The applicable margin is based on the Company’s consolidated ratio of total net debt to consolidated
EBITDA from time to time. Currently, the Company’s margin is 0.00% for base rate loans and 1.00% for LIBOR rate loans. As of March 31, 2018, there was
$0.5 million outstanding under the Revolver and $168.8 million outstanding under the Term Loan, offset by $3.0 million in debt issuance costs (original
amount was $7.1 million).
 

The Credit Agreement requires the Company to comply with various covenants, including among other things, financial covenants to maintain the
following: (1) a ratio of consolidated net debt to adjusted EBITDA, not to exceed 3.50 to 1; and (2) a consolidated interest coverage ratio not to be less than
2.75 to 1. The Credit Agreement allows the Company to, among other things, make distributions to shareholders, repurchase its stock, incur other debt or
liens, or acquire or dispose of assets provided that the Company complies with certain requirements and limitations of the agreement. As of March 31, 2018,
the Company was in compliance with all such covenants.
 

The Company’s obligations under the Credit Agreement are secured as well as providing for a pledge of substantially all of the Company’s and
RBCA’s assets. The Company and certain of its subsidiaries have also entered into a Guarantee to guarantee RBCA’s obligations under the Credit Agreement.
 

Approximately $4.0 million of the Revolver is being utilized to provide letters of credit to secure RBCA’s obligations relating to certain insurance
programs. As of March 31, 2018, RBCA has the ability to borrow up to an additional $345.5 million under the Revolver.
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Other Notes Payable
 

On October 1, 2012, one of our foreign divisions, Schaublin, purchased the land and building, which it occupied and had been leasing, for 14.1
million CHF (approximately $14.9 million). Schaublin obtained a 20-year fixed-rate mortgage of 9.3 million CHF (approximately $9.9 million) at an interest
rate of 2.9%. The balance of the purchase price of 4.8 million CHF (approximately $5.1 million) was paid from cash on hand. The balance on this mortgage as
of March 31, 2018 was 6.7 million CHF, or $7.1 million.
 
Cash Flows
 
Fiscal 2018 Compared to Fiscal 2017
 

The following table summarizes our cash flow activities:
 

  FY18   FY17   
 

$ Change  
Net cash provided by (used in):             
Operating activities  $ 130.3  $ 101.3  $ 29.0 
Investing activities   (27.9)   (21.4)   (6.5)
Financing activities   (89.9)   (78.8)   (11.1)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash   2.8   (1.4)   4.2 
(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  $ 15.3  $ (0.3)  $ 15.6 

 
During fiscal 2018 we generated cash of $130.3 million from operating activities compared to $101.3 million for fiscal 2017. The increase of $29.0

million for fiscal 2018 was mainly the result of an increase in net income of $16.5 million, addition of non-cash charges of $1.2 million and a favorable net
change in operating assets and liabilities of $11.3 million.
 

The following chart summarizes the favorable (unfavorable) change in operating assets and liabilities of $11.3 million for fiscal 2018 versus fiscal
2017 and ($2.3) million for fiscal 2017 versus fiscal 2016.
 

  FY18   FY17  
Cash provided by (used in):         
Accounts receivable  $ 1.4  $ (6.7)
Inventory   (5.4)   16.4 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   3.9   (1.2)
Other non-current assets   (1.0)   (0.5)
Accounts payable   11.9   1.4 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   (7.8)   (8.8)
Other non-current liabilities   8.3   (2.9)
Total change in operating assets and liabilities:  $ 11.3  $ (2.3)

 
During fiscal 2018, we used $27.9 million for investing activities as compared to $21.4 for fiscal 2017.

 
During fiscal 2018, we used $89.9 million for financing activities compared to $78.8 million for fiscal 2017. During fiscal 2018, we paid $84.0

million on the revolving credit facility and $13.8 million on the term loan. The year over year increase in cash used of $11.1 million is due in part to
increased payments made on the Term Loan of $3.8 million. In addition, the adoption of Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-09,
“Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting” on April 2, 2017 resulted in the Company
electing to prospectively classify all tax-related cash flows resulting from share-based payments, including the excess tax benefits related to the settlement of
stock-based awards, as cash flows from operating activities in the statement of cash flows. Prior to the adoption of this standard, these were shown as cash
inflows from financing activities and cash outflows from operating activities.
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Fiscal 2017 Compared to Fiscal 2016
 
 

The following table summarizes our cash flow activities:
 

  FY17   FY16   $ Change  
Net cash provided by (used in):             
Operating activities  $ 101.3  $ 83.4  $ 17.9 
Investing activities   (21.4)   (520.1)   498.7 
Financing activities   (78.8)   349.8   (428.6)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash   (1.4)   0.7   (2.1)
(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  $ (0.3)  $ (86.2)  $ 85.9 

 
During fiscal 2017 we generated cash of $101.3 million from operating activities compared to $83.4 million for fiscal 2016. The increase of $17.9

million for fiscal 2017 was mainly the result of an increase in net income of $6.7 million and addition of non-cash charges of $13.5 million, offset by an
unfavorable net change in operating assets and liabilities of $2.3 million.
 

The following chart summarizes the (unfavorable) favorable change in operating assets and liabilities of ($2.3) million for fiscal 2017 versus fiscal
2016 and ($1.6) million for fiscal 2016 versus fiscal 2015.
 

  FY17   FY16  
Cash provided by (used in):         
Accounts receivable  $ (6.7)  $ 1.4 
Inventory   16.4   (12.0)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   (1.2)   (5.3)
Other non-current assets   (0.5)   0.9 
Accounts payable   1.4   (2.2)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   (8.8)   10.9 
Other non-current liabilities   (2.9)   4.7 
Total change in operating assets and liabilities:  $ (2.3)  $ (1.6)

 
During fiscal 2017, we used $21.4 million for investing activities as compared to $520.1 for fiscal 2016. The decrease of cash used in investing

activities of $498.7 million is primarily attributable to the $500.0 million used to finance the acquisition of Sargent during fiscal 2016.
 

During fiscal 2017, we used $78.8 million from financing activities compared to generating $349.8 million for fiscal 2016. This decrease in cash
generated was primarily attributable to the $225.0 million revolving credit facility and $200.0 million proceeds from the term loan associated with the
acquisition of Sargent in the first quarter of fiscal 2016. During fiscal 2017, we paid $84.5 million on the revolving credit facility and $10.0 million on the
term loan.
 
Capital Expenditures
 

Our capital expenditures in fiscal 2018 were $28.0 million. We expect to make capital expenditures of approximately $30.0 to $35.0 million during
fiscal 2019 in connection with our existing business. We have funded our fiscal 2018 capital expenditures, and expect to fund fiscal 2019 capital
expenditures, principally through existing cash and internally generated funds. We may also make substantial additional capital expenditures in connection
with acquisitions.
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Contractual Obligations
 

The contractual obligations presented in the table below represent our estimates of future payments under fixed contractual obligations and
commitments. Changes in our business needs, cancellation provisions and interest rates, as well as actions by third parties and other factors, may cause these
estimates to change. Because these estimates are necessarily subjective, our actual payments in future periods are likely to vary from those presented in the
table. The following table summarizes certain of our contractual obligations and principal and interest payments under our debt instruments and leases as of
March 31, 2018:
 

  Payments Due By Period  

Contractual Obligations(1)  Total   
Less than

1 Year   
1 to

3 Years   
3 to

5 Years   
More than

5 Years  
  (in thousands)  
Total debt  $ 176,323  $ 19,238  $ 151,476  $ 976  $ 4,633 
Operating leases   23,723   6,384   8,581   5,233   3,525 
Interest on debt(2)   11,189   4,879   5,356   300   654 
Pension and postretirement benefits   18,768   1,875   3,837   3,839   9,217 
Transition tax on unremitted foreign E&P(3)   9,166   733   1,467   1,467   5,499 
Total contractual cash obligations  $ 239,169  $ 33,109  $ 170,717  $ 11,815  $ 23,528 

 
(1) We cannot make a reasonably reliable estimate of when the unrecognized tax benefits of $11.7 million, which includes interest and penalties, and is

offset by deferred tax assets, will be paid to the respective taxing authorities. These obligations are therefore excluded from the above table.
 

(2) These amounts represent expected cash payments of interest on our variable rate long-term debt under our Facilities at the prevailing interest rates at
March 31, 2018.
 

(3) As discussed further in Note 13, “Income Taxes”, within Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Acts
(“TCJA” or “the Act”), which was enacted in December 2017, includes a transition tax on unremitted foreign earnings and profits (“E&P”). We will
elect to pay the estimated amount above over an eight-year period.

 
Quarterly Results of Operations
  Quarter Ended  

  
Mar. 31,

2018   
Dec. 30,

2017   
Sep. 30,

2017   
July 1,
2017   

Apr. 1,
2017   

Dec. 31,
2016   

Oct. 1,
2016   

July 2,
2016  

  
(Unaudited)

(in thousands, except per share data)  
Net sales  $ 179,877  $ 166,858  $ 164,317  $ 163,897  $ 160,210  $ 146,656  $ 153,943  $ 154,579 
Gross margin   69,726   64,665   61,811   61,909   63,229   52,385   56,731   57,251 
Operating income   37,940   33,123   25,278   31,800   34,389   20,529   29,554   29,221 
Net income  $ 26,677  $ 23,832  $ 14,823  $ 21,809  $ 21,585  $ 12,770  $ 18,228  $ 18,040 
Net income per common share:              

Basic(1)(2)  $ 1.11  $ 0.99  $ 0.62  $ 0.92  $ 0.91  $ 0.54  $ 0.78  $ 0.77 
Diluted(1)(2)  $ 1.09  $ 0.97  $ 0.61  $ 0.90  $ 0.90  $ 0.54  $ 0.77  $ 0.76 
                                 

(1) See Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data,” Note 2 “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies-Net Income Per Common
Share.”

 
(2) Net income per common share is computed independently for each of the quarters presented. Therefore, the sum of the quarterly earnings per share

may not necessarily equal the total for the year.
 
Critical Accounting Estimates
 

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have
been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates
and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an
on-going basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to product returns, bad debts, inventories, recoverability of intangible assets, income taxes,
financing operations, pensions and other postretirement benefits and contingencies and litigation. We base our estimates on historical experience and on
various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. We believe our judgments related to these accounting estimates are
appropriate. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
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Revenue Recognition. In accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin 101 “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements as amended by Staff

Accounting Bulletin 104,” we recognize revenues principally from the sale of products at the point of passage of title, which is at the time of shipment,
except for certain customers for which it occurs when the products reach their destination.

 
We also recognize revenue on a Ship-In-Place basis for three customers who have required that we hold the product after final production is

complete.  In this case, a written agreement has been executed (at the customer’s request) whereby the customer accepts the risk of loss for product that is
invoiced under the Ship-In-Place arrangement.  For each transaction for which revenue is recognized under a Ship-In-Place arrangement, all final
manufacturing inspections have been completed and customer acceptance has been obtained. In fiscal 2018, 2.9% of our total net sales were recognized
under Ship-In-Place transactions compared to 2.6% in fiscal 2017.
 

Accounts Receivable. We are required to estimate the collectability of our accounts receivable, which requires a considerable amount of judgment in
assessing the ultimate realization of these receivables, including the current credit-worthiness of each customer. Changes in required reserves may occur in
the future as conditions in the marketplace change.
 

Inventory. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined by the first-in, first-out method. We account for
inventory under a full absorption method. We record adjustments to the value of inventory based upon past sales history and forecasted plans to sell our
inventories. The physical condition, including age and quality, of the inventories is also considered in establishing its valuation. These adjustments are
estimates, which could vary significantly, either favorably or unfavorably, from actual requirements if future economic conditions, customer inventory levels
or competitive conditions differ from our expectations.
 

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets. Goodwill (representing the excess of the amount paid to acquire a company over the estimated fair
value of the net assets acquired) and Indefinite Lived Intangible Assets are not amortized but instead are tested for impairment annually, or when events or
circumstances indicate that the value may have declined. Separate tests are performed for goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets. We apply a
qualitative test of impairment on the indefinite lived intangible assets. This is done by assessing the existence of events or circumstances which would make
it more likely than not that impairment is present. No such factors were identified during our current year analysis. The determination of any goodwill
impairment is made at the reporting unit level and consists of two steps. First, the Company determines the fair value of a reporting unit and compares it to its
carrying amount. Second, if the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss is recognized for any excess of the carrying
amount of the reporting unit’s goodwill over the goodwill’s implied fair value. The Company applies the income approach (discounted cash flow method) in
testing goodwill for impairment. The key assumptions used in the discounted cash flow method used to estimate fair value include discount rates, revenue
growth rates, terminal growth rates and cash flow projections. Discount rates, growth rates and cash flow projections are the most sensitive and susceptible to
change as they require significant management judgment. Discount rates are determined by using a weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”). The WACC
considers market and industry data as well as Company-specific risk factors for each reporting unit in determining the appropriate discount rate to be used.
The discount rate utilized for each reporting unit for our fiscal 2018 test was 11.0% and is indicative of the return an investor would expect to receive for
investing in such a business. Terminal growth rate determination follows common methodology of capturing the present value of perpetual cash flow
estimates beyond the last projected period assuming a constant WACC and long-term growth rates. The terminal growth rate used for our fiscal 2018 test was
2.5%. The Company has determined that, to date, no impairment of goodwill exists and fair value of the reporting units exceeded the carrying value in total
by approximately 74.1%. The fair value of the reporting units exceeds the carrying value by a minimum of 24.8% at each of the four reporting units. A
decrease of 1.0% in our terminal growth rate would not result in impairment of goodwill for any of our reporting units. An increase of 1.0% in our discount
rate would not result in impairment of goodwill for any of our reporting units. The Company performs the annual impairment testing during the fourth quarter
of each fiscal year. Although no changes are expected, if the actual results of the Company are less favorable than the assumptions the Company makes
regarding estimated cash flows, the Company may be required to record an impairment charge in the future.
 

Income Taxes. As part of the process of preparing the consolidated financial statements, we are required to estimate the income taxes in each
jurisdiction in which we operate. This process involves estimating the actual current tax liabilities together with assessing temporary differences resulting
from the differing treatment of items for tax and financial reporting purposes. These differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are included
in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. We must then assess the likelihood that the deferred tax assets will be recovered, and to the extent that we believe that
recovery is not more than likely, we are required to establish a valuation allowance. If a valuation allowance is established or increased during any period, we
are required to include this amount as an expense within the tax provision in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Significant judgment is required in
determining our provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities, accrual for uncertain tax positions and any valuation allowance recognized
against net deferred tax assets.
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Pension Plan and Postretirement Health Care. We have a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan covering union employees in our Heim

division plant in Fairfield, Connecticut, our Bremen subsidiary plant in Plymouth, Indiana and former union employees of our Tyson subsidiary in Glasgow,
Kentucky and Nice subsidiary in Kulpsville, Pennsylvania.
 

Our pension plan funding policy is to make the minimum annual contribution required by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.
Plan obligations and annual pension expense are determined by independent actuaries using a number of assumptions provided by us including assumptions
about employee demographics, retirement age, compensation levels, pay rates, turnover, expected long-term rate of return on plan assets, discount rate and
the amount and timing of claims. Each plan assumption reflects our best estimate of the plan’s future experience. The most sensitive assumption in the
determination of plan obligations for pensions is the discount rate. The discount rate that we use for determining future pension obligations is based on a
review of long-term bonds that receive one of the two highest ratings given by a recognized rating agency. The discount rate determined on this basis was
3.70% at March 31, 2018 and April 1, 2017, respectively. In developing the overall expected long-term rate of return on plan assets assumption, a building
block approach was used in which rates of return in excess of inflation were considered separately for equity securities and debt securities. The excess returns
were weighted by the representative target allocation and added along with an appropriate rate of inflation to develop the overall expected long-term rate of
return on plan assets assumption. The expected long-term rate of return on the assets of our pension plan was 7.00% in fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017.
 

Lowering the discount rate assumption used to determine net periodic pension cost by 1.00% (from 3.70% to 2.70%) would have increased our
pension expense for fiscal 2018 by approximately $0.3 million. Increasing the discount rate assumption used to determine net periodic pension cost
by 1.00% (from 3.70% to 4.70%) would have decreased our pension expense for fiscal 2018 by approximately $0.3 million.
 

Lowering the expected long-term rate of return on the assets of our pension plan by 1.00% (from 7.00% to 6.00%) would have increased our pension
expense for fiscal 2018 by approximately $0.2 million. Increasing the expected long-term rate of return on the assets of our pension plan by 1.00% (from
7.00% to 8.00%) would have reduced our pension expense for fiscal 2018 by approximately $0.2 million.
 

Lowering the discount rate assumption used to determine the funded status as of March 31, 2018 by 1.00% (from 3.70% to 2.70%) would have
increased the projected benefit obligation of our pension plan by approximately $2.7 million. Increasing the discount rate assumption used to determine the
funded status as of March 31, 2018 by 1.00% (from 3.70% to 4.70%) would have reduced the projected benefit obligation of our pension plan by
approximately $2.2 million.
 

Our investment program objective is to achieve a rate of return on plan assets which will fund the plan liabilities and provide for required benefits
while avoiding undue exposure to risk to the plan and increases in funding requirements. Our long-term target allocation of plan assets is 70% equity and
30% fixed income investments.
 

Stock-Based Compensation. We recognize compensation cost relating to all share-based payment transactions in the financial statements based
upon the grant-date fair value of the instruments issued over the requisite service period.

 
The fair value for our options was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average

assumptions:
  Fiscal Year Ended  

  
March 31, 

2018   
April 1, 

2017   
April 2, 

2016  
Dividend yield   0.00%  0.00%  0.00%
Expected weighted-average life (yrs.)   5.0   5.0   5.0 
Risk-free interest rate   2.02%  1.17%  1.70%
Expected volatility   24.17%  28.45%  31.25%
 

The Black-Scholes option pricing model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options which have no vesting restrictions and
are fully transferable. In addition, option valuation models require the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected stock price volatility.
Because our options have characteristics significantly different from those of traded options, and because changes in the subjective input assumptions can
materially affect the fair value estimate, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of our options.
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Impact of Inflation, Changes in Prices of Raw Materials and Interest Rate Fluctuations
 

To date, inflation in the economy as a whole has not significantly affected our operations. However, we purchase steel at market prices, which
fluctuate as a result of supply and demand in the marketplace. To date, we have generally been able to pass through these price increases through price
increases on our products, the assessment of steel surcharges on our customers or entry into long-term agreements with our customers which often contain
escalator provisions tied to our invoiced price of steel. However, even if we are able to pass these steel surcharges or price increases to our customers, there
may be a time lag of up to 3 months or more between the time a price increase goes into effect and our ability to implement surcharges or price increases,
particularly for orders already in our backlog. As a result, our gross margin percentage may decline, and we may not be able to implement other price
increases for our products. We offset these cost increases by changing our buying patterns, expanding our vendor network and passing through price
increases. The overall impact on costs for the year was immaterial.
 

Competitive pressures and the terms of certain of our long-term contracts may require us to absorb at least part of these cost increases, particularly
during periods of high inflation. Our principal raw material is 440c and 52100 wire and rod steel (types of stainless and chrome steel), which has historically
been readily available. We have never experienced a work stoppage due to a supply shortage. We maintain multiple sources for raw materials including steel
and have various supplier agreements. Through sole-source arrangements, supplier agreements and pricing, we have been able to minimize our exposure to
fluctuations in raw material prices.
 

Our suppliers and sources of raw materials are based in the U.S., Europe and Asia. We believe that our sources are adequate for our needs in the
foreseeable future, that there exist alternative suppliers for our raw materials and that in most cases readily available alternative materials can be used for most
of our raw materials.
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 

At March 31, 2018, we have no off-balance sheet arrangements.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

 
We are exposed to market risks, which arise during the normal course of business from changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates.

 
Interest Rates. We have exposure to risk associated with interest rates on our short-term and long-term debt obligations entered into as part of our

Sargent Aerospace & Defense acquisition on April 24, 2015. We entered into a new credit agreement (the “New Credit Agreement”) and related Guarantee,
Pledge Agreement and Security Agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent, Collateral Agent, Swingline Lender and
Letter of Credit Issuer and the other lenders party thereto and terminated the JP Morgan Credit Agreement. The New Credit Agreement provides RBCA, as
Borrower, with (a) a $200.0 million Term Loan and (b) a $350.0 million Revolver and together with the Term Loan (the “Facilities”).
 

Amounts outstanding under our current credit agreement generally bear interest at (a) a base rate determined by reference to the higher of (1) Wells
Fargo’s prime lending rate, (2) the federal funds effective rate plus 1/2 of 1% and (3) the one-month LIBOR rate plus 1% or (b) LIBOR rate plus a specified
margin, depending on the type of borrowing being made. The applicable margin is based on the Company’s consolidated ratio of total net debt to
consolidated EBITDA from time to time. Currently, the Company’s margin is 0.00% for base rate loans and 1.00% for LIBOR rate loans.
 

Foreign Currency Exchange Rates. As a result of our operations in Europe, we are exposed to risk associated with fluctuating currency exchange
rates between the U.S. dollar, the Euro, the Swiss Franc, the Polish Zloty and the Canadian Dollar. Our Swiss operations utilize the Swiss Franc as the
functional currency, our French and German operations utilize the Euro as the functional currency, our Polish operations utilize the Polish Zloty as the
functional currency. Our Canadian operations utilized the Canadian Dollar as the functional currency, though they are no longer in operation as of March 31,
2018. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are included in earnings. Approximately 10% of our net sales were impacted by foreign currency
fluctuations in fiscal 2018 compared to approximately 11% of our net sales in fiscal 2017. We expect that this proportion is likely to increase as we seek to
increase our penetration of foreign markets, particularly within the aerospace and defense markets. Foreign currency transaction exposure arises primarily
from the transfer of foreign currency from one subsidiary to another within the group, and to foreign currency denominated trade receivables. Unrealized
currency translation gains and losses are recognized upon translation of the foreign subsidiaries’ balance sheets to U.S. dollars. Because our financial
statements are denominated in U.S. dollars, changes in currency exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and other currencies have had, and will continue to
have, an impact on our earnings. We periodically enter into derivative financial instruments in the form of forward exchange contracts to reduce the effect of
fluctuations in exchange rates on certain third-party sales transactions denominated in non-functional currencies. Based on the accounting guidance related
to derivatives and hedging activities, we record derivative financial instruments at fair value. For derivative financial instruments designated and qualifying
as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss on these hedges is reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income
(“AOCI”), and is reclassified into earnings when the hedged transaction affects earnings. As of March 31, 2018, we had no derivatives.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
 
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
 
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of RBC Bearings Incorporated
 
Opinion on the Financial Statements
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of RBC Bearings Incorporated (the Company) as of March 31, 2018 and April 1, 2017, the
related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
March 31, 2018 and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at March 31, 2018 and April 1, 2017 and the results of its operations
and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2018, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
 
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework), and our report dated May 30, 2018 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.
 
Basis for Opinion
 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company
in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures
to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks.
Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
[/s/ Ernst & Young LLP]
 
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2002.
 
Stamford, Connecticut
May 30, 2018
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RBC Bearings Incorporated

 
Consolidated Balance Sheets

 
(dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)

 

  
March 31,

2018   
April 1,

2017  
ASSETS         

Current assets:         
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 54,163  $ 38,923 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of  $1,326 in 2018 and $1,213  in 2017   116,890   109,700 
Inventory   306,124   289,594 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   6,473   9,743 

Total current assets   483,650   447,960 
Property, plant and equipment, net   192,513   183,625 
Goodwill   268,124   268,042 
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $38,880 in 2018 and $30,191 in 2017   183,764   196,801 
Other assets   14,700   12,419 

Total assets  $ 1,142,751  $ 1,108,847 
 

See accompanying notes.
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RBC Bearings Incorporated

 
Consolidated Balance Sheets (continued)

 
(dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)

 

  
March 31,

2018   
April 1,

2017  
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY         

Current liabilities:         
Accounts payable  $ 45,188  $ 34,392 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   40,777   44,532 
Current portion of long-term debt   19,238   14,214 

Total current liabilities   105,203   93,138 
Long-term debt, less current portion   154,117   255,586 
Deferred income taxes   11,749   12,036 
Other non-current liabilities   37,130   31,043 

Total liabilities   308,199   391,803 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 15)         

Stockholders’ equity:         
Preferred stock, $.01 par value; authorized shares: 10,000,000 in 2018 and 2017; none issued or outstanding   —   — 
Common stock, $.01 par value; authorized shares: 60,000,000 in 2018 and 2017; issued shares: 25,123,694 in

2018 and 24,757,803 in 2017; outstanding shares: 24,105,029 in 2018 and 23,771,481 in 2017   251   248 
Additional paid-in capital   339,148   312,474 
Accumulated other comprehensive income   (2,285)   (9,823)
Retained earnings   536,978   448,693 
Treasury stock, at cost, 713,687 shares in 2018 and 667,931 shares in 2017   (39,540)   (34,548)

Total stockholders’ equity   834,552   717,044 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 1,142,751  $ 1,108,847 

 
See accompanying notes.
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RBC Bearings Incorporated

 
Consolidated Statements of Operations

 
(dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)

 
  Fiscal Year Ended  

  
March 31,

2018   
April 1,

2017   
April 2,

2016  
Net sales  $ 674,949  $ 615,388  $ 597,472 
Cost of sales   416,838   385,792   378,694 

Gross margin   258,111   229,596   218,778 
Operating expenses:             
      Selling, general and administrative   113,124   102,922   98,721 
      Other, net   16,846   12,981   16,216 

Total operating expenses   129,970   115,903   114,937 
Operating income   128,141   113,693   103,841 

Interest expense, net   7,507   8,706   8,722 
Other non-operating expense   783   103   334 

Income before income taxes   119,851   104,884   94,785 
Provision for income taxes   32,710   34,261   30,891 

Net income  $ 87,141  $ 70,623  $ 63,894 
Net income per common share:             

Basic  $ 3.64  $ 3.00  $ 2.75 
Diluted  $ 3.58  $ 2.97  $ 2.72 

Weighted average common shares:             
Basic   23,948,565   23,521,615   23,208,686 
Diluted   24,363,789   23,784,636   23,508,418 

 
See accompanying notes.
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RBC Bearings Incorporated

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(dollars in thousands)

 
  Fiscal Year Ended  

  
March 31,

2018   
April 1,

2017   
April 2,

2016  
Net income  $ 87,141  $ 70,623  $ 63,894 
Pension and postretirement liability adjustments, net of taxes of $415   1,383   1,331   465 
Foreign currency translation adjustments   6,155   (4,164)   315 
Total comprehensive income  $ 94,679  $ 67,790  $ 64,674 

 
See accompanying notes.
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RBC Bearings Incorporated

 
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

 
(dollars in thousands)

 

  Common Stock   
Additional

Paid-in   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive  

Retained
Earnings

(Accumulated  

 
 

Treasury Stock   
Total

Stockholders’ 
  Shares   Amount   Capital   Income/(Loss)   Deficit)   Shares   Amount   Equity  
Balance at March 28, 2015   23,833,185  $ 238  $ 262,091  $ (7,770)  $ 314,176   (439,864)  $ (19,302)  $ 549,433 
Net income   —   —   —   —   63,894   —   —   63,894 
Stock-based compensation   —   —   10,200   —   —   —   —   10,200 
Repurchase of common stock   —   —   —   —   —   (163,171)   (10,492)   (10,492)
Exercise of equity awards   171,319   3   4,580   —   —   —   —   4,583 
Change in net prior service cost and

actuarial losses, net of taxes of
$276   —   —   —   465   —   —   —   465 

Issuance of restricted stock   142,263   —   —   —   —   —   —   — 
Income tax benefit on exercise of

non-qualified common stock
options   —   —   2,549   —   —   —   —   2,549 

Currency  translation adjustments   —   —   —   315   —   —   —   315 
Balance at April 2, 2016   24,146,767   241   279,420   (6,990)   378,070   (603,035)   (29,794)   620,947 
Net income   —   —   —   —   70,623   —   —   70,623 
Stock-based compensation   —   —   12,111   —   —   —   —   12,111 
Repurchase of common stock   —   —   —   —   —   (64,896)   (4,754)   (4,754)
Exercise of equity awards   456,826   7   16,163   —   —   —   —   16,170 
Change in net prior service cost and

actuarial losses, net of taxes of
$782   —   —   —   1,331   —   —   —   1,331 

Issuance of restricted stock   154,210   —   —   —   —   —   —   — 
Income tax benefit on exercise of

non-qualified common stock
options   —   —   4,780   —   —   —   —   4,780 

Currency  translation adjustments   —   —   —   (4,164)   —   —   —   (4,164)
Balance at April 1, 2017   24,757,803   248   312,474   (9,823)   448,693   (667,931)   (34,548)   717,044 
Net income   —   —   —   —   87,141   —   —   87,141 
Stock-based compensation   —   —   13,403   —   —   —   —   13,403 
Repurchase of common stock   —   —   —   —   —   (45,756)   (4,992)   (4,992)
Exercise of equity awards   255,732   3   13,271   —   —   —   —   13,274 
Change in net prior service cost and

actuarial losses, net of taxes of
$415   —   —   —   1,383   —   —   —   1,383 

Issuance of restricted stock   110,159   —   —   —   —   —   —   — 
Impact from adoption of ASU 2016-

09   —   —   —   —   1,144   —   —   1,144 
Currency  translation adjustments   —   —   —   6,155   —   —   —   6,155 
Balance at March 31, 2018   25,123,694  $ 251  $ 339,148  $ (2,285)  $ 536,978   (713,687)  $ (39,540)  $ 834,552 

 
See accompanying notes.
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RBC Bearings Incorporated

 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

 
(dollars in thousands)

 
  Fiscal Year Ended  

  
March 31,

2018   
April 1,

2017   
April 2,

2016  
Cash flows from operating activities:             
Net income  $ 87,141  $ 70,623  $ 63,894 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:             

Depreciation   19,016   18,100   16,807 
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation   —   (4,780)   (2,549)
Deferred income taxes   (702)   8,323   (336)
Amortization of intangible assets   9,344   9,272   9,000 
Amortization of deferred financing costs   1,424   1,424   1,333 
Consolidation and restructuring charges   6,619   1,443   190 
Stock-based compensation   13,403   12,111   10,200 
Loss on disposition of assets   241   2,504   3 
Gain on acquisition   —   (293)   — 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:             

Accounts receivable   (5,934)   (7,294)   (619)
Inventory   (14,490)   (9,057)   (25,460)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   1,088   (2,815)   (1,576)
Other non-current assets   (3,355)   (2,412)   (1,876)
Accounts payable   10,494   (1,397)   (2,756)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   (2,285)   5,480   14,246 
Other non-current liabilities   8,285   10   2,859 

Net cash provided by operating activities   130,289   101,242   83,360 
Cash flows from investing activities:             
Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (27,976)   (20,894)   (20,864)
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired   —   (651)   (500,000)
Proceeds from sale of assets   87   188   726 

Net cash used in investing activities   (27,889)   (21,357)   (520,138)
Cash flows from financing activities:             
Proceeds from revolving credit facility   —   —   225,000 
Repayments of revolving credit facility   (84,000)   (84,500)   (56,000)
Proceeds from term loans   —   —   200,000 
Repayments of term loans   (13,750)   (10,000)   (7,500)
Finance fees paid in connection with credit facility   —   —   (7,122)
Payments of notes payable   (475)   (469)   (1,229)
Repurchase of common stock   (4,992)   (4,754)   (10,492)
Exercise of stock options   13,274   16,170   4,583 
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation   —   4,780   2,549 

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities   (89,943)   (78,773)   349,789 
             
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash   2,783   (1,397)   742 
Cash and cash equivalents:             
Increase/(decrease) during the year   15,240   (285)   (86,247)
Cash, at beginning of year   38,923   39,208   125,455 
Cash, at end of year  $ 54,163  $ 38,923  $ 39,208 
 

See accompanying notes.
 

46 



 

 
RBC Bearings Incorporated

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

 
(dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)

 
1.            Organization and Business
 

RBC Bearings Incorporated (the “Company”, collectively with its subsidiaries), is a Delaware corporation. The Company operates in four reportable
business segments—roller bearings, plain bearings, ball bearings and engineered products—in which it manufactures roller bearing components and
assembled parts and designs and manufactures high-precision roller and ball bearings. The Company sells to a wide variety of original equipment
manufacturers (“OEMs”) and distributors who are widely dispersed geographically. In fiscal 2018, no one customer accounted for more than 9% of the
Company’s net sales as compared to no more than 9% and 10% of the Company’s net sales in fiscal 2017 and 2016, respectively. The Company’s segments
are further discussed in Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplemental Data,” Note 17 “Reportable Segments.”
 
2.            Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 
General
 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of RBC Bearings Incorporated, Roller Bearing Company of America, Inc. (“RBCA”) and
its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Industrial Tectonics Bearings Corporation (“ITB”), RBC Linear Precision Products, Inc. (“LPP”), RBC Nice Bearings, Inc.
(“Nice”), RBC Precision Products - Bremen, Inc. (“Bremen (MBC)”), RBC Precision Products - Plymouth, Inc. (“Plymouth”), RBC Lubron Bearing Systems,
Inc. (“Lubron”), RBC Oklahoma, Inc. (“RBC Oklahoma”), RBC Aircraft Products, Inc. (“API”), RBC Southwest Products, Inc. (“SWP”), All Power
Manufacturing Co. (“All Power”), RBC Aerostructures LLC (“RAS”), Western Precision Aero LLC (“WPA”), Climax Metal Products Company (“CMP”),
RBC Turbine Components LLC (“TCI”), Sonic Industries, Inc. (“Sonic”), Sargent Aerospace and Defense LLC (“Sargent”), Avborne Accessory Group, Inc.
(“AMS”), Schaublin Holdings S.A. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries Schaublin SA, RBC Bearings Polska sp. Z.o.o., RBC France SAS and Schaublin GmbH
(“Schaublin”), RBC de Mexico S DE RL DE CV (“Mexico”), RBC Bearings U.K. Limited and its wholly-owned subsidiary Phoenix Bearings Limited
(“Phoenix”), Allpower de Mexico S DE RL DE CV (“Tecate”) and RBC Bearings Canada, Inc. Divisions of RBCA include: RBC Corporate, RBC E-Shop,
RBC Aerospace sales office and warehouse, Transport Dynamics (“TDC”), Heim (“Heim Bearings Company”), Engineered Components (“ECD”), RBC
Aerocomponents (“RAC”), PIC Design (“PIC Design”), RBC Hartsville, RBC West Trenton, RBC Bishopsville, RBC Eastern Distribution Center, Shanghai
Representative office of Roller Bearing Company of America, Inc. (“RBC Shanghai”) and RBC Grand Prarie TX location. U.S. Bearings (“USB”) is a division
of SWP and Schaublin USA is a division of Nice. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
 

The Company has a fiscal year consisting of 52 or 53 weeks, ending on the Saturday closest to March 31. Based on this policy, fiscal year 2018
contained 52 weeks, 2017 contained 52 weeks and 2016 contained 53 weeks. The amounts are shown in thousands, unless otherwise indicated.
 
Use of Estimates
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, at the date of the financial statements,
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Estimates are used for, but
not limited to, the accounting for the allowance for doubtful accounts, valuation of inventories, accrued expenses, depreciation and amortization, income
taxes and tax reserves, pension and postretirement obligations and the valuation of options.
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents
 

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. The
Company maintains its cash accounts primarily with Bank of America, N.A and Wells Fargo & Company. The balances are insured by the Federal Deposit
Insurance Company up to $250. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts.
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Inventory
 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined by the first-in, first-out method. The Company accounts for
inventory under a full absorption method, and records adjustments to the value of inventory based upon past sales history and forecasted plans to sell our
inventories. The physical condition, including age and quality, of the inventories is also considered in establishing its valuation. These adjustments are
estimates, which could vary significantly, either favorably or unfavorably, from actual requirements if future economic conditions, customer inventory levels
or competitive conditions differ from our expectations.
 
Shipping and Handling
 

The sales price billed to customers includes shipping and handling, which is included in net sales. The costs to the Company for shipping and
handling are included in cost of sales.
 
Property, Plant and Equipment
 

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment, including equipment under
capital leases, is provided for by the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets or the lease term, if shorter. Depreciation of
assets under capital leases is reported within depreciation and amortization. The cost of equipment under capital leases is equal to the lower of the net present
value of the minimum lease payments or the fair market value of the leased equipment at the inception of the lease. Expenditures for normal maintenance and
repairs are charged to expense as incurred.
 

The estimated useful lives of the Company’s property, plant and equipment follows:
 

Buildings and improvements 20-30 years
Machinery and equipment 3-15 years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of the term of lease or estimated useful life

 
Recognition of Revenue and Accounts Receivable and Concentration of Credit Risk
 

The Company recognizes revenue only after the following four basic criteria are met:
 

● Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists;
● Delivery has occurred or services have been rendered;
● The seller’s price to the buyer is fixed or determinable; and
● Collectability is reasonably assured.

 
Revenue is recognized upon the passage of title, which generally is at the time of shipment, except for certain customers for which it occurs when the

products reach their destination. Accounts receivable, net of applicable allowances, is recorded when revenue is recorded.
 

We also recognize revenue on a Ship-In-Place basis for three customers who have required that we hold the product after final production is
complete.  In this case, a written agreement has been executed (at the customer’s request) whereby the customer accepts the risk of loss for product that is
invoiced under the Ship-In-Place arrangement.  For each transaction for which revenue is recognized under a Ship-In-Place arrangement, all final
manufacturing inspections have been completed and customer acceptance has been obtained. In fiscal 2018, 2.9% of our total net sales were recognized
under Ship-In-Place transactions compared to 2.6% in fiscal 2017.
 

We also on occasion record deferred revenue on our balance sheet as a liability. Deferred revenue represents progress payments received, primarily
from one customer, to cover purchases of raw materials per the terms of multi-year long term contracts. Revenue associated with these agreements is
recognized in accordance with the criteria discussed above.

 
The Company sells to a large number of OEMs and distributors who service the aftermarket. The Company’s credit risk associated with accounts

receivable is minimized due to its customer base and wide geographic dispersion. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers’
financial condition and generally does not require collateral or charge interest on outstanding amounts. The Company had no concentrations of credit risk
with any one customer greater than approximately 6% of accounts receivables at March 31, 2018 and 8% at April 1, 2017.
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
 

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of its customers to make required
payments. The Company reviews the collectability of its receivables on an ongoing basis taking into account a combination of factors. The Company
reviews potential problems, such as past due accounts, a bankruptcy filing or deterioration in the customer’s financial condition, to ensure the Company is
adequately accrued for potential loss. Accounts are considered past due based on when payment was originally due. If a customer’s situation changes, such as
a bankruptcy or creditworthiness, or there is a change in the current economic climate, the Company may modify its estimate of the allowance for doubtful
accounts. The Company will write-off accounts receivable after reasonable collection efforts have been made and the accounts are deemed uncollectible.
 
Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets
 

Goodwill (representing the excess of the amount paid to acquire a company over the estimated fair value of the net assets acquired) and Indefinite
Lived Intangible Assets are not amortized but instead are tested for impairment annually, or when events or circumstances indicate that the value may have
declined. Separate tests are performed for goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets. We apply a qualitative test of impairment on the indefinite lived
intangible assets. This is done by assessing the existence of events or circumstances which would make it more likely than not that impairment is present. No
such factors were identified during our current year analysis. The determination of any goodwill impairment is made at the reporting unit level and consists of
two steps. First, the Company determines the fair value of a reporting unit and compares it to its carrying amount. Second, if the carrying amount of the
reporting unit exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss is recognized for any excess of the carrying amount of the reporting unit’s goodwill over the
goodwill’s implied fair value. The Company applies the income approach (discounted cash flow method) in testing goodwill for impairment. The key
assumptions used in the discounted cash flow method used to estimate fair value include discount rates, revenue growth rates, terminal growth rates and cash
flow projections. Discount rates, growth rates and cash flow projections are the most sensitive and susceptible to change as they require significant
management judgment. Discount rates are determined by using a weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”). The WACC considers market and industry data
as well as Company-specific risk factors for each reporting unit in determining the appropriate discount rate to be used. The discount rate utilized for each
reporting unit for our fiscal 2018 test was 11.0% and is indicative of the return an investor would expect to receive for investing in such a business. Terminal
growth rate determination follows common methodology of capturing the present value of perpetual cash flow estimates beyond the last projected period
assuming a constant WACC and long-term growth rates. The terminal growth rate used for our fiscal 2018 test was 2.5%. The Company has determined that,
to date, no impairment of goodwill exists and fair value of the reporting units exceeded the carrying value in total by approximately 74.1%. The fair value of
the reporting units exceeds the carrying value by a minimum of 24.8% at each of the four reporting units. A decrease of 1.0% in our terminal growth rate
would not result in impairment of goodwill for any of our reporting units. An increase of 1.0% in our discount rate would not result in impairment of goodwill
for any of our reporting units. The Company performs the annual impairment testing during the fourth quarter of each fiscal year. Although no changes are
expected, if the actual results of the Company are less favorable than the assumptions the Company makes regarding estimated cash flows, the Company may
be required to record an impairment charge in the future.

 
Deferred Financing Costs
 

Deferred financing costs are amortized on a straight line basis over the lives of the related credit agreements.
 
Income Taxes
 

The Company accounts for income taxes using the liability method, which requires it to recognize a current tax liability or asset for current taxes
payable or refundable and a deferred tax liability or asset for the estimated future tax effects of temporary differences between the financial statement and tax
reporting bases of assets and liabilities to the extent that they are realizable. Deferred tax expense (benefit) results from the net change in deferred tax assets
and liabilities during the year. A valuation allowance is recorded to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized.
 

Temporary differences relate primarily to the timing of deductions for depreciation, stock-based compensation, goodwill amortization relating to the
acquisition of operating divisions, basis differences arising from acquisition accounting, pension and retirement benefits, and various accrued and prepaid
expenses. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded at the rates expected to be in effect when the temporary differences are expected to reverse.
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Net Income Per Common Share
 

Basic net income per common share is computed by dividing net income available to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of
common shares outstanding.
 

Diluted net income per common share is computed by dividing net income by the sum of the weighted-average number of common shares and
dilutive common share equivalents then outstanding using the treasury stock method. Common share equivalents consist of the incremental common shares
issuable upon the exercise of stock options.
 

The table below reflects the calculation of weighted-average shares outstanding for each year presented as well as the computation of basic and
diluted net income per common share:
  Fiscal Year Ended  

  
March 31,

2018   
April 1,

2017   
April 2,

2016  
Net income  $ 87,141  $ 70,623  $ 63,894 
             
Denominator:             
Denominator for basic net income per common share—weighted-average shares   23,948,565   23,521,615   23,208,686 
Effect of dilution due to employee stock options   415,224   263,021   299,732 
Denominator for diluted net income per common share—adjusted 
weighted-average shares   24,363,789   23,784,636   23,508,418 

Basic net income per common share  $ 3.64  $ 3.00  $ 2.75 
Diluted net income per common share  $ 3.58  $ 2.97  $ 2.72 
 

At March 31, 2018, 217,280 employee stock options and 53,073 restricted shares have been excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per
share. At April 1, 2017, 459,500 employee stock options and 3,000 restricted shares have been excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share. At
April 2, 2016, 443,250 employee stock options and no restricted shares have been excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share. The inclusion
of these employee stock options and restricted shares would be anti-dilutive.
 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
 

The Company assesses the net realizable value of its long-lived assets and evaluates such assets for impairment whenever indicators of impairment
are present. For amortizable long-lived assets to be held and used, if indicators of impairment are present, management determines whether the sum of the
estimated undiscounted future cash flows is less than the carrying amount. The amount of asset impairment, if any, is based on the excess of the carrying
amount over its fair value, which is estimated based on projected discounted future operating cash flows using a discount rate reflecting the Company’s
average cost of funds. To date, no indicators of impairment exist other than those resulting in the restructuring charges already recorded.
 

Long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale or other means are reported at the lower of carrying amount or fair value, less costs to sell.
 
Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions
 

Assets and liabilities of the Company’s foreign operations are translated into U.S. dollars using the exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date.
Results of operations are translated using the average exchange rate prevailing throughout the period. The effects of exchange rate fluctuations on translating
foreign currency assets and liabilities into U.S. dollars are included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), while gains and losses resulting from
foreign currency transactions are included in other non-operating expense (income). Net income of the Company’s foreign operations for fiscal 2018, 2017
and 2016 amounted to $776, $7,414 and $8,660, respectively. Total assets of the Company’s foreign operations were $135,801 and $125,164 at March 31,
2018 and April 1, 2017, respectively.
 
Fair Value of Measurements
 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date (exit price). Inputs used to measure fair value are within a hierarchy consisting of three levels. Level 1 inputs represent unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 inputs represent unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities, or
unadjusted quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, or inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for
the asset or liability. Level 3 inputs represent unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. Financial assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based
on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.
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The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheet for cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts receivable, prepaids and other

current assets, and accounts payable and accruals, and other current liabilities approximate their fair value due to their short-term nature.
 

The carrying amounts of the Company’s borrowings under its Wells Fargo Credit Agreement and Swiss Credit Facility approximate fair value, as
these obligations have interest rates which vary in conjunction with current market conditions. The carrying value of the mortgage on our Schaublin building
approximates fair value as the rates since entering into the mortgage in fiscal 2013 have not significantly changed.
 
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
 

The components of comprehensive income (loss) that relate to the Company are net income, foreign currency translation adjustments and pension
plan and postretirement benefits, all of which are presented in the consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income (loss).
 

The following summarizes the activity within each component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes:
 

  
Currency

Translation   

Pension and
Postretirement

Liability   Total  
Balance at April 1, 2017  $ (3,942)  $ (5,881)  $ (9,823)
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications   6,155   429   6,584 
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss   —   954   954 
Net current period other comprehensive income   6,155   1,383   7,538 
Balance at March 31, 2018  $ 2,213  $ (4,498)  $ (2,285)

 
Stock-Based Compensation
 

The Company recognizes compensation cost relating to all share-based payment transactions in the financial statements based upon the grant-date
fair value of the instruments issued over the requisite service period. The fair value of each option grant was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-
Scholes pricing model.
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 

In February 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2018-02, “ Income
Statement – Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income ” which
allows companies to reclassify stranded tax effects resulting from the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (“TCJA” or “the Act”), from accumulated other
comprehensive income to retained earnings. These stranded tax effects refer to the tax amounts included in accumulated other comprehensive income at the
previous 35% U.S. statutory tax rate, for which the related deferred tax asset or liability was remeasured to the new 21% U.S. corporate statutory federal tax
rate in the period of the TCJA enactment. The new standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, with early adoption permitted, and
can be applied either in the period of adoption or retrospectively to each period impacted by the TCJA. The Company has not determined the effect that the
adoption of the pronouncement may have on its financial position and/or results of operations.
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In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-09, “ Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Scope of Modification Accounting”, in an

effort to reduce diversity in practice as it relates to applying modification accounting for changes to the terms and conditions of share-based payment awards.
This ASU is effective for public companies for the financial statements issued for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim
periods within those annual periods. Early adoption is permitted. The adoption of this ASU is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.
 

In March 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-07, “ Compensation – Retirement Benefits (Topic 715): Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic
Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost”, in an effort to improve the presentation of these costs within the income statement. Under
current GAAP, all components of both net periodic pension cost and net periodic postretirement cost are included within selling, general and administrative
costs on the income statement. This ASU would require entities to include only the service cost component within selling, general and administrative costs
whereas all other components would be included within other non-operating expense. In addition, only the service cost component would be eligible for
capitalization when applicable (for example, as a cost of internally manufactured inventory or a self-constructed asset). The amendments in this Update
should be applied retrospectively for the presentation of the service cost component and the other components of net periodic pension cost and net periodic
postretirement benefit cost in the income statement and prospectively, on and after the effective date, for the capitalization of the service cost component of
net periodic pension cost and net periodic postretirement benefit in assets. This ASU is effective for public companies for the financial statements issued for
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within those annual periods. The Company has not determined the effect that
the adoption of the pronouncement may have on its financial position and/or results of operations.
 

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-04, “ Intangibles—Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for Goodwill
Impairment”. The objective of this standard update is to simplify the subsequent measurement of goodwill, eliminating Step 2 from the goodwill impairment
test. Under this ASU, an entity should perform its annual goodwill impairment test by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount.
An entity would recognize an impairment charge for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value, assuming the loss
recognized does not exceed the total amount of goodwill for the reporting unit. The standard update is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2019. Early adoption is permitted. The adoption of this ASU is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
 

In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-16, “ Income Taxes (Topic 740):Intra-Entity Transfers of Assets Other Than Inventory ”, in an effort
to improve the accounting for the income tax consequences of intra-equity transfers of assets other than inventory. Current GAAP prohibits the recognition of
current and deferred income taxes for an intra-entity asset transfer until the asset has been sold to an outside party. This ASU establishes the requirement that
an entity recognize the income tax consequences of an intra-entity transfer of an asset other than inventory when the transfer occurs. This ASU is effective for
public companies for the financial statements issued for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017 and interim periods within those annual periods.
Earlier application is permitted as of the beginning of an interim or annual reporting period, with any adjustments reflected as of the beginning of the fiscal
year of adoption. The adoption of this ASU is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
 

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, “ Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash
Payments”, which addresses eight specific cash flow issues with the objective of reducing the existing diversity in practice. This ASU is effective for public
companies for the financial statements issued for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017 and interim periods within those annual periods. Earlier
application is permitted as of the beginning of an interim or annual reporting period, with any adjustments reflected as of the beginning of the fiscal year of
adoption. The Company has not determined the effect that the adoption of the pronouncement may have on its statements of cash flows.
 

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-09, “ Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Employee Share-Based
Payment Accounting” which amends ASC Topic 718, Compensation - Stock Compensation. This ASU includes provisions intended to simplify various
aspects related to how share-based payments are accounted for and presented in the financial statements. The Company adopted this standard on April 2,
2017. As a result of the adoption, the Company began recording the tax effects associated with stock-based compensation through the income statement on a
prospective basis which resulted in a tax benefit of $4,917 for the twelve months ended March 31, 2018. Prior to adoption, these amounts would have been
recorded as an increase to additional paid-in capital. This change may create volatility in the Company’s effective tax rate. The adoption of this standard also
resulted in a cumulative effect change to opening retained earnings of $1,144 for previously unrecognized excess tax benefits.
 

In addition, the Company will prospectively classify all tax-related cash flows resulting from share-based payments, including the excess tax
benefits related to the settlement of stock-based awards, as cash flows from operating activities in the statement of cash flows. Prior to the adoption of this
standard, these were shown as cash inflows from financing activities and cash outflows from operating activities.
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The adoption of the ASU also resulted in the Company removing the excess tax benefits from the assumed proceeds available to repurchase shares

when calculating diluted earnings per share on a prospective basis. The revised calculation increased the diluted weighted average common shares
outstanding by approximately 111 thousand shares in the period of adoption. The Company also made an accounting policy election to continue to estimate
forfeitures as it did prior to adoption.
 

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, “ Leases (Topic 842).” The core principal of ASU 2016-02 is that an entity should recognize
on its balance sheet assets and liabilities arising from a lease. In accordance with that principle, ASU 2016-02 requires that a lessee recognize a liability to
make lease payments (the lease liability) and a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying leased asset for the lease term. The recognition,
measurement, and presentation of expenses and cash flows arising from a lease by a lessee will depend on the lease classification as a finance or operating
lease. This new accounting guidance is effective for public companies for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018 under a modified retrospective
approach and early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact this adoption will have on its consolidated financial statements.
 

In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-11, “ Inventory (Topic 330): Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory .” This update requires the
company to measure inventory using the lower of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is defined as the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal and transportation. This ASU applies to companies measuring inventory using
methods other than the last-in, first-out (LIFO) and retail inventory methods, including but not limited to the first-in, first-out (FIFO) or average costing
methods. The Company adopted this ASU on a prospective basis on April 2, 2017 and it did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.
 

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, “ Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)”. The objective of this standard update is to
remove inconsistent practices with regards to revenue recognition between U.S. GAAP and IFRS. The standard intends to improve comparability of revenue
recognition practices across entities, industries, jurisdictions and capital markets. The provisions of ASU No. 2014-09 will be effective for interim and annual
periods beginning after December 15, 2017, with early adoption permitted for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016.
 

The guidance permits use of either a retrospective or cumulative effect transition method. Based upon the FASB’s decision to approve a one-year
delay in implementation, the new standard is now effective for the Company in fiscal 2019, with early adoption permitted, but not earlier than fiscal 2018.
The Company has concluded it will utilize the modified retrospective method upon adopting this standard.
 

The Company has completed their assessment of the impact of ASU No. 2014-09 on its business which has identified certain differences from the
application of the new standard. The Company’s performance obligations under the new standard are not materially different from the existing standard. The
majority of the Company’s contracts involve the sale of parts to customers and will continue to transfer control of assets at a point in time because the criteria
in the new standard for over-time recognition have not been met. For a limited number of contracts, primarily related to services performed, the Company will
now recognize revenue over time in proportion to costs incurred. For these contracts, the Company has concluded that the cost-to-cost measure of progress
most accurately depicts the transfer of control of assets to the customer.
 

Based upon the results of our assessment, the Company does not expect the new revenue standard to have a material impact on the Company’s
pattern of revenue recognition, operating revenue, results of operations, or financial position; however, we will expand certain disclosures as required. In
reaching this conclusion, the Company evaluated its different contracting practices including Master Agreements and Purchase Orders. The assessment
included analyzing the standard’s impact on the Company’s revenue streams and above mentioned contracting practices.
 

The Company has substantially completed the process of updating accounting policies, evaluating new disclosure requirements and implementing
changes to its business processes, systems and controls to support revenue recognition and disclosure under the new guidance and will adopt the
requirements of the new standard in the first quarter of fiscal 2019. The Company has determined that as a result of applying the modified retrospective
method, the cumulative effect adjustment to retained earnings as of April 1, 2018 will be immaterial.
 

Other new pronouncements issued but not effective until after March 31, 2018 are not expected to have a material impact on our financial position,
results of operations or liquidity.
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3. Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
 

The activity in the allowance for doubtful accounts consists of the following:
 

Fiscal Year Ended   

Balance at
Beginning of

Year   Additions   

 
 

Other*   Write-offs   
Balance at

End of Year  
March 31, 2018   $ 1,213  $ 125  $ 73  $ (85)  $ 1,326 
April 1, 2017    1,324   96   (157)   (50)   1,213 
April 2, 2016    860   191   308   (35)   1,324 
                       

*Foreign currency and acquisition transactions.
 
4. Inventory
 

Inventories are summarized below:
 

  
March 31,

2018   
April 1,

2017  
Raw materials  $ 44,102  $ 35,364 
Work in process   77,890   79,048 
Finished goods   184,132   175,182 
  $ 306,124  $ 289,594 

 
5. Property, Plant and Equipment
 

Property, plant and equipment consist of the following:
 

  
March 31,

2018   
April 1,

2017  
Land  $ 19,723  $ 18,164 
Buildings and improvements   86,237   81,467 
Machinery and equipment   259,645   240,128 
   365,605   339,759 

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization   (173,092)   (156,134)
  $ 192,513  $ 183,625 

 
6. Restructuring of Operations
 

In the second quarter of fiscal 2018, the Company reached a decision to restructure its manufacturing operation in Montreal, Canada. After
completing its obligations, the Company expects to close its RBC Canada location and consolidate certain residual assets into other locations by the end of
this fiscal year. As a result, the Company recorded an after-tax charge of $5,577 associated with the restructuring in the second quarter of fiscal 2018
attributable to the Engineered Products segment. The $5,577 charge includes a $1,337 impairment of fixed assets and a $5,157 impairment of intangible
assets offset by a $917 tax benefit. The impairment charges were recognized within the “Other, net” line item within the consolidated statement of operations.
The Company determined that the market approach was the most appropriate method to estimate the fair value of the fixed assets using comparable sales data
and actual quotes from potential buyers in the market place. The fixed assets are comprised of land, a building, machinery and equipment. The Company
assessed the fair value of the intangible assets in accordance with ASC 360-10, which are comprised of customer relationships, product approvals, tradenames
and trademarks. These fair value measurements were classified as Level 3 in the valuation hierarchy. In the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2018, the
Company incurred restructuring charges of $1,091 and $100 comprised primarily of employee termination costs and building maintenance costs. These costs
were recorded within the “Other, net” line item within the consolidated statement of operations and are all attributable to the Engineered Products segment.
The cumulative restructuring charges as of the end of the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018, net of taxes, were $6,768. The total impact of this restructuring is
expected to be between $6,800 and $7,300 in after-tax charges, all attributable to the Engineered Products segment, and is expected to conclude in the first
quarter of fiscal 2019.
 

54 



 

  
In the third quarter of fiscal 2017, the Company reached a decision to integrate and restructure its industrial manufacturing operation in South

Carolina. The Company exited a few smaller product offerings and consolidated two manufacturing facilities into one. These restructuring efforts will better
align our manufacturing capacity and market focus. As a result, the Company recorded a charge of $7,060 associated with the restructuring in the third
quarter of fiscal 2017 attributable to the Roller Bearings segment. The $7,060 charge includes $3,215 of inventory rationalization costs, $261 in impairment
of intangibles, $2,402 loss on fixed assets disposals, and $1,182 exit obligation associated with a building operating lease, of which, $766 remains. The
reduction of the exit obligation since the third quarter of fiscal 2017 was primarily related to lease payments made. The inventory rationalization costs were
recorded in Cost of Sales in the income statement. All other costs were recorded under operating expenses in the “Other, net” category of the income
statement. The pre-tax charge of $7,060 was offset with a tax benefit of approximately $2,222. The Company determined that the market approach was the
most appropriate method to estimate the fair value for the inventory, intangible assets, equipment and building operating lease using comparable sales data
and actual quotes from potential buyers in the market place.
 
7. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
 

Goodwill
 

Goodwill balances, by segment, consist of the following:
 

  Roller   Plain   Ball   
Engineered 

Products   Total  
April 1, 2017  $ 16,007  $ 79,597  $ 5,623  $ 166,815  $ 268,042 
Translation adjustments   —   —   —   82   82 
March 31, 2018  $ 16,007  $ 79,597  $ 5,623  $ 166,897  $ 268,124 
 

Intangible Assets
 
     March 31, 2018   April 1, 2017  

  

Weighted
Average 

Useful Lives   

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount   

 
Accumulated
Amortization   

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount   

 
Accumulated
Amortization  

Product approvals   24  $ 50,878  $ 8,351  $ 53,869  $ 6,465 
Customer relationships and lists   24   106,583   16,499   107,864   12,308 
Trade names   10   18,734   6,765   19,923   5,137 
Distributor agreements   5   722   722   722   722 
Patents and trademarks   16   9,657   4,810   8,803   4,130 
Domain names   10   437   430   437   386 
Other   6   1,433   1,303   1,174   1,043 
Non-amortizable repair station

certifications   n/a   34,200   —   34,200   — 
   Total      $ 222,644  $ 38,880  $ 226,992  $ 30,191 

 
 
Amortization expense for definite-lived intangible assets during fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $9,344, $9,272 and $9,000, respectively.

Estimated amortization expense for the five succeeding fiscal years and thereafter is as follows:
 

2019   $ 9,054 
2020    8,947 
2021    8,896 
2022    8,779 
2023    8,695 
2024 and thereafter    105,193 
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8. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities
 

The significant components of accrued expenses and other current liabilities are as follows:
 

  
March 31,

2018   
April 1,

2017  
Employee compensation and related benefits  $ 14,240  $ 12,262 
Taxes   2,939   2,501 
Deferred revenue   13,613   17,974 
Workers compensation   2,086   2,548 
Legal   1,228   1,533 
Other   6,671   7,714 
  $ 40,777  $ 44,532 

 
9. Debt
 
Credit Facility
 

In connection with the Sargent Aerospace & Defense (“Sargent”) acquisition on April 24, 2015, the Company entered into a credit agreement (the
“Credit Agreement”) and related Guarantee, Pledge Agreement and Security Agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative
Agent, Collateral Agent, Swingline Lender and Letter of Credit Issuer and the other lenders party thereto and terminated the JP Morgan Credit Agreement.
The Credit Agreement provides RBCA, as Borrower, with (a) a $200,000 Term Loan and (b) a $350,000 Revolver and together with the Term Loan (the
“Facilities”). The Facilities expire on April 24, 2020.
 

Amounts outstanding under the Facilities generally bear interest at (a) a base rate determined by reference to the higher of (1) Wells Fargo’s prime
lending rate, (2) the federal funds effective rate plus 1/2 of 1% and (3) the one-month LIBOR rate plus 1% or (b) LIBOR rate plus a specified margin,
depending on the type of borrowing being made. The applicable margin is based on the Company’s consolidated ratio of total net debt to consolidated
EBITDA from time to time. Currently, the Company’s margin is 0.00% for base rate loans and 1.00% for LIBOR rate loans. As of March 31, 2018, there was
$500 outstanding under the Revolver and $168,750 outstanding under the Term Loan, offset by $2,968 in debt issuance costs (original amount was $7,122).
 

The Credit Agreement requires the Company to comply with various covenants, including among other things, financial covenants to maintain the
following: (1) a ratio of consolidated net debt to adjusted EBITDA, not to exceed 3.50 to 1; and (2) a consolidated interest coverage ratio not to be less than
2.75 to 1. The Credit Agreement allows the Company to, among other things, make distributions to shareholders, repurchase its stock, incur other debt or
liens, or acquire or dispose of assets provided that the Company complies with certain requirements and limitations of the agreement. As of March 31, 2018,
the Company was in compliance with all such covenants.
 

The Company’s obligations under the Credit Agreement are secured as well as providing for a pledge of substantially all of the Company’s and
RBCA’s assets. The Company and certain of its subsidiaries have also entered into a Guarantee to guarantee RBCA’s obligations under the Credit Agreement.
 

Approximately $3,990 of the Revolver is being utilized to provide letters of credit to secure RBCA’s obligations relating to certain insurance
programs. As of March 31, 2018, RBCA has the ability to borrow up to an additional $345,510 under the Revolver.
 
Other Notes Payable
 

On October 1, 2012, one of our foreign divisions, Schaublin, purchased the land and building, which it occupied and had been leasing, for 14,067
CHF (approximately $14,910). Schaublin obtained a 20-year fixed-rate mortgage of 9,300 CHF (approximately $9,857) at an interest rate of 2.9%. The
balance of the purchase price of 4,767 CHF (approximately $5,053) was paid from cash on hand. The balance on this mortgage as of March 31, 2018 was
6,743 CHF, or $7,073.
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The balances payable under all borrowing facilities are as follows:
 

  
March 31,

2018   
April 1,

2017  
Revolver and term loan facilities  $ 169,250  $ 267,000 
Debt issuance cost   (2,968)   (4,392)
Other   7,073   7,192 
Total debt   173,355   269,800 
Less: current portion   19,238   14,214 
Long-term debt  $ 154,117  $ 255,586 

 
The current portion of long-term debt as of both March 31, 2018 and April 1, 2017 includes the current portion of the Schaublin mortgage and the

current portion of the revolver and term loan facilities.
 

Cash interest paid during fiscal years 2018, 2017, and 2016 was $6,227, $7,279, and $7,664, respectively.
 

The Company’s required future annual principal payments for the next five years and thereafter are $19,238 for fiscal 2019, $24,238 for fiscal 2020,
$127,238 for fiscal 2021, $488 for fiscal 2022, $488 for fiscal 2023 and $4,633 thereafter.
 
10. Other Non-Current Liabilities
 

The significant components of other non-current liabilities consist of:
 

  
March 31,

2018   
April 1,

2017  
Non-current pension  liability, net  $ —  $ 1,895 
Other postretirement benefits   2,450   2,744 
Non-current income tax liability   20,176   13,492 
Deferred compensation   13,620   11,195 
Other   884   1,717 
  $ 37,130  $ 31,043 

 
11. Pension Plan
 

At March 31, 2018, the Company has one consolidated noncontributory defined benefit pension plan covering union employees in its Heim
division plant in Fairfield, Connecticut, its Bremen subsidiary plant in Plymouth, Indiana and former union employees of the Tyson subsidiary in Glasgow,
Kentucky and the Nice subsidiary in Kulpsville, Pennsylvania.

 
Plan assets are comprised primarily of equity and fixed income investments, as follows:
 

  
March 31,

2018   
April 1,

2017  
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 1,107  $ 10,277 
U.S. equity mutual funds   18,881   8,978 
International equity mutual funds   1,985   — 
Fixed income mutual funds   2,936   3,899 
  $ 24,909  $ 23,154 

 
The fair value of the above investments is determined using quoted market prices of identical instruments. Therefore, the valuation inputs within the

fair value hierarchy established by ASC 820 are classified as Level 1 of the valuation hierarchy.
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The following tables set forth the funded status of the Company’s defined benefit pension plan and the amount recognized in the balance sheet at

March 31, 2018 and April 1, 2017:
 

  
March 31,

2018   
April 1,

2017  
Change in benefit obligation:         

Benefit obligation at beginning of year  $ 25,049  $ 26,917 
Service cost   232   251 
Interest cost   904   889 
Actuarial gain   (38)   (1,452)
Benefits paid   (1,577)   (1,556)
Benefit obligation at end of year  $ 24,570  $ 25,049 

Change in plan assets:         
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year  $ 23,154  $ 22,731 
Actual return on plan assets   1,832   479 
Employer contributions   1,500   1,500 
Benefits paid   (1,577)   (1,556)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year  $ 24,909  $ 23,154 
         
Over(Under)funded status at end of year  $ 339  $ (1,895)

         
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheet:         
         
Non-current assets  $ 339  $ — 

  Non-current liabilities   —   (1,895)
Net asset (liability) recognized  $ 339  $ (1,895)

         
Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss:         
         
Prior service cost  $ 71  $ 106 
Net actuarial loss   7,596   9,064 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss  $ 7,667  $ 9,170 
 

Amounts included in accumulated other comprehensive loss expected to be recognized as
components of net periodic benefit cost in 2019:    
    
   Prior service cost  $ 35 
   Net actuarial loss   916 
       Total  $ 951 

 
Benefits under the union plans are not a function of employees’ salaries; thus, the accumulated benefit obligation equals the projected benefit

obligation.
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The following table sets forth net periodic benefit cost of the Company’s plan for the three fiscal years in the period ended March 31, 2018:

 
  Fiscal Year Ended  

  
March 31,

2018   
April 1,

2017   
April 2,

2016  
Components of net periodic benefit cost:          

Service cost  $ 232  $ 251  $ 272 
Interest cost   904   889   920 
Expected return on plan assets   (1,610)   (1,581)   (1,615)
Amortization of prior service cost   35   60   66 
Amortization of losses   1,207   1,394   1,343 
Net periodic benefit cost  $ 768  $ 1,013  $ 986 
 
The assumptions used in determining the net periodic benefit cost information are as follows:

 
  FY 2018   FY 2017   FY 2016  
Discount rate   3.70%  3.40%  3.40%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets   7.00%  7.00%  7.00%

 
The discount rate used in determining the funded status as of March 31, 2018 and April 1, 2017 was 3.70%.

 
To determine the postretirement net periodic benefit costs in fiscal 2018, the RP-2014 adjusted to 2006 blue collar mortality table projected to the

measurement date with Scale MP-2017 was used. To determine the postretirement net periodic benefit costs in fiscal 2017, the RP-2014 adjusted to 2006
blue collar mortality table projected to the measurement date with Scale MP-2016 was used and for fiscal 2016 the RP-2014 adjusted to 2006 blue collar
mortality table with Scale MP-2015 was used.
 

In developing the overall expected long-term return on plan assets assumption, a building block approach was used in which rates of return in excess
of inflation were considered separately for equity securities and debt securities. The excess returns were weighted by the representative target allocation and
added along with an appropriate rate of inflation to develop the overall expected long-term return on plan assets assumption. The Company’s long-term
target allocation of plan assets is 70% equity and 30% fixed income investments.
 

The Company’s investment program objective is to achieve a rate of return on plan assets which will fund the plan liabilities and provide for
required benefits while avoiding undue exposure to risk to the plan and increases in funding requirements.
 

The following benefit payments, which reflect future service as appropriate, are expected to be paid. The benefit payments are based on the same
assumptions used to measure the Company’s benefit obligation at the end of fiscal 2018:
 

2019   $ 1,654 
2020    1,692 
2021    1,707 
2022    1,720 
2023    1,725 
2024-2028    8,272 
       
Although no contributions are required for fiscal 2019, the Company expects to make cash contributions in the $750 to $1,500 range.
 
One of the Company’s foreign operations, Schaublin, sponsors a pension plan for its approximately 146 employees in conformance with Swiss

pension law. The plan is funded with a reputable (S&P rating A+) Swiss insurer. Through the insurance contract, the Company has effectively transferred all
investment and mortality risk to the insurance company, which guarantees the federally mandated annual rate of return and the conversion rate at retirement.
As a result, the plan has no unfunded liability; the interest cost is exactly offset by actual return. Thus, the net periodic cost is equal to the amount of annual
premium paid by the Company. For fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company made contribution and premium payments equal to $889, $875 and
$861, respectively.
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The Company also has defined contribution plans under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code for all of its employees not covered by a

collective bargaining agreement. Employer contributions under this plan, ranging from 10%-100% of eligible amounts contributed by employees, amounted
to $1,714, $1,585 and $1,354 in fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
 

Effective September 1, 1996, the Company adopted a non-qualified Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (“SERP”) for a select group of highly
compensated management employees designated by the Board of the Company. The SERP allowed eligible employees to elect to defer, until termination of
their employment, the receipt of up to 25% of their salary. In August 2008, the plan was modified, allowing eligible employees to elect to defer up to 75% of
their current salary and up to 100% of bonus compensation. Employer contributions under this plan equal the lesser of 25% of the deferrals, or 1.75% of the
employee’s annual salary, which vest in full after one year of service following the effective date of the SERP. Employer contributions under this plan
amounted to $271, $256 and $214 in fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

 
12. Postretirement Health Care and Life Insurance Benefits
 

The Company, for the benefit of employees at its Heim, West Trenton, Bremen and PIC facilities and former union employees of its Tyson and Nice
subsidiaries, sponsors contributory defined benefit health care plans that provide postretirement medical and life insurance benefits to union employees who
have attained certain age and/or service requirements while employed by the Company. The plans are unfunded and costs are paid as incurred. Postretirement
benefit obligations are included in “Accrued expenses and other current liabilities” and “Other non-current liabilities” in the consolidated balance sheet.
 

The following table set forth the funded status of the Company’s postretirement benefit plans, the amount recognized in the balance sheet at March
31, 2018 and April 1, 2017:
 

  
March 31,

2018   
April 1,

2017  
Change in benefit obligation:         

Benefit obligation at beginning of year  $ 2,963  $ 3,222 
Service cost   33   42 
Interest cost   98   102 
Actuarial gain   (297)   (281)
Benefits paid   (126)   (122)
Benefit obligation at end of year  $ 2,671  $ 2,963 

Change in plan assets:         
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year  $ —  $ — 
Company contributions   126   122 
Benefits paid   (126)   (122)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year  $ —  $ — 
Underfunded status at end of year  $ (2,671)  $ (2,963)

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheet:         
Current liability  $ (221)  $ (219)
Non-current liability   (2,450)   (2,744)
    Net liability recognized  $ (2,671)  $ (2,963)

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss:         
Prior service cost  $ 15  $ 19 
Net actuarial loss   (85)   207 
    Accumulated other comprehensive loss  $ (70)  $ 226 

 
Amounts included in accumulated other comprehensive loss expected to be recognized as components of
net periodic benefit cost in 2019:    

Prior service cost  $ 3 
Net actuarial loss   (14)
Total  $ (11)
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  Fiscal Year Ended  

Components of net periodic benefit cost:  
March 31,

2018   
April 1,

2017   
April 2,

2016  
    Service cost  $ 33  $ 41  $ 54 
    Interest cost   98   102   107 
    Prior service cost amortization   3   3   3 
    Amount of loss recognized   (4)   26   37 
Net periodic benefit cost  $ 130  $ 172  $ 201 

 
The Company measures its plans as of the last day of the fiscal year.

 
The plans contractually limit the benefit to be provided for certain groups of current and future retirees. As a result, there is no health care trend

associated with these groups. The discount rate used in determining the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation was 3.70% at March 31, 2018 and
3.70% at April 1, 2017. The discount rate used in determining the net periodic benefit cost was 3.70% for fiscal 2018, 3.40% for fiscal 2017, and 3.40% for
fiscal 2016. To determine the postretirement net periodic benefit costs in fiscal 2018, the RP-2014 adjusted to 2006 blue collar mortality table projected to
the measurement date with Scale MP-2017 was used. To determine the postretirement net periodic benefit costs in fiscal 2017, the RP-2014 adjusted to 2006
blue collar mortality table projected to the measurement date with Scale MP-2016 was used and for fiscal 2016 the RP-2014 adjusted to 2006 blue collar
mortality table with Scale MP-2015 was used.
 

The following benefit payments, which reflect future service as appropriate, are expected to be paid. The benefit payments are based on the same
assumptions used to measure the Company’s benefit obligation at the end of fiscal 2018:
 

2019   $ 221 
2020    223 
2021    215 
2022    193 
2023    201 
2024-2028    945 
       

13. Income Taxes
 

Income before income taxes for the Company’s domestic and foreign operations is as follows:
 

  Fiscal Year Ended  

  
March 31,

2018   
April 1,

2017   
April 2,

2016  
Domestic  $ 116,513  $ 94,629  $ 83,622 
Foreign   3,338   10,255   11,163 
Total income before income taxes  $ 119,851  $ 104,884  $ 94,785 

 
The provision for (benefit from) income taxes consists of the following:
 

  Fiscal Year Ended  

  
March 31,

2018   
April 1,

2017   
April 2,

2016  
Current tax expense:             

Federal  $ 28,555  $ 21,903  $ 26,281 
State   1,313   887   1,960 
Foreign   3,544   3,148   2,986 

   33,412   25,938   31,227 
Deferred tax expense:             

Federal   (273)   8,299   (279)
State   457   245   342 
Foreign   (886)   (221)   (399)

   (702)   8,323   (336)
Total income taxes  $ 32,710  $ 34,261  $ 30,891 
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On December 22, 2017, the United States enacted significant changes to the U.S. tax law following the passage and signing of the Tax Cuts and Jobs

Act (“TCJA” or “the Act”). The legislation significantly changes U.S. tax law by, among other things, lowering corporate income tax rates, implementing a
territorial tax system and imposing a one-time repatriation tax on undistributed foreign earnings. The Act permanently reduces the U.S. corporate income tax
rate from 35% to 21% effective for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017. The primary impacts of the TCJA reflected in the consolidated financial
statements relate to the remeasurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities resulting from the change in the corporate rate and a one-time mandatory
transition tax on accumulated earnings of foreign subsidiaries. The SEC provided guidance that allows the Company to record provisional amounts if the
accounting assessment is incomplete for impacts of the Act, with the requirement that the accounting be finalized in a period not to exceed one year form the
date of enactment. As of March 31, 2018 the Company has not completed the accounting for the tax effects of the Act. Therefore, the Company has recorded
provisional amounts for certain effects of the TCJA. These estimates may be impacted by the need for further analysis and future clarification and guidance
regarding available tax accounting methods and elections, earnings and profits computations and state conformity to federal changes.
 

The Company recorded a net tax benefit of $152 in fiscal 2018 resulting from the TCJA. The provisional benefit recognized related to the
remeasurement of certain deferred tax assets and liabilities based on the rates at which they are expected to reverse was $9,318. The provisional expense
recognized related to the one one-time mandatory deemed repatriation of foreign earnings was $9,166 of which the Company will elect to pay the one-time
tax over a period of eight years.
 
An analysis of the difference between the provision for income taxes and the amount computed by applying the U.S. statutory income tax rate to pre-tax
income follows:
 

  Fiscal Year Ended  

  
March 31,

2018   
April 1,

2017   
April 2,

2016  
Income taxes using U.S. federal statutory rate  $ 37,825  $ 36,710  $ 33,175 
State income taxes, net of federal benefit   1,221   676   1,493 
Domestic production activities deduction   (1,374)   (1,803)   (2,320)
Revaluation of deferred tax liabilities due to federal rate change   (9,318)   —   — 
Stock based compensation   (4,905)   —   — 
Foreign rate differential   1,604   (662)   (1,321)
Transition tax   9,166   —   — 
Research and development credits   (1,293)   (1,163)   (1,144)
U.S. unrecognized tax positions   452   (290)   181 
Other - net   (668)   793   827 
  $ 32,710  $ 34,261  $ 30,891 

 
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) are comprised of the following:
 

  
March 31,

2018   
April 1,

2017  
Deferred tax assets (liabilities):         

Postretirement benefits  $ 577  $ 1,018 
Employee compensation accruals   2,193   4,128 
Net operating losses   682   443 
Inventory   7,688   12,110 
Stock compensation   4,917   6,455 
Pension   (78)   698 
State tax   1,134   1,466 

Other   3,774   3,947 
Total gross deferred tax assets   20,887   30,265 
   Valuation allowance   (2,318)   (919)
Total deferred tax assets  $ 18,569  $ 29,346 
       
Deferred tax liabilities:       

Property, plant and equipment   (13,648)   (19,548)
Intangible assets   (16,670)   (21,834)
Total deferred tax liabilities   (30,318)   (41,382)
         
Total net deferred tax assets (liabilities)  $ (11,749)  $ (12,036)
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The Company evaluates deferred tax assets to ensure that the estimated future taxable income will be sufficient in character (i.e. capital versus

ordinary income treatment), amount and timing to result in their recovery. After considering the positive and negative evidence, a valuation allowance has
been recorded on certain state credits and state net operating losses as it is more likely than not (i.e. greater than a 50% likelihood) that these items will not be
utilized. For the Company’s fiscal year ended March 31, 2018 the valuation allowance increased by $1,400 which pertained to an increase of state and
foreign credits. For the Company’s fiscal year ended April 1, 2017 the valuation allowance increased by $339 which pertained to an increase of state credits.
These valuation allowances are required because management has determined, based on financial projections and available tax strategies, that it is unlikely
the net operating losses and credits will be utilized before they expire. If events or circumstances change, valuation allowances are adjusted at that time
resulting in an income tax benefit or charge.
 

At March 31, 2018, the Company has state net operating losses in different jurisdictions at varying amounts up to $9,338, which expire at various
dates through 2038. At March 31, 2018, the Company has state credits in different jurisdictions at varying amounts up to $3,440 which will expire at various
dates through 2038. At March 31, 2018, the Company has foreign credits in different jurisdictions at varying amounts up to $936 which will expire at various
dates through 2038.
 

The TCJA required a mandatory deemed repatriation of certain undistributed earnings of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries as of December 31,
2017. If the earnings were distributed in the form of cash dividends, the Company would not be subject to additional U.S. income taxes but could be subject
to foreign income and withholding taxes. Under accounting standards (ASC 740) a deferred tax liability is not recorded for the excess of the tax basis over the
financial reporting (book) basis of an investment in a foreign subsidiary if the indefinite reinvestment criteria is met. A provision has not been made for
additional U.S. federal and foreign taxes at March 31, 2018 of approximately $2,165 of undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries because the Company
intends to reinvest these funds indefinitely to support foreign growth opportunities. It is not practicable to estimate the unrecognized deferred tax liability on
these undistributed earnings. These earnings could become subject to additional tax under certain circumstances including, but not limited to, loans to the
Company, or upon sale or pledging of the subsidiary’s stock.
 
Uncertain Tax Positions
 

Unrecognized income tax benefits represent income tax positions taken on income tax returns but not yet recognized in the consolidated financial
statements. If recognized, substantially all of the unrecognized tax benefits for the Company’s fiscal years ended March 31, 2018 and April 1, 2017 would
affect the effective income tax rate.
 
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:
 

  
March 31, 

2018   
April 1, 

2017   
April 2, 

2016  
Balance, beginning of year  $ 13,775  $ 14,297  $ 5,514 
Gross (decreases) increases – tax positions taken during a prior period   (2,475)   (488)   248 
Gross increases – tax positions taken during the current period   1,146   1,280   8,745 
Reductions due to settlement with taxing authorities   —   (223)   — 
Reductions due to lapse of the applicable statute of limitations   (511)   (1,091)   (210)
Balance, end of year  $ 11,935  $ 13,775  $ 14,297 

 
The Company recognizes the interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. The Company recognized

an expense of $284 and a benefit of $36 of interest and penalties on its statement of operations for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2018 and April 1, 2017,
respectively. The Company has approximately $1,148 and $864 of accrued interest and penalties at March 31, 2018 and April 1, 2017, respectively.
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The Company believes it is reasonably possible that some of its unrecognized tax positions may be effectively settled by the end of the Company’s

fiscal year ending March 30, 2019 due to the closing of audits and the statute of limitations expiring in varying jurisdictions. The decrease, pertaining
primarily to federal and state credits and state tax, is estimated to be $1,777.
 

Cash outflows for income taxes during fiscal years 2018, 2017, and 2016 were $21,045, $29,699, and $21,305 respectively.
 

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, and various states and foreign jurisdictions. With few exceptions, the
Company is no longer subject to state or foreign income tax examinations by tax authorities for years ending before April 2, 2005. The Company is no longer
subject to U.S. federal tax examination by the Internal Revenue Service for years ending before March 28, 2015. A U.S. federal tax examination by the
Internal Revenue Service for the year ended March 30, 2013 was effectively settled in fiscal 2016.
 
14. Stockholders’ Equity

 
Long-Term Equity Incentive Plans
 

2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan
 

The 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan provides for grants of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock and performance awards.
Directors, officers and other employees and persons who engage in services for the Company are eligible for grants under the Plan. The purpose of the Plan is
to provide these individuals with incentives to maximize stockholder value and otherwise contribute to the Company’s success and to enable the Company
to attract, retain and reward the best available persons for positions of responsibility.
 

1,139,170 shares of common stock were authorized for issuance under the Plan, subject to adjustment in the event of a reorganization, stock split,
merger or similar change in the Company’s corporate structure or in the outstanding shares of common stock. An amendment to increase the number of shares
available for issuance under the 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan from 1,139,170 to 1,639,170 was approved by shareholder vote in September 2006. A
further amendment to increase the number of shares available for issuance under the 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan from 1,639,170 to 2,239,170 was
approved by shareholder vote in September 2007. A further amendment to increase the number of shares available for issuance under the 2005 Long-Term
Incentive Plan from 2,239,170 to 2,939,170 was approved by shareholder vote in September, 2010. The Company may grant shares of restricted stock to its
employees and directors in the future under the Plan. The Company’s Compensation Committee will administer the Plan. The Company’s Board also has the
authority to administer the Plan and to take all actions that the Compensation Committee is otherwise authorized to take under the Plan. The terms and
conditions of each award made under the Plan, including vesting requirements, is set forth consistent with the Plan in a written agreement with the grantee.
 

2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan
 

The 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan provides for grants of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock and performance awards. The
purpose of the Plan is to provide our directors, officers and other employees and persons who engage in services for us with incentives to maximize
stockholder value and otherwise contribute to our success and to enable us to attract, retain and reward the best available persons for positions of
responsibility.
 

1,500,000 shares of common stock were authorized for issuance under the Plan, subject to adjustment in the event of a reorganization, stock split,
merger or similar change in the Company’s corporate structure or in the outstanding shares of common stock. The Company may grant shares of restricted
stock to its employees and directors in the future under the Plan. The Company’s Compensation Committee will administer the Plan. The Company’s Board
also has the authority to administer the Plan and to take all actions that the Compensation Committee is otherwise authorized to take under the Plan. The
terms and conditions of each award made under the Plan, including vesting requirements, is set forth consistent with the Plan in a written agreement with the
grantee.
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2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan

 
The 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan provides for grants of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock and performance awards.

Directors, officers and other employees and persons who engage in services for the Company are eligible for grants under the Plan. The purpose of the Plan is
to provide these individuals with incentives to maximize stockholder value and otherwise contribute to the Company’s success and to enable the Company
to attract, retain and reward the best available persons for positions of responsibility.
 

1,500,000 shares of common stock were authorized for issuance under the Plan, subject to adjustment in the event of a reorganization, stock split,
merger or similar change in the Company’s corporate structure or in the outstanding shares of common stock. The Company may grant shares of restricted
stock to its employees and directors in the future under the Plan. The Company’s Compensation Committee will administer the Plan. The Company’s Board
also has the authority to administer the Plan and to take all actions that the Compensation Committee is otherwise authorized to take under the Plan. The
terms and conditions of each award made under the Plan, including vesting requirements, is set forth consistent with the Plan in a written agreement with the
grantee.
 

Stock Options. Under the 2005, 2013 and 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plans, the Compensation Committee or the Board may approve the award of
grants of incentive stock options and other non-qualified stock options. The Compensation Committee also has the authority to approve the grant of options
that will become fully vested and exercisable automatically upon a change in control. The Compensation Committee may not, however, approve an award to
any one person in any calendar year for options to purchase common stock equal to more than 10% of the total number of shares authorized under the Plan,
and it may not approve an award of incentive options first exercisable in any calendar year whose underlying shares have a fair market value greater than
$100,000 determined at the time of grant. The Compensation Committee will approve the exercise price and term of any option in its discretion; however, the
exercise price may not be less than 100% of the fair market value of a share of common stock on the date of grant. Under the 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan,
any incentive stock option must be exercised within 10 years of the date of grant. Under the 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan, any incentive stock option must
be exercised within 7 years of the date of grant. Under the 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan, any incentive stock option must be exercised within 10 years of
the date of grant. Under all three Plans, the exercise price of an incentive option awarded to a person who owns stock constituting more than 10% of the
Company’s voting power may not be less than 110% of such fair market value on such date and the option must be exercised within five years of the date of
grant. As of March 31, 2018, there were outstanding options to purchase 138,500 shares of common stock granted under the 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan,
99,800 of which were exercisable. There were 798,917 outstanding options to purchase shares of common stock granted under the 2013 Long-Term Incentive
Plan, 170,292 of which were exercisable. There were no outstanding options to purchase shares of common stock granted under the 2017 Long-Term
Incentive Plan.

 
Restricted Stock. Under the 2005, 2013 and 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plans, the Compensation Committee may approve the award of restricted

stock subject to the conditions and restrictions, and for the duration that it determines in its discretion. Under the 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan, the
number of shares that may be used for restricted stock or restricted unit grants under the Plan may not exceed fifty percent (50%) of the total authorized
number of Shares pursuant to the Plan. As of March 31, 2018, there were 9,259 and 295,719 shares of restricted stock outstanding under the 2005 and 2013
Long-Term Incentive Plans, respectively. There were no shares of restricted stock outstanding under the 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan as of March 31,
2018.
 

Stock Appreciation Rights. The Compensation Committee may approve the grant of stock appreciation rights, or SARs, subject to the terms and
conditions contained in the Plan. Under the 2005, 2013 and 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plans, the exercise price of a SAR must equal the fair market value of
a share of the Company’s common stock on the date the SAR was granted. Upon exercise of a SAR, the grantee will receive an amount in shares of our
common stock equal to the difference between the fair market value of a share of common stock on the date of exercise and the exercise price of the SAR,
multiplied by the number of shares as to which the SAR is exercised.
 

Performance Awards. The Compensation Committee may approve the grant of performance awards contingent upon achievement by the grantee or
by the Company, of set goals and objectives regarding specified performance criteria, over a specified performance cycle. Awards may include specific dollar-
value target awards, performance units, the value of which is established at the time of grant, and/or performance shares, the value of which is equal to the fair
market value of a share of common stock on the date of grant. The value of a performance award may be fixed or fluctuate on the basis of specified
performance criteria. A performance award may be paid out in cash and/or shares of common stock or other securities.
 

Amendment and Termination of the Plan. The Board may amend or terminate the 2005, 2013 and 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plans at its discretion,
except that no amendment will become effective without prior approval of the Company’s stockholders if such approval is necessary for continued
compliance with the performance-based compensation exception of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code or any stock exchange listing
requirements. The 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan terminated on the tenth anniversary of its adoption. Subject to the provisions of an Award Agreement,
which may be more restrictive, no termination of the Plan shall materially and adversely affect any of the rights or obligations of any person, without his or
her written consent, under any grant of options or other incentives theretofore granted under the Plan.
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A summary of the status of the Company’s stock options outstanding as of March 31, 2018 and changes during the year then ended is presented

below. All cashless exercises of options and warrants are handled through an independent broker.
 

  

Number Of
Common Stock

Options   
Weighted Average

Exercise Price   

 
Weighted Average
Contractual Life

(Years)   Intrinsic Value  
Outstanding, April 1, 2017   975,974  $ 63.30   5.2  $ 32,976 
Awarded   217,280   104.85         
Exercised   (255,732)   51.91         
Forfeitures   (105)   116.25         
Outstanding, March 31, 2018   937,417  $ 76.03   5.2  $ 45,151 
                 
Exercisable, March 31, 2018   270,092  $ 62.10   4.0  $ 16,773 
 

The fair value for the Company’s options was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following
weighted-average assumptions, which are updated to reflect current expectations of the dividend yield, expected life, risk-free interest rate and using
historical volatility to project expected volatility:
 
  Fiscal Year Ended  

  
March 31,

2018   
April 1,

2017   
April 2,

2016  
Dividend yield   0.00%  0.00%  0.00%
Expected weighted-average life (yrs.)   5.0   5.0   5.0 
Risk-free interest rate   2.02%  1.17%  1.70%
Expected volatility   24.17%  28.45%  31.25%

 
The weighted average fair value per share of options granted was $26.73 in fiscal 2018, $20.58 in fiscal 2017and $22.05 in fiscal 2016.
 
As of March 31, 2018, there was $11,983 of unrecognized compensation costs related to options which is expected to be recognized over a weighted

average period of 3.4 years. The total fair value of options that vested in fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $27,113, $19,899, $12,126, respectively. The total
intrinsic value of options exercised in fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $16,002, $21,188 and $7,219, respectively.
 

Of the total awards outstanding at March 31, 2018, 924,595 are either fully vested or are expected to vest. These shares have a weighted average
exercise price of $76.01, an intrinsic value of $44,557, and a weighted average contractual term of 5.2 years.
 

A summary of the status of the Company’s restricted stock outstanding as of March 31, 2018 and the changes during the year then ended is
presented below.

 

  

Number Of 
Restricted Stock

Shares   

Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair

Value  
Non-vested, April 1, 2017   318,391  $ 73.02 
Granted   116,273   108.06 
Vested   (123,572)   69.44 
Forfeitures   (6,114)   77.18 
Non-vested, March 31, 2018   304,978  $ 87.75 

 
The Company recorded $5,635 (net of taxes of $3,282) in compensation in fiscal 2018 related to restricted stock awards. These awards were valued

at the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of issuance and are being amortized as expense over the applicable vesting period.
Unrecognized expense for restricted stock was $21,141 at March 31, 2018. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of
approximately 3.1 years.
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15. Commitments and Contingencies
 

The Company leases facilities under non-cancelable operating leases, which expire on various dates through February 2028, with rental expense
aggregating $5,440, $5,548 and $5,101 in fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
 

The Company also has non-cancelable operating leases for transportation, computer and office equipment, which expire at various dates. Rental
expense for fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016 aggregated $1,721, $1,656 and $1,606, respectively.
 

Certain of the above leases are renewable while none contain material contingent rent or concession clauses.
 

The aggregate future minimum lease payments under operating leases are as follows:
 

2019  $ 6,384 
2020   4,656 
2021   3,925 
2022   2,732 
2023   2,501 
2024 and thereafter   3,525 

 
As of March 31, 2018, approximately 8.5% of the Company’s hourly employees in the U.S. and abroad were represented by labor unions.

 
The Company enters into government contracts and subcontracts that are subject to audit by the government. In the opinion of the Company’s

management, the results of such audits, if any, are not expected to have a material impact on the cash flows, financial condition or results of operations of the
Company.
 

For fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016, there were no audits by the government, the results of which, in the opinion of the Company’s management, had a
material impact on the cash flows, financial condition or results of operations of the Company.
 

The Company is subject to federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations, including those governing discharges of pollutants into the
air and water, the storage, handling and disposal of wastes and the health and safety of employees. The Company also may be liable under the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act or similar state laws for the costs of investigation and cleanup of contamination
at facilities currently or formerly owned or operated by the Company, or at other facilities at which the Company may have disposed of hazardous substances.
In connection with such contamination, the Company may also be liable for natural resource damages, government penalties and claims by third parties for
personal injury and property damage. Agencies responsible for enforcing these laws have authority to impose significant civil or criminal penalties for non-
compliance. The Company believes it is currently in material compliance with all applicable requirements of environmental laws. The Company does not
anticipate material capital expenditures for environmental compliance in fiscal years 2019 or 2020.
 

Investigation and remediation of contamination is ongoing at some of the Company’s sites. In particular, state agencies have been overseeing
groundwater monitoring activities at the Company’s facility in Hartsville, South Carolina and a corrective action plan at the Company’s facility in Clayton,
Georgia. At Hartsville, the Company is monitoring low levels of contaminants in the groundwater caused by former operations. Plans are currently underway
to conclude remediation and monitoring activities. In connection with the purchase of the Fairfield, Connecticut facility in 1996, the Company agreed to
assume responsibility for completing clean-up efforts previously initiated by the prior owner. The Company submitted data to the state that the Company
believes demonstrates that no further remedial action is necessary, although the state may require additional clean-up or monitoring. In connection with the
purchase of the Company’s Clayton, Georgia facility, the Company agreed to take assignment of the hazardous waste permit covering such facility and to
assume certain responsibilities to implement a corrective action plan concerning the remediation of certain soil and groundwater contamination present at
that facility. The corrective action plan is ongoing. Although there can be no assurance, the Company does not expect the costs associated with the above
sites to be material.
 

From time to time, we are involved in litigation and administrative proceedings which arise in the ordinary course of our business. We do not
believe that any litigation or proceeding in which we are currently involved, including those discussed below, either individually or in the aggregate, is
likely to have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results, cash flow or prospects.
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16. Other, Net
 

Other, net is comprised of the following:
 
  Fiscal Year Ended  

  
March 31,

2018   
April 1,

2017   
April 2,

2016  
Plant consolidation and restructuring costs  $ 7,685  $ 4,124  $ 1,063 
Acquisition costs   —   55   5,096 
Provision for doubtful accounts   125   96   191 
Amortization of intangibles   9,344   9,272   9,000 
Other (income) expense   (308)   (566)   866 
  $ 16,846  $ 12,981  $ 16,216 

 
17. Reportable Segments
 

The Company operates through operating segments for which separate financial information is available, and for which operating results are
evaluated regularly by the Company’s chief operating decision maker in determining resource allocation and assessing performance. Those operating
segments with similar economic characteristics and that meet all other required criteria, including nature of the products and production processes,
distribution patterns and classes of customers, are aggregated as reportable segments.
 

The Company has four reportable business segments, Plain Bearings, Roller Bearings, Ball Bearings and Engineered Products, which are described
below.
 

Plain Bearings. Plain bearings are produced with either self-lubricating or metal-to-metal designs and consists of several sub-classes, including rod
end bearings, spherical plain bearings and journal bearings. Unlike ball bearings, which are used in high-speed rotational applications, plain bearings are
primarily used to rectify inevitable misalignments in various mechanical components.
 

Roller Bearings. Roller bearings are anti-friction bearings that use rollers instead of balls. The Company manufactures four basic types of roller
bearings: heavy duty needle roller bearings with inner rings, tapered roller bearings, track rollers and aircraft roller bearings.

 
Ball Bearings. The Company manufactures four basic types of ball bearings: high precision aerospace, airframe control, thin section and commercial

ball bearings which are used in high-speed rotational applications.
 

Engineered Products. Engineered Products consists of highly engineered hydraulics, fasteners, collets and precision components used in aerospace,
marine and industrial applications.

 
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary

Data,” Note 2 “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.” Segment performance is evaluated based on segment net sales and gross margin. Items not
allocated to segment operating income include corporate administrative expenses and certain other amounts. Identifiable assets by reportable segment
consist of those directly identified with the segment’s operations. Corporate assets consist of cash, fixed assets and certain prepaid expenses.
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  Fiscal Year Ended  

  
March 31,

2018   
April 1,

2017   
April 2,

2016  
Net External Sales             

Plain  $ 296,708  $ 277,700  $ 270,534 
Roller   132,021   109,483   112,039 
Ball   67,806   58,448   53,650 
Engineered Products   178,414   169,757   161,249 

  $ 674,949  $ 615,388  $ 597,472 
          
Gross Margin          

Plain  $ 115,592  $ 110,215  $ 103,500 
Roller   55,028   41,678   47,469 
Ball   27,965   22,772   21,352 
Engineered Products   59,526   54,931   46,457 

  $ 258,111  $ 229,596  $ 218,778 
          
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses          

Plain  $ 25,991  $ 23,585  $ 21,008 
Roller   6,307   6,116   5,958 
Ball   6,773   5,657   5,512 
Engineered Products   21,071   19,065   19,631 
Corporate   52,982   48,499   46,612 

  $ 113,124  $ 102,922  $ 98,721 
          
Operating Income          

Plain  $ 86,334  $ 81,063  $ 73,289 
Roller   48,699   33,821   41,270 
Ball   20,919   16,593   15,182 
Engineered Products   25,081   30,877   26,970 
Corporate   (52,892)   (48,661)   (52,870)

  $ 128,141  $ 113,693  $ 103,841 
          
Total Assets          

Plain  $ 401,248  $ 371,169  $ 628,531 
Roller   157,012   147,226   286,418 
Ball   60,000   55,788   55,675 
Engineered Products   465,479   474,339   454,428 
Corporate   59,012   60,325   (326,542)

  $ 1,142,751  $ 1,108,847  $ 1,098,510 
          
Capital Expenditures          

Plain  $ 11,468  $ 9,386  $ 5,984 
Roller   4,245   4,021   4,239 
Ball   2,407   2,155   1,457 
Engineered Products   7,209   4,591   5,693 
Corporate   2,647   741   3,491 

  $ 27,976  $ 20,894  $ 20,864 
          
Depreciation & Amortization          

Plain  $ 9,296  $ 9,075  $ 9,145 
Roller   4,109   4,198   4,008 
Ball   1,752   1,836   1,790 
Engineered Products   10,777   10,443   9,411 
Corporate   2,426   1,820   1,453 

  $ 28,360  $ 27,372  $ 25,807 
          
Geographic External Sales          

Domestic  $ 592,818  $ 540,774  $ 522,405 
Foreign   82,131   74,614   75,067 
  $ 674,949  $ 615,388  $ 597,472 
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  Fiscal Year Ended  

  
March 31,

2018   
April 1,

2017   
April 2,

2016  
Geographic Long-Lived Assets             

Domestic  $ 150,716  $ 144,389  $ 145,538 
Foreign   41,797   39,236   39,206 

  $ 192,513  $ 183,625  $ 184,744 
 
Intersegment Sales          

Plain  $ 5,209  $ 4,061  $ 3,973 
Roller   13,262   15,202   18,874 
Ball   2,408   1,732   2,475 
Engineered Products   31,857   28,955   30,341 

  $ 52,736  $ 49,950  $ 55,663 
 

All intersegment sales are eliminated in consolidation.
 
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
 

None.
 
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective disclosure controls and procedures, as defined under Rule
13a-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. As of the end of the period covered by this report, the Company performed an evaluation, under the
supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness
of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures. Based upon that evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures provide reasonable assurance that the material information required to be disclosed by the
Company in the reports that it files or submits to the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Commission’s rules and forms. No changes were made to the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) during the last fiscal quarter that materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. The Company’s management believes that its disclosure
controls and procedures were effective as of March 31, 2018.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
 

Management of RBC Bearings Incorporated is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as
such term is defined in Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
 

The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is supported by written policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the Company’s assets; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that
receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of the Company’s management and directors; and (iii)
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could
have a material effect on the financial statements.
 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
 

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2018 as required by Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. In making this assessment, we used the criteria set forth in the framework in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013
Framework) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal
Control-Integrated Framework, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of March 31, 2018.
 

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2018 has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears on the following page.
 
RBC Bearings Incorporated
 
Oxford, Connecticut
May 30, 2017
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
 
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of RBC Bearings Incorporated
 
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 
We have audited RBC Bearings Incorporated’s internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework), (the COSO criteria).
In our opinion, RBC Bearings Incorporated (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of March
31, 2018, based on the COSO criteria.
 
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated
balance sheets of the Company as of March 31, 2018 and April 1, 2017, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income,
stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2018 of the Company and our report dated May 30, 2018
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
 
Basis for Opinion
 
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.
 
Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
 
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
 
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 
 
[/s/ Ernst & Young LLP]
 
Stamford, Connecticut
May 30, 2018 
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
 
Board Committee Assignments
 
Effective May 30, 2018, the Board of Directors approved the following committee assignments:
 
Audit Committee *

Alan B. Levine, Chairman
Dr. Thomas J. O’Brien
Mitchell I. Quain
Edward D. Stewart
 
Compensation Committee
 
Richard R. Crowell, Chairman
Alan B. Levine
Dr. Amir Faghri
 
Nominating and Governance Committee
 
Dr. Thomas J. O’Brien
Dr. Amir Faghri
Edward D. Stewart
Dr. Steven H. Kaplan
 
*Each member of the Audit Committee qualifies as an “audit committee financial expert” as defined by applicable Securities and Exchange Commission
rules.
 
PART III
 

The information called for by Part III (Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14) of Form 10-K will be included in the Company’s Proxy Statement for its 2018
Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which the Company intends to file within 120 days after the close of its fiscal year ended March 31, 2018 and which is
incorporated herein by reference to such Proxy Statement.
 
PART IV
 
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
 
(a) (1) Financial Statements
 

The following Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of the Company are included in Item 8, “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data”:
 

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
 

Consolidated Balance Sheets at March 31, 2018 and April 1, 2017
 

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended March 31, 2018, April 1, 2017 and April 2, 2016
 

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended March 31, 2018, April 1, 2017 and April 2, 2016
 

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended March 31, 2018, April 1, 2017 and April 2, 2016
 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended March 31, 2018, April 1, 2017 and April 2, 2016
 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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(a) (2) Financial Statement Schedules
 
See Financial Statement Schedules under Item 15(c)
 
(a) (3) See Item 15(b) below.
 
(b)     The Exhibits required by Item 601 of regulation S-K are filed as Exhibits to this Report and indexed below immediately following Item 15(c), which
index is incorporated herein by reference.
 
(c)     All Financial Statement Schedules are included in the Financial Statements and Supplementary Data under Item 15(a)(1) and incorporated herein by
reference.
 
Exhibit Index

 
The following exhibits are filed as part of this Report.

 
Certain of the following exhibits have been previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission by the Company pursuant to the

requirements of the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Such exhibits are identified by the parenthetical references following the
listing of each such exhibit and are incorporated herein by reference. The Company’s Commission file number is 333-124824.

 
Exhibit
Number

 
Description of Document 

   
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of RBC Bearings Incorporated dated August 13, 2005 as filed with Amendment No. 4 to

RBC Bearings Incorporated’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, file No. 333-124824 (the “Registration Statement”) dated August 8,
2005 is hereby incorporated by reference herein.

3.2 Bylaws of RBC Bearings Incorporated, as filed as Exhibit 3.3 to Amendment No. 4 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 dated August
8, 2005 is hereby incorporated by reference herein.

3.3 Amended and restated Bylaws of RBC Bearings Incorporated (as of September 13, 2017) as filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Form 8-K dated
September 15, 2017 is hereby incorporated by reference herein.

4.1 Form of stock certificate for common stock, as filed as Exhibit 4.3 to RBC Bearings Incorporated’s Amendment No. 3 to Registration
Statement on Form S-1 dated August 4, 2005 is hereby incorporated by reference herein.

4.2 Form of Amended and Restated Warrants to Purchase Common Stock, as filed as Exhibit 4.7 to RBC Bearing Incorporated’s Registration
Statement on Form S-8 dated March 15, 2006, is hereby incorporated by reference herein.

4.3 Amended and Restated Warrants to Purchase Class B Supervoting Common Stock, as filed as Exhibit 4.8 to RBC Bearing Incorporated’s
Registration Statement on Form S-8 dated March 15, 2006, is hereby incorporated by reference herein.

10.1 Amended and Restated 2001 Stock Option Plan of RBC Bearings Incorporated (f/k/a Roller Bearing Holding Company, Inc.), dated October
24, 2003 filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 dated May 11, 2005 is hereby incorporated by reference herein.

10.2 Form of RBC Bearings Incorporated 2005 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan, as filed as Exhibit 4.6 to RBC Bearing Incorporated’s
Registration Statement on Form S-8 dated November 18, 2005, is hereby incorporated by reference herein.

10.3 RBC Bearings Incorporated 2005 Long Term Incentive Plan (Amended and Restated as of August 29, 2007) filed as Exhibit 10.1 on Form
8-K dated August 30, 2007 is hereby incorporated by reference herein.

10.4 Form of Change in Control Letter Agreement for Named Executive Officers, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q dated February 1, 2010 and
form of Change in Control Letter Agreement for Patrick S. Bannon, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K dated November 3, 2017  are hereby
incorporated by reference herein.

10.5 Credit Agreement, dated as of November 30, 2010, among Roller Bearing Company of America, Inc., RBC Bearings Incorporated, the
Lenders named therein,  J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. and KeyBank National Association, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K dated
December 1, 2010 is hereby incorporated by reference herein.
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10.6 Guaranty Agreement, dated as of November 30, 2010, by and between RBC Bearings Incorporated and J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., as

Administrative Agent, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K dated December 1, 2010 is hereby incorporated by reference herein.
10.7 Security Agreement, dated as of November 30, 2010, among Roller Bearing Company of America, Inc., RBC Bearings Incorporated, the

Subsidiary Guarantors (as defined therein), and J.P. Morgan Chase, N.A., filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K dated December 1, 2010 is hereby
incorporated by reference herein.

10.8 Form of RBC Bearings Incorporated 2005 Long Term Incentive Plan (Amended and Restated as of August 25, 2010) filed as Exhibit 10.1 to
Form 8-K dated August 25, 2010 is hereby incorporated by reference herein.

10.9 Form of RBC Bearings Incorporated 2005 Long Term Incentive Plan (Amended and Restated as of September 8, 2010) filed as Exhibit 10.1
to Form 8-K dated September 10, 2010 is hereby incorporated by reference herein.

10.10 RBC Bearings Incorporated Executive Officer Performance Based Compensation Plan filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K dated September
13, 2011 is hereby incorporated by reference herein.

10.11 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, effective April 1, 2013, between RBC Bearings Incorporated and Michael J. Hartnett, Ph.D.
filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8 K dated July 2, 2013 is hereby incorporated by reference herein.

10.12 RBC Bearings Incorporated 2013 Long Term Incentive Plan (Amended and Restated as of August 21, 2013), filed as Exhibit 10.1 on Form
8-K dated August 21, 2013 is hereby incorporated by reference herein.

10.13 May 16, 2014 amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of November 30, 2010 by and between the Company, RBCA, certain Lenders
signatory thereto, J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. and KeyBank National
Association as Co-Lead Arrangers and Joint Lead Book Runners filed as Exhibit 10.1 on Form 8-K dated May 16, 2014 is hereby
incorporated by reference herein.

10.14 Equity Purchase Agreement, dated March 26, 2015, by and between Roller Bearing Company of America, Inc. as Buyer, RBC Bearings
Incorporated as Guarantor and Dover Corporation (Canada) Limited and Dover Engineered Systems, Inc. as Sellers filed as Exhibit 2.1 to
Form 8-K dated March 26, 2015 is hereby incorporated by reference herein.

10.15 Credit Agreement, dated April 24, 2015, among Roller Bearing Company of America, Inc. as Borrower, RBC Bearings Incorporated and
various Lenders signatory thereto as filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K dated April 24, 2015 and is hereby incorporated by reference herein.

10.16 Guarantee, dated April 24, 2015, by and between RBC Bearings Incorporated, the subsidiary guarantors party thereto and Wells Fargo
Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent as filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K dated April 24, 2015 and is hereby incorporated
by reference herein.

10.17 Security Agreement, dated April 24, 2015 by and between Roller Bearing Company of America, Incorporated, RBC Bearing Incorporated,
the subsidiary grantors party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Secured
Creditors as filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Form 8-K dated April 24, 2015 and is hereby incorporated by reference herein.

10.18 Pledge Agreement, dated April 24, 2015, by and between Roller Bearing Company of America, Incorporated, RBC Bearings Incorporated,
the subsidiary pledgors party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Secured
Creditors as filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Form 8-K dated April 24, 2015 and is hereby incorporated by reference herein.

10.19 Restated and Amended Employment Agreement, effective April 2, 2017, between RBC Bearings Incorporated and Michael J. Hartnett, Ph.D.
filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8 K dated June 7, 2017 is hereby incorporated by reference herein.

10.20 Employment Agreement, effective April 2, 2017, between RBC Bearings Incorporated and Daniel A. Bergeron filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form
8 K dated June 7, 2017 is hereby incorporated by reference herein.

10.21 RBC Bearings Incorporated Executive Officer Performance Based Compensation Plan filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K dated July 27, 2017
is hereby incorporated by reference herein.

10.22 RBC Bearings Incorporated 2017 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K dated July 27, 2017 is hereby
incorporated by reference herein.

21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant. Filed herewith.
23 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP. Filed herewith.

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Filed herewith.
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31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Filed herewith.
32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

of 2002.* Filed herewith.
32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

of 2002.* Filed herewith. 
 

101.INS XBRL Instance Document.
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

 
*           This certification accompanies this Annual Report on Form 10-K, is not deemed filed with the SEC and is not to be incorporated by reference into any
filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the
date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.
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SIGNATURES

 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed

on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 
 RBC Bearings Incorporated
 (Registrant)
    
 By: /s/ Michael J. Hartnett
  Name: Michael J. Hartnett
  Title: Chief Executive Officer
  Date: Date:  May 30, 2018
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
 
Signature  Title
   
/s/ Michael J. Hartnett  Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
Michael J. Hartnett  (Principal Executive Officer and Chairman)
Date: May 30, 2018  
   
/s/ Daniel A. Bergeron  Chief Financial Officer
Daniel A. Bergeron  (Principal Financial Officer)
Date: May 30, 2018  
   
/s/ Ernest D. Hawkins   
Ernest D. Hawkins  Chief Accounting Officer
Date: May 30, 2018   
   
/s/ Robert M. Sullivan   
Robert M. Sullivan  Corporate Controller
Date: May 30, 2018   
   
/s/ Richard R. Crowell   
Richard R. Crowell  Director
Date: May 30, 2018   
   
/s/ Alan B. Levine   
Alan B. Levine  Director
Date: May 30, 2018   
   
/s/ Dr. Amir Faghri   
Dr. Amir Faghri  Director
Date: May 30, 2018   
   
/s/ Dr. Thomas J. O’Brien   
Dr. Thomas J. O’Brien  Director
Date: May 30, 2018   
   
/s/ Mitchell I. Quain   
Mitchell I. Quain  Director
Date: May 30, 2018   
   
/s/ Edward D. Stewart   
Edward D. Stewart  Director
Date: May 30, 2018   
   
/s/ Dr. Steven H. Kaplan   
Dr. Steven H. Kaplan  Director
Date: May 30, 2018   
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Exhibit 21

 
Subsidiaries of the Registrant*

 
Roller Bearing Company of America, Inc. – Delaware
 
RBC Precision Products—Plymouth, Inc. – Delaware
 
Industrial Tectonics Bearings Corporation – Delaware
 
RBC Linear Precision Products, Inc. – Delaware
 
RBC Precision Products—Bremen, Inc. – Delaware
 
RBC Nice Bearings, Inc. – Delaware
 
RBC Lubron Bearing Systems, Inc. – Delaware
 
RBC Oklahoma, Inc. – Delaware
 
RBC Aircraft Products, Inc. – Delaware
 
RBC Southwest Products, Inc. – Delaware
 
All Power Manufacturing Co. – California
 
RBC Aerostructures LLC – South Carolina
 
Western Precision Aero LLC – California
 
Climax Metal Products Company – Ohio
 
RBC Turbine Components LLC – Delaware
 
Sargent Aerospace and Defense LLC – Delaware
 
Avborne Accessory Group, Inc. – Delaware
 
Sonic Industries, Inc. – California
 
RBC de Mexico S DE RL DE CV – Mexico
 
Schaublin Holdings SA – Switzerland
 
Schaublin SA – Switzerland
 
RBC France SAS – France
 
Shanghai Representative Office of Roller Bearing Company of America, Inc. – People’s Republic of China
 
RBC Bearings U.K. Limited – U.K.
 
Phoenix Bearings, Ltd. – U.K.
 
RBC Bearings Polska sp. z o.o. – Poland
 
All Power de Mexico, S DE RL DE CV – Mexico
 
RBC Bearings Canada, Inc. – Canada
 
Schaublin GmbH – Germany
 
All of which are, directly or indirectly, wholly-owned by the registrant.
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Exhibit 23

 
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

 
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:
 

(1) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-221329) pertaining to the RBC Bearings Incorporated 2017 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan,
 

(2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-192164) pertaining to the RBC Bearings Incorporated 2013 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan,
 

(3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-129826) pertaining to the RBC Bearings Incorporated 2005 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan, the RBC
Bearings Incorporated Amended and Restated 2001 Stock Option Plan, the RBC Bearings Incorporated 1998 Stock Option Plan, and the June 23,
1997 RBC Bearings Incorporated Warrant Agreement,

 
of our reports dated May 30, 2018, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of RBC Bearings Incorporated, and the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting of RBC Bearings Incorporated, included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of RBC Bearings Incorporated for the year ended
March 31, 2018.
 
/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP
 
Stamford, Connecticut
 
May 30, 2018
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Exhibit 31.1

 
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 
I, Dr. Michael J. Hartnett, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Report on Form 10-K of RBC Bearings Incorporated;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this Report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this Report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this Report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
 

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including any consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this Report is being prepared;
 
b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; and
 
c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this Report based on such evaluation; and
 
d) disclosed in this Report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

 
Date: May 30, 2018 By: /s/ Michael J. Hartnett  
  Michael J. Hartnett
  President and Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.2

 
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 
I, Daniel A. Bergeron, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Report on Form 10-K of RBC Bearings Incorporated;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this Report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this Report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this Report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
 

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including any consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this Report is being prepared;

 
b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; and
 
c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this Report based on such evaluation; and

 
d) disclosed in this Report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

 
 
Date: May 30, 2018 By: /s/ Daniel A. Bergeron  
  Daniel A. Bergeron
  Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer
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Exhibit 32.1

 
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C SECTION 1350

 
In connection with the Annual Report of RBC Bearings Incorporated (the “Company”) Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2018, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, Dr. Michael J. Hartnett, the President and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, hereby certifies to the best of his
knowledge that:
 

(i) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.
 

Dated: May 30, 2018
 
 /s/ Michael J. Hartnett  
 Michael J. Hartnett
 President and Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 32.2

 
 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
 

In connection with the Annual Report of RBC Bearings Incorporated (the “Company”) Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2018, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, Daniel A. Bergeron, Chief Financial Officer, of the Company,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, hereby certifies to the best of his knowledge that:
 

(i) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.
 

Dated: May 30, 2018
 
 /s/ Daniel A. Bergeron  
 Daniel A. Bergeron
 Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer
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